Design and "ENTER PROJECT NAME"

Construction of:

Project No. "ENTER PROJECT NUMBER"

At: "ENTER PROJECT ADDRESS"

Main Contractor: **EVANS BUILT PTY LTD**

Subcontractor: **SUBCONTRACTOR**

D"D NUMBER"

Australian Standard™

Subcontract conditions for design and construct (QLD)

This document is based on Standards Australia Ltd copyrighted material that is distributed by SAI Global Ltd on Standards Australia Ltd's behalf. It may be reproduced and modified in accordance with the terms of SAI Global Ltd's Licence 1801-c101 to CDI Lawyers ("the Licensee"). All amended, marked-up and licensed copies of this document must be obtained from the Licensee. Standards Australia Ltd's copyright material is not for resale, reproduction or distribution in whole or in part without written permission from SAI Global Ltd: tel + 61 8206 6355 or copyright@saiglobal.com



This Australian Standard was prepared by Committee OB-003, General Conditions of Contract. It was approved on behalf of the Council of Standards Australia on 7 September 1999. This Standard was published on 27 December 2000.

The following are represented on Committee OB-003:

Association of Consulting Engineers Australia

Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Australian Procurement and Construction Council

AUSTROADS

Construction Industry Engineering Services Group

Construction Policy Steering Committee

Electricity Supply Association of Australia

Institution of Engineers, Australia

Institution of Professional Engineers, New Zealand

Law Council of Australia

Master Builders Australia

National Construction Council of the Australian Association

Process Engineers and Constructors Association

Royal Australian Institute of Architects

Keeping Standards up-to-date

Standards are living documents which reflect progress in science, technology and systems. To maintain their currency, all Standards are periodically reviewed, and new editions are published. Between editions, amendments may be issued. Standards may also be withdrawn. It is important that readers assure themselves they are using a current Standard, which should include any amendments which may have been published since the Standard was purchased.

Detailed information about Standards can be found by visiting the Standards Web Shop at www.standards.com.au and looking up the relevant Standard in the on-line catalogue.

Alternatively, the printed Catalogue provides information current at 1 January each year, and the monthly magazine, *The Global Standard*, has a full listing of revisions and amendments published each month.

Australian Standards $^{\text{TM}}$ and other products and services developed by Standards Australia are published and distributed under contract by SAI Global, which operates the Standards Web Shop.

We also welcome suggestions for improvement in our Standards, and especially encourage readers to notify us immediately of any apparent inaccuracies or ambiguities. Contact us via email at mail@standards.org.au, or write to the Chief Executive, Standards Australia, GPO Box 5420, Sydney, NSW 2001.

This Standard was issued in draft form for comment as DR 98019.

Australian Standard™

Subcontract conditions for design and construct (QLD)

Originated as AS 4303—1995. Revised and redesignated AS 4903—2000. Reissued incorporating Amendment No. 1 (March 2005).

COPYRIGHT

© Standards Australia

All rights are reserved. No part of this work may be reproduced or copied in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, without the written permission of the publisher.

Published by Standards Australia, GPO Box 5420, Sydney, NSW 2001, Australia ISBN 0733731864

CDI Lawyers – amended and reproduced under copyright Licence 1501-c063-2

FORMAL INSTRUMENT OF AGREEMENT FOR SUBCONTRACT AS4903 - 2000

AGREEMENT made the day of 2020

PARTIES Evans Built Pty Ltd

of (address)

La Balsa, Suite 301

45 Brisbane Road Mooloolaba Qld 4557

ABN: 61 120 743 099 (the "*Main Contractor*")

AND "ENTER SUBCONTRACTOR NAME" of (address) "ENTER SUBCONTRACTOR ADDRESS"

ABN: "ENTER ABN"

QBCC License Number: "ENTER QBCC"

(the "Subcontractor")

RECITALS:

- A. The *Main Contractor* is undertaking the ["ENTER PROJECT NAME"] ("the *project*").
- B. The *Main Contractor* called for tenders for subcontract construction work associated with the *project* and the *Subcontractor* submitted a tender.
- C. In reliance of the information provided in that tender and the *Subcontractor's* representation that it is experienced in the construction work required under this *Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* has agreed to engage the *Subcontractor* to carry out construction work on and subject to the terms and conditions set out in this *Subcontract*.

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS:

1 Definitions:

In this formal instrument of agreement defined terms have the same meaning as in the Subcontract conditions for design and construct.

2 Completion of work

The *Subcontractor* shall undertake all *WUS* and otherwise perform all of its obligations in accordance with this *Subcontract*.

3 Payment to Subcontractor

The Main Contractor shall pay the Subcontractor in accordance with the Subcontract.

4 The Subcontract Sum

The subcontract sum is: \$"ENTER AMOUNT EXC GST" (excluding GST)

"ENTER AMOUNT EXC GST IN WORDS" (excluding GST)

(figures and words)

AS 4903—2000 3

5 Subcontract documents and order of precedence

The *Subcontract* is comprised of the following documents and in the case of any ambiguity, discrepancy or inconsistency the documents will apply in the order of precedence as listed:

- (a) This Formal Instrument of Agreement;
- (b) Annexure Part A;
- (c) Annexure Part F;
- (d) Subcontract conditions for design and construct (as amended);
- (e) Annexure Part B Approved form of unconditional undertaking;
- (f) Annexure Part C Deed of Novation;
- (g) Annexure Part D Deed of Novation;
- (h) Annexure Part E Deletions, amendments and additions;
- (i) Annexure Part G Drawing Register;
- (j) Annexure Part H Safety Requirements;
- (k) Annexure Part I Declaration by Subcontractor;
- (I) Annexure Part J Deed of Release Practical Completion;
- (m) Annexure Part K Deed of Release Final;
- (n) Annexure Part L Trade Breakdown;
- (o) Annexure Part M Agreement to Issue RCTIs;
- (p) Annexure Part N Progress Claim Proforma;
- (q) Annexure Part O Request for Approval to Sub-Subcontract; and
- (r) Annexure Part P Queensland Government Training Policy.

Notwithstanding any other clause of this Subcontract, if any annexure in this Subcontract includes any text supplied by the Subcontractor which is, or incorporates any part of the Subcontractor's standard terms and conditions, then that does not form part of the Subcontract.

6 Counterparts

This Subcontract may consist of a number of counterparts and, if so, the counterparts taken together constitute one document.

Executed as an agreement

| EXECUTED by Evans Built Pty Ltd (ABN: 61 120 743 099) in accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act: |)) | | |
|--|-----|---------------------------------|--|
| Signature of Director | | Signature of Director/Secretary | |
| Name of Director | | Name of Director/Secretary | |
| EXECUTED by SUBCONTRACTOR (ABN "ENTER ABN") in accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act: |)) | | |
| Signature of Director | | Signature of Director/Secretary | |
| Name of Director | | Name of Director/Secretary | |

PREFACE

5

This Standard was prepared by the Joint Standards Australia/Standards New Zealand Committee OB/3, General Conditions of Contract.

This Standard incorporates Amendment No. 1 (March 2005). The changes required by the Amendment are indicated in the text by a marginal bar and amendment number against the clause, note, table, figure or part thereof affected.

This Standard is the result of a consensus among Australian and New Zealand representatives on the Joint Committee to produce it as an Australian Standard.

AS 4903—2000 General conditions of subcontract for design and construct is a part of the suite of conditions of contract based on AS 4000—1997 General conditions of contract.

This Standard covers the following types of project procurement methods:

- (a) design and construct;
- (b) design development and construct; and
- I design, novate and construct.

If the project procurement method chosen for the main contract results in the subcontract incorporating design functions, then if the project procurement method is:

- (a) **design and construct**—the Main Contractor would provide the Main Contractor's project requirements, would not normally provide a detailed preliminary design and would not require novation;
- (b) **design development and construct**—the Main Contractor would provide the Main Contractor's project requirements, would always provide a preliminary design and accordingly would complete Annexure Part A Items 14 and 15;
- (c) **design, novate and construct**—the Main Contractor would provide the Main Contractor's project requirements, would always provide a preliminary design, would complete Annexure Part A Items 14 and 15 and would complete Annexure Part A Item 25 stating which secondary subcontract (including consultant's agreement) or selected secondary subcontract is to be novated to the Subcontractor.

Subclauses 8.6, 29.2 and 34.7A, prefixed by *, are optional, and may be omitted in the Contract, where necessary, without making consequential amendments but such omission should be clearly shown on the face of the document by striking out these subclauses or indicating clearly in clause 1 of Annexure Part E or elsewhere that they are *not to apply*. See paragraph (i) of clause 1 for the effect of stating deletions in Annexure Part E.

WARNINGS

- 1) This Standard is not recommended for use as part of the agreement between the Main Contractor and a consultant. AS 4904—2001 *Consultant's Agreement* has been developed for this purpose.
- 2) Users of this Australian Standard are warned that clause 15 (Damage to persons and property other than WUS) does not limit the liability of parties for special, indirect or consequential losses.
 - This unlimited liability applies notwithstanding any limitations or exclusions permitted under insurance clauses 16A (Insurance of WUS), 16B (Professional indemnity insurance) and 17 (Public liability insurance).
 - Parties wishing to limit their liability should seek insurance and legal advice before entering a subcontract under this Standard.
- 3) In relation to insurances, the parties should have regard to clause 16A regarding the availability during the tender period of a copy of the insurance policy in relation to

AS 4903—2000

WUS, and subclause regarding proof of evidence of insurances generally, before WUS commences under the Subcontract.

4) Main Contractors should ensure that their specific requirements are fully and completely incorporated in the Main Contractor's project requirements obtaining specialist advice if necessary. Where a Subcontractor provides a proposed design as part of its tender the parties should consider whether that design should form part of the Main Contractor's project requirements.

6

- 5) The risk allocation, drafting, interpretation and construction of this Standard are interrelated. Users who alter the Standard do so at their own risk and should obtain specialist advice as to whether it is suitable for a particular project.
- 6) Subcontractors should ensure that they satisfy the requirements of payment for unfixed plant and materials.
- 7) Legislation has come into force in some jurisdictions dealing with security of payments. Parties intending to use this Standard should seek expert advice as to their rights and obligations under such legislation.

CONTENTS

| P | a | g | e |
|---|---|---|---|
| | | | |

| 1 INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF SUBCONTRACT | 9 |
|---|----|
| 2 NATURE OF SUBCONTRACT | 15 |
| 3 PROVISIONAL SUMS | 20 |
| 4 SEPARABLE PORTIONS | 20 |
| 5 SECURITY | 20 |
| 6 EVIDENCE OF SUBCONTRACT | 22 |
| 7 SERVICE OF NOTICES | 22 |
| 8 SUBCONTRACT DOCUMENTS | |
| 9 ASSIGNMENT AND SECONDARY SUBCONTRACTING | 25 |
| 10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS | |
| 11 LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS | 27 |
| $11.2A\ CONDITION\ PRECEDENT-CHANGE\ IN\ LEGISLATIVE\ REQUIREMENTS$ | 27 |
| 12 PROTECTION OF PEOPLE AND PROPERTY | |
| 13 URGENT PROTECTION | 28 |
| 14 CARE OF THE WORK AND REINSTATEMENT OF DAMAGE | 29 |
| 15 DAMAGE TO PERSONS AND PROPERTY OTHER THAN WUS | 30 |
| 15A SUBCONTRACTOR'S GENERAL INSURANCE OBLIGATIONS | 30 |
| 16 A INSURANCE OF THE SUBCONTRACT WORKS | 30 |
| 16B PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY INSURANCE | 31 |
| 17 PUBLIC AND PRODUCT LIABILITY INSURANCE | 31 |
| 18 INSURANCE OF EMPLOYEES | 32 |
| 19 INSPECTION AND PROVISIONS OF INSURANCE POLICIES | |
| 20 SUBCONTRACT SUPERINTENDENT | |
| 21 SUBCONTRACT SUPERINTENDENT'S REPRESENTATIVE | |
| 22 SUBCONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIVE | 34 |
| 23 SUBCONTRACTOR'S EMPLOYEES AND SECONDARY SUBCONTRACTORS | 34 |
| 24 SITE | |
| 24A OTHER CONTRACTORS | 35 |
| 25 LATENT CONDITIONS | 36 |
| 26 SETTING OUT THE SUBCONTRACT WORKS | |
| 27 CLEANING UP | |
| 28 MATERIALS, LABOUR AND CONSTRUCTION PLANT | |
| 29 QUALITY | |
| 29A NON-CONFORMING BUILDING PRODUCTS | 41 |
| 30 EXAMINATION AND TESTING | |
| 31 WORKING HOURS | 42 |
| 32 PROGRAMMING | 43 |
| 32A ACCELERATION | 43 |
| 33 SUSPENSION | 44 |
| 34 TIME AND PROGRESS | 45 |

| 35 DEFECTS LIABILITY | 48 |
|---|-------|
| 36 VARIATIONS | 48 |
| 37 PAYMENT | 50 |
| 37A PROJECT BANK ACCOUNTS | 53 |
| 38 PAYMENT OF WORKERS, SUBCONTRACTOR'S CONSULTANTS AND SECONDARY SUBCONTRACTORS | 54 |
| 39 DEFAULT OR INSOLVENCY | 55 |
| 40 TERMINATION BY FRUSTRATION | 58 |
| 40A MAIN CONTRACT ENDED | 59 |
| 40B TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE | 59 |
| 41 NOTIFICATION OF CLAIMS | 60 |
| 42 DISPUTE RESOLUTION | 61 |
| 43 WAIVER OF CONDITIONS | 62 |
| 44 SERVICES AND FACILITIES | 63 |
| 45 GST | 63 |
| 46 PPSA | 64 |
| 47 BUILDING CODE 2016 | 65 |
| 48 QUEENSLAND CODE OF PRACTICE FOR THE BUILDING AND CONSTRU | CTION |
| INDUSTRY | |
| 49 COMPLIANCE WITH ETHICAL SUPPLIER THRESHOLD | |
| PART A | |
| PART B | 85 |
| PART C | 86 |
| PART D | |
| PART E | 90 |
| PART G | 92 |
| PART H | 93 |
| PART I | 95 |
| PART J | 96 |
| PART K | 97 |
| PART L | 98 |
| PART M | 99 |
| PART N | 101 |
| PART O | 102 |
| PART P | 103 |
| INDEX | 111 |

STANDARDS AUSTRALIA

Australian Standard Subcontract conditions for design and construct

1 Interpretation and construction of Subcontract

In the *Subcontract*, except where the context otherwise requires:

approvals

means any approval, statutory or otherwise, required by Federal, State or local government directly or through an entity or person authorised by the Federal, State or Local Government to require the approval;

BIF Act

means the *Building Industry Fairness (Security of Payment) Act* 2017 (Qld) and the regulations made under or in respect of that Act;

bill of quantities

means a document named therein as a bill of quantities issued to tenderers by or on behalf of the *Main Contractor*, stating estimated quantities of *work* to be carried out;

business day

means a day that is not:

- (a) a Saturday or Sunday; or
- (b) a public holiday, special holiday or bank holiday in the place in which the *site* is located,

except under clause 37 of this *Subcontract* where the term shall have the same meaning as under the *Payments Act*;

certificate of practical completion

has the meaning in subclause 34.6;

claim

means any claim (including for any *EOT*, *variation* or delay costs under the *Subcontract*), right of action or demand (or similar legal entitlement), in any jurisdiction, including but not limited to at law, in tort (including negligence), under statute, in equity including quantum meruit or restitution based on unjust enrichment, for rectification, frustration or for any other legal or equitable remedy;

Claim Documentation means:

- (a) the trade breakdown contained in Annexure Part L, updated to include a breakdown of the percentage complete of each trade or part and the amount to be claimed in respect of each trade or part for the particular period;
- (b) the duly executed declaration in Annexure Part I; and
- (c) those listed at *Item* 37A;

construction plant

means appliances and things used in the carrying out of WUS but not forming part of the Subcontract Works;

construction program

has the meaning in clause 32;

date for practical completion

means:

(a) where *Item* 11(a) provides a date for *practical completion*, the date;

where *Item* 11(b) provides a period of time for *practical* (b) completion, the last day of the period,

but if any EOT for practical completion is directed by the Subcontract Superintendent or allowed in any expert determination or litigation, it means the date resulting therefrom;

date of subcontract

means the date on which both the Main Contractor and the Subcontractor have executed this Subcontract;

date of practical completion

means:

- the date evidenced in a certificate of practical completion as (a) the date upon which practical completion was reached; or
- where another date is determined in any expert determination or litigation as the date upon which practical completion was reached, that other date:

deed of guarantee, undertaking and substitution has the meaning in subclause 5.6;

Deed of Release –

means the deed contained in Annexure Part J;

Practical Completion

Deed of Release means the deed contained in Annexure Part K;

Final

defects has the meaning in clause 35 and includes omissions;

defects liability period

has the meaning in clause 35;

design documents

means the drawings, specifications and other information, samples, models, patterns and the like required by the Subcontract and created (and including, where the context so requires, those to be created by the Subcontractor) for the construction of the Subcontract Works:

direction

includes agreement, approval, assessment, authorisation, certificate, demand, decision, determination, explanation, instruction, notice, order, permission, rejection, request or requirement;

has the meaning in clause 42; dispute

EOT (from 'extension

has the meaning in subclause 34.3;

of time')

excepted risk has the meaning in subclause 14.3;

email point Means the central email address for the service of any *claim* under the Subcontract or the Payments Act (clause 7) stated in Item 10A;

final certificate has the meaning in subclause 37.4;

final payment has the meaning in clause 37;

final payment claim means the final payment claim referred to in subclause 37.4;

> means any form of goods and services tax payable under the GST Act;

11

GST Act means the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth):

intellectual property means any patent, registered design, trademark or name, copyrightright or other protected right;

Item means an *Item* in Annexure Part A;

latent condition has the meaning in subclause 25.1;

legislative requirement includes:

(a) Acts, Ordinances, regulations, by-laws, orders, awards and proclamations of the jurisdiction where *WUS* or the particular part thereof is being carried out;

- (b) certificates, licences, consents, permits, approvals and requirements of persons having jurisdiction in connection with the carrying out of *WUS*; and
- (c) fees and charges payable in connection with the foregoing;

main contract means the agreement between the Principal and the Main Contractor;

main contract expert has the meaning in subclause 42.4;

main contract dispute has the meaning in clause 42;

main contract works means the whole of the work to be carried out and completed in accordance with the main contract, including variations provided for by the main contract, which by the main contract is to be handed over to the Principal;

Main Contractor means the Main Contractor stated in *Item* 1;

Main Contractor's means the Main Contractor's written requirements for the project requirements Subcontract Works described in the documents stated in Item 14 which:

- (a) shall include the stated purpose for which *the Subcontract Works* are intended;
- (b) may include the *Main Contractor's* design, timing and cost objectives for the *works*; and
- (c) where stated in *Item* 14, shall include a *preliminary design*;

notice of proposed has the meaning in clause 32A; acceleration

PPSA register

notice of proposed has the meaning in subclause 36.2; variation

other contractors means contractors engaged by the Main Contractor or the Principal or its subcontractors to carry out works on or adjacent to the site;

Payments Act means the Building Industry Fairness (Security of Payment) Act 2017 (Qld);

PPSA means Personal Property Securities Act 2009 (Cth);

means the register established under the PPSA;

practical completion is that stage in the carrying out and completion of WUS when:

(a) the Subcontract Works are complete except for minor defects:

- (i) which do not prevent *the Subcontract Works* from being reasonably capable of being used for their stated purpose;
- (ii) which the *Subcontract Superintendent* determines the *Subcontractor* has reasonable grounds for not promptly rectifying; and
- (iii) the rectification of which will not prejudice the convenient use of the Subcontract Works;
- (b) those *tests* which are required by the *Subcontract* to be carried out and passed before *the Subcontract Works* reach *practical completion* have been carried out and passed;
- (c) documents and other information required under the *Subcontract* which, in the *Subcontract Superintendent's* opinion, are essential for the use, operation and maintenance of *the Subcontract Works* have been supplied;
- (d) all permits, approvals, certificates and other authorisations required under relevant *legislative requirements* to be issued by any authority before *the Subcontract Works* can be used for its intended purpose (whether stated or inferred) have been supplied to the *Subcontract Superintendent*;
- (e) the Subcontractor has duly executed the completed copy of the Deed of Release Practical Completion issued to the Subcontractor by the Subcontract Superintendent and returned the same to the Subcontract Superintendent and the Main Contractor;
- (f) all of the *Subcontractor's* material and equipment, including but not limited to cranes, scaffolding, signage, hoardings, builder's sheds and building debris have been removed from the *site*; and
- (g) all "as-built/as-installed" drawings and other documents required under the *Subcontract* have been provided to the *Main Contractor*;

preliminary design means the documents stated in Item 15;

prescribed notice has the meaning in subclause 41.1;

Principal means the Principal to the main contract stated in *Item* 7;

progress certificate has the meaning in subclause 37.2;

provisional sum has the meaning in clause 3 and includes monetary sum, contingency sum and prime cost item;

public and product has the meaning in clause 17; liability policy

QBCC Act means the Queensland Building and Construction Commission Act 1991 (Qld);

qualifying cause of means:

delay

(a) any act, default or omission of the *Subcontract Superintendent*, the *Main Contractor* or its consultants, agents or other contractors (not being employed by the *Subcontractor*);

- (b) any act, default or omission of the *Superintendent*, the *Principal* or its consultants, agents or other contractors (not being employed by the *Subcontractor*); or
- (c) stated in Item 32,

which causes a delay to the critical path of the *construction* program;

RCTI means a recipient created tax invoice created in accordance with the *GST Act* and the requirements contained in Tax Ruling GST R2000/10 (as amended from time to time);

schedule of rates means any schedule included in the Subcontract which, in respect of any section or item of work to be carried out, shows the rate or respective rates of payment for the execution of that work and which may also include lump sums, provisional sums, other sums, quantities and prices;

secondary subcontract means a subcontract between the Subcontractor and a secondary subcontractor;

secondary means a subcontractor or supplier to the Subcontractor and includessubcontractor a Subcontractor's consultant;

security means:

- (a) cash;
- (b) retention moneys;
- (c) bonds or inscribed stock or their equivalent issued by a national, state or territory government;
- (d) interest bearing deposit in a bank carrying on business at the place stated in *Item* 13(c);
- (e) an approved unconditional undertaking or an approved performance undertaking given by an approved financial institution or an approved insurance company and in a form approved by the *Main Contractor*; or
- (f) other form approved by the party having the benefit of the security;

security interest has the same meaning as under the PPSA;

selected secondary has the meaning in subclause 9.3;
subcontract work

selected secondary has the meaning in subclause 9.3; subcontractor

separable portion means a portion of the Subcontract Works identified as such in the Subcontract or by the Subcontract Superintendent pursuant to clause 4;

site means the lands and other places to be made available and any other lands and places made available to the Subcontractor by the Main Contractor for the purpose of the Subcontract;

Subcontract has the meaning in clause 6;

subcontract sum means:

- (a) where the *Main Contractor* accepted a lump sum, the lump sum;
- (b) where the Main Contractor accepted rates, the sum of the products ascertained by multiplying the rates by the corresponding quantities in the priced bill of quantities or schedule of rates; or
- where the Main Contractor accepted a lump sum and rates, the aggregate of the sums referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b),

including provisional sums but excluding any additions or deductions which may be required to be made under the Subcontract:

Subcontract Superintendent

means the person stated in *Item* 5 as the Subcontract Superintendent or other person from time to time appointed in writing by the Main Contractor to be the Subcontract Superintendent and notified as such in writing to the Subcontractor by the Main Contractor and, so far as concerns the functions exercisable by a Subcontract Superintendent's Representative, includes a Subcontract Superintendent's Representative;

Subcontract Superintendent's Representative

means an individual appointed in writing by the Subcontract Superintendent under clause 21;

Subcontractor means the person bound to carry out and complete WUS;

Subcontractor's consultant means any person engaged by the Subcontractor to perform consultancy services in connection with WUS and includes any Main Contractor's consultant whose prior contract is novated to the Subcontractor under subclause 9.4:

Subcontractor's design obligations

means all tasks necessary to design and specify the Subcontract Works required by the Subcontract, including preparation of the design documents and, if the documents stated in Item 14 as describing the Main Contractor's project requirements include a preliminary design, developing the preliminary design;

Superintendent

means the person stated in *Item* 9 as the Superintendent or other person from time to time appointed in writing by the Principal to be the Superintendent under the main contract and notified as such in writing to the Subcontractor by the Main Contractor and, so far as concerns the functions exercisable under the main contract by a Superintendent's Representative, includes a Superintendent's Representative;

survey mark

in clause 26 means a survey peg, bench mark, reference mark, signal, alignment, level mark or any other mark for the purpose of setting out, checking or measuring WUS;

temporary works

means work used in carrying out and completing WUS, but not forming part of the Subcontract Works;

test has the meaning in subclause 30.1 and includes examine and measure;

the Subcontract Works

means the whole of the work to be carried out and completed in accordance with the Subcontract, including variations provided for by the *Subcontract*, which by the *Subcontract* is to be handed over to the *Main Contractor*;

variation

has the meaning in clause 36;

work

includes the provision of materials;

WUS (from 'work under the Subcontract') means the *work* which the *Subcontractor* is or may be required to carry out and complete under the *Subcontract* and includes *variations*, remedial *work*, *construction plant* and *temporary works*, and like words have a corresponding meaning.

In the *Subcontract*:

- (a) references to days mean calendar days and references to a person include an individual, firm or a body, corporate or unincorporate;
- (b) time for doing any act or thing under the *Subcontract* shall, if it ends on a day which is not a *business day*, be deemed to end on the next *business day*;
- (c) clause headings, subclause headings and the table of contents shall not form part of, nor be used in the interpretation of, the *Subcontract*;
- (d) words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular, according to the requirements of the context. Words importing a gender include every gender;
- (e) communications between the *Main Contractor*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Subcontractor* shall be in the English language;
- (f) measurements of physical quantities shall be in legal units of measurement of the jurisdiction in *Item* 12;
- (g) unless otherwise provided, prices are in the currency in *Item* 13(a) and payments shall be made in that currency at the place in *Item* 13(b);
- (h) the law governing the *Subcontract*, its interpretation and construction, and any agreement to arbitrate, is the law of the jurisdiction in *Item* 12; and
- (i) if pursuant to Annexure Part E to these Subcontract Conditions, clauses or their parts in these Conditions are deleted, the *Subcontract* shall be read and construed as though the clause or its part has been deleted, whether or not that particular clause or its part has been struck from these Conditions;

2 Nature of Subcontract

2.1 Performance and payment

The *Subcontractor* shall carry out and complete *WUS* in accordance with the *Subcontract* and *directions* authorised by the *Subcontract*.

The *Main Contractor* shall pay the *Subcontractor*:

- (a) for work for which the Main Contractor accepted a lump sum, the lump sum; and
- (b) for work for which the Main Contractor accepted rates, the sum of the products ascertained by multiplying the measured quantity of each section or item of work

actually carried out under the *Subcontract* by the rate accepted by the *Main Contractor* for the section or item,

adjusted by any additions or deductions made pursuant to the Subcontract.

2.2 Subcontractor's warranties

Without limiting the generality of subclause 2.1, the *Subcontractor* warrants to the *Main Contractor* that:

- (a) the Subcontractor:
 - (i) at all times shall be suitably qualified and experienced, and shall exercise due skill, care and diligence in the carrying out and completion of WUS;
 - (ii) has examined any *preliminary design* included in the *Main Contractor's project requirements* and that:
 - (A) such *preliminary design* is suitable, appropriate and adequate for the purpose stated in the *Main Contractor's project requirements*;
 - (B) the *Main Contractors' project requirements* are sufficiently detailed to enable the *Subcontractor* to prepare the *design documents* and carry out the *Subcontract Works*; and
 - (C) any *preliminary design* and the *Main Contractors' project requirements* do not contain any material discrepancies, ambiguities or inconsistencies;
 - (iii) will ensure that WUS is carried out in accordance with the standard of a subcontractor competent in designing and constructing works of a similar nature to the Subcontract Works;
 - (iv) will use workmanship of the standard prescribed in the Subcontract;
 - (v) shall carry out and complete the *Subcontractor's design obligations* to accord with the *Main Contractor's project requirements* and, if subclause 9.4 applies, accept the novation and retain the *Main Contractor's* consultants for any *work* the subject of a prior contract with the *Main Contractor*; and
 - (vi) shall carry out and complete WUS in accordance with the design documents so that the Subcontract Works, when completed and thereafter at all relevant times, shall:
 - (A) be fit for their stated purpose; and
 - (B) comply with all the requirements of the *Subcontract* (including the *Main Contractor's project requirements*);
 - (C) comply with the requirements of all relevant authorities and legislative requirements applicable to the *Subcontract Works*; and
 - (D) comply with any relevant standards of this *Subcontract* including the *Building Act 1975* (Qld), *Building Regulation 2006* (Qld) and any relevant Australian Standard;
 - (vii) will keep the *Main Contractor* and *Subcontract Superintendent* fully and promptly advised at all times of any material events or circumstances relating to *WUS*;
- (b) subject to clause 9, the *Subcontractor's consultants* identified in the *Subcontractor's* tender are suitably qualified and experienced; and
- (c) each warranty given by the *Subcontractor* under this clause shall be valid at the *date* of *Subcontract* and at the *date* of practical completion and will be a continuing warranty which survives the *final certificate* and completion of the *Subcontract*.

2.3 Warranties unaffected

The warranties remain unaffected notwithstanding:

- (a) that design work (including the preliminary design) has been carried out by or on behalf of the Main Contractor and included in the Main Contractor's project requirements;
- (b) that the *Subcontractor* has entered into a novation of any prior contract between the *Main Contractor* and a *Main Contractor's* consultant under subclause 9.4 and thereafter has retained that consultant in connection with *WUS*;
- (c) any receipt, or review of, or approval of or comment or direction on, the design documents by the Subcontract Superintendent or the Main Contractor; or
- (d) any variation.

2.4 Bill of quantities

The Alternative in *Item* 16(a) applies.

Alternative 1

A bill of quantities forms part of the Subcontract and shall be priced in accordance with subclause 2.5.

Alternative 2

A bill of quantities does not form part of the Subcontract and shall not be priced in accordance with subclause 2.5 unless so stated in Item 16(b).

2.5 Priced bill of quantities

Where a bill of quantities is to be priced:

- (a) all items included in the *bill of quantities* shall be priced and extended by the *Subcontractor* and the prices as extended shall on addition equal the sum accepted by the *Main Contractor* for carrying out the whole of the *work* to which the *bill of quantities* relates;
- (b) the Subcontractor shall lodge the bill of quantities so priced and extended with the Subcontract Superintendent before the expiration of the time for lodgement stated in Item 16(c) or such further time as may be directed by the Subcontract Superintendent from time to time;
- (c) notwithstanding any other provision of the *Subcontract*, the *Subcontractor* shall not be entitled to payment until the *Subcontractor* has lodged the *bill of quantities* so priced and extended.

If the aggregate amount in a priced *bill of quantities* does not equal the sum accepted for the *work*, the subject of the *bill of quantities*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall (unless the parties agree within 7 days of notification) determine an appropriate correction of errors and inconsistencies in rates and prices therein, so that the aggregate amount equals such sum.

2.6 Quantities

Quantities in a bill of quantities or schedule of rates are estimated quantities only.

The Subcontract Superintendent is not required to give a direction by reason of the actual quantity of an item required to perform the Subcontract being greater or less than the quantity shown in a bill of quantities which forms part of the Subcontract or schedule of rates.

2.7 Adjustment for actual quantities

Where, otherwise than by reason of a *direction* to vary *WUS*, the actual quantity of an item required to perform the *Subcontract* is greater or less than the quantity shown in a *bill of quantities* which forms part of the *Subcontract* or *schedule of rates*:

- (a) the *Main Contractor accepted* a lump sum for the item, the difference shall be assessed as if it was a *variation*;
- (b) the *Main Contractor* accepted a rate for the item, the rate shall apply to the greater or lesser *quantities* provided that where limits of accuracy for a quantity in a *schedule of rates* are stated in *Item* 17, the rate shall apply to the greater or lesser quantities within the limits, and quantities outside the limits shall be assessed as if it was a *variation*.

If such a bill of quantities or schedule of rates omits an item which should have been included, the Subcontract Superintendent shall give a direction as to the item.

Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this subclause in respect of a *bill of quantities*, a *variation* shall not occur for actual quantities of an item pursuant to paragraph (a), or for an omitted item or any adjustment made for actual quantities of an item pursuant to paragraph (b), if the difference, the value of the omitted item or the adjustment respectively is less than \$400.

2.8 Non-Reliance

The Subcontractor warrants that:

- (a) it did not in any way rely upon:
 - (i) any information, data, representation, statement or document made or provided to the *Subcontractor* by the *Main Contractor* or anyone on behalf of the *Main Contractor*; or
 - (ii) the accuracy or adequacy of any such information, data, representations, statement or document,

prior to or at the time of entering into the *Subcontract*, except to the extent that any such information, data, representation, statement or document (including quantities in a schedule of rates) forms part of the *Subcontract*;

- (b) it enters into the *Subcontract* based on its own investigations, interpretations, deductions, information and determinations; and
- (c) it has and, for the purposes of properly and adequately carrying out *the Subcontract Works* prior to entering into the *Subcontract*, investigated and satisfied itself in all respects as to the *site* and its surroundings (including without limitation all *site* conditions (aboveground or underground), access, facilities and services).

The *Subcontractor* acknowledges that it is aware that the *Main Contractor* has entered into the *Subcontract* relying upon the warranties in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c).

2.9 Main Contract Obligations

The *Subcontractor* warrants that it has informed itself as to all documents, obligations, liabilities and terms contained in the *main contract*.

The *Subcontractor* acknowledges that the *main contract* was, and is, available for inspection and review at the head office of the *Main Contractor*.

In connection with the Subcontract Works the Subcontractor:

(a) assumes to the *Main Contractor* the same obligations as the *Main Contractor* has assumed to the *Principal* under the *main contract*; and

(b) shall perform and discharge each of the *Main Contractor's* obligations under or associated with the *main contract* as part of the *Subcontract*; and

19

(c) warrants that it will not cause the *Main Contractor* to be in breach of its obligations under the *main contract* at any time.

Where the *main contract* imposes an obligation that is inconsistent with an obligation under the *Subcontract*, the obligation under the *main contract* prevails to the extent of the inconsistency.

Without limitation to the preceding paragraph of this subclause, the *Subcontractor* shall:

- (d) provide notice to the *Main Contractor* of any claims for *variations*, *EOT*s and adjustments of the *subcontract sum* within sufficient time and in sufficient detail to allow the *Main Contractor* to comply with any corresponding provision of the *main contract*; and
- (e) assume the same responsibility as the *Main Contractor* has assumed to the *Principal* in respect of the carrying out, completion, standard and quality of *the Subcontract Works*.

All the powers of the *Principal* or the *Superintendent* as against the *Main Contractor* under the *main contract* extend to the *Subcontract* and may be exercised by the *Main Contractor* as against the *Subcontractor* under the *Subcontract*.

2.10 Subcontractor's design

- (a) The Subcontractor shall give each of the Subcontract Superintendent and the Main Contractor one hard copy and one electronic copy of the design documents, at the time required by the construction program, or if no time is stated in the construction program, within a reasonable time.
- (b) If, within 7 days of receipt of the *design documents* in accordance with paragraph (a) of this subclause, either the *Subcontract Superintendent* or the *Main Contractor* gives the *Subcontractor* a notice stating that the *design documents* are not acceptable the *Subcontractor* shall:
 - (i) amend the *design documents* to comply with the requirements of the *Subcontract* and any comments by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor*; and
 - (ii) promptly submit the amended *design documents* to the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor*, in which case the process outlined in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subclause applies to the amended *design documents*.
- (c) The *Subcontractor* shall maintain a register of all *design documents* and, upon request, shall provide the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor* with a copy of the register.
- (d) The Subcontractor shall not commence a part of WUS until:
 - (i) the *design documents* relevant to that part of *WUS* have been provided to the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor* in accordance with paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subclause; and
 - (ii) the design documents have been reviewed and are acceptable to the Main Contractor and Subcontract Superintendent or the time period by which the Subcontract Superintendent and the Main Contractor are to review and comment on the design documents has expired.
- (e) The *Subcontractor* shall not amend the *design documents* unless the proposed amendments have been reviewed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor* in accordance with paragraph (b) of this subclause.

2.11 Obligations unaffected

The obligations of the *Subcontractor* under the *Subcontract* remain unaffected notwithstanding:

- (a) that design of *the Subcontract Works* or any part of *the Subcontract Works* (except for any design carried out by or on behalf of the *Subcontractor* as part of *WUS*) has been carried out by or on behalf of the *Main Contractor*;
- (b) the involvement of secondary subcontractors in the carrying out of WUS; and
- (c) the *Main Contractor* giving to the *Subcontractor* any information, data or documents obtained by the *Main Contractor* for the purposes of *the Subcontract Works* before the date of *Subcontract*.

3 Provisional sums

A provisional sum included in *Item* 18A or elsewhere in the *Subcontract* shall not itself be payable by the *Main Contractor* but where pursuant to a *direction* the *work* or item to which the *provisional sum* relates is carried out or supplied by the *Subcontractor*, the *work* or item shall be assessed and priced by the *Subcontract Superintendent*, and the difference shall be added to or deducted from the *subcontract sum*.

The parties expressly acknowledge and agree that all *provisional sums* are deemed to include all allowances for amounts payable to *secondary subcontractors*, the *Subcontractor's* profit and attendance, margins, design costs, preliminaries and all fees and charges. Where the price for *work* or item as assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* exceeds the *provisional sum* allowance, the *Subcontractor* shall be entitled to an amount for profit and attendance calculated by using the percentage thereon stated in *Item* 18, applied only to the amount which exceeds the *provisional sum* allowance.

If a provisional sum is included in the subcontract sum but the work or item relating to the provisional sum is not carried out by the Subcontractor, the subcontract sum will be reduced by the amount of the provisional sum.

The Subcontractor warrants that any provisional sum included in the Subcontract have been calculated with reasonable care and skill taking account of all the information reasonably available to the Subcontractor, including the nature and location of the site. Unless the scope of the provisional sum items are amended or changed, the value of each provisional sum item shall not be exceeded.

4 Separable portions

Separable portions may be directed by the *Subcontract Superintendent*, who shall clearly identify for each, the:

- (a) portion of the Subcontract Works;
- (b) date for practical completion; and
- (c) respective amounts for *security*, bonus, liquidated damages (all calculated pro rata according to the ratio of the *Subcontract Superintendent's* valuation of the *separable* portion to the *subcontract sum*).

5 Security

5.1 Provision

Security shall be provided in accordance with *Item* 19, in a form satisfactory to the *Main Contractor*.

If the amount payable to the *Subcontractor* exceeds the *subcontract sum* due to adjustments in accordance with this *Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* may require the *Subcontractor* to provide additional *security*.

The *Main Contractor* is not required to pay any amount to the *Subcontractor* until such additional *security* is provided.

5.2 Recourse

The *Main Contractor* may have recourse to *security*:

- (a) where an amount due to the *Main Contractor* under the *Subcontract* or otherwise remains unpaid after the time for payment; or
- (b) in respect of any *claim* to payment (liquidated or otherwise) the *Main Contractor* may have or claim to have against the *Subcontractor* under the *Subcontract* or otherwise,

on the giving of written notice to the Subcontractor.

The provisions of this subclause 5.2 survive the termination or expiration of the *Subcontract*.

5.3 Change of security

At any time a party providing retention moneys or cash *security* may substitute another form of *security*. To the extent that another form of *security* is provided, the other party shall not deduct, and shall promptly release and return, retention moneys and cash *security*.

5.4 Reduction and release

Upon the later of the:

- (a) issue of the certificate of practical completion;
- (b) date upon which the Subcontractor has returned to the Subcontractor Superintendent and Main Contractor a duly executed copy of the Deed of Release Practical Completion; or
- (c) date upon which all permits, *approvals*, certificates and other authorisations required for use of the *main contract works* have been issued by all authorities having jurisdiction over the *main contract works*,

The *Main Contractor's* entitlement to security (other than in *Item* 19(e)) shall be reduced by the percentage or amount in *Item* 19(f), and the reduction shall be released and returned within 14 days to the *Subcontractor*.

The Main Contractor's entitlement to security in Item 19(e) shall cease 14 days after incorporation into the Subcontract Works of the plant and materials for which that security was provided.

The *Main Contractor's* entitlement otherwise to *security* shall cease 14 days after the later of:

- (d) the date of issue of the *final certificate*; or
- (e) the date upon which the *Subcontractor* has returned to the *Subcontract Superintendent* and *Main Contractor* a duly executed copy of the *Deed of Release Final*.

Upon a party's entitlement to *security* ceasing, that party shall release and return forthwith the *security* to the other party.

5.5 Trusts and interest

Except where held by a government department or agency or a municipal, public or statutory authority, any portion of *security* (and interest earned thereon) which is cash or retention

AS 4903—2000 22

moneys, shall be held in trust for the party providing them until the *Main Contractor* or the *Subcontractor* is entitled to receive them.

Interest earned on *security* not required to be held in trust shall belong to the party holding that *security*.

5.6 Deed of guarantee, undertaking and substitution

Where:

- (a) a party is a related or subsidiary corporation (as defined in the applicable corporations law of the jurisdiction); and
- (b) a form of *deed of guarantee*, *undertaking and substitution* was included in the tender documents,

that party shall, within 14 days after receiving a written request from the other party, provide such *deed of guarantee, undertaking and substitution* duly executed and enforceable.

6 Evidence of Subcontract

Until a formal instrument of agreement is executed by the parties, documents evidencing the parties' consensus shall constitute the *Subcontract*. If such *Subcontract* requires a formal instrument of agreement, the *Main Contractor* shall, within 28 days of the *date of subcontract*, send it in duplicate for execution by the *Subcontractor*. Within 14 days after receiving them, the *Subcontractor* shall (if they are correct) properly execute both copies and return them.

Within 14 days after receiving them, the *Main Contractor* shall execute both copies, have them stamped as necessary and send one copy to the *Subcontractor*.

The Subcontract Superintendent may extend the time under this clause by written notice to the parties.

7 Service of notices

A notice (and other documents) shall be deemed to have been given and received:

- (a) if addressed or delivered to the relevant address in the *Subcontract* or last communicated in writing to the person giving the notice; and
- (b) on the earliest date of:
 - (i) actual receipt;
 - (ii) confirmation of correct transmission of fax;
 - (iii) 3 days after posting; or
 - (iv) confirmation of transmission of the email.

The *Main Contractor*, the *Subcontractor* and the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall each promptly notify the other in writing of any change of notice details.

All *claims*, notices, or demands for payment of whatsoever nature under the *Subcontract* or the *Payments Act* must be sent to the email address stated in *Item* 10A.

8 Subcontract documents

8.1 Discrepancies

If either party discovers any inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy in any documents forming part of the *Subcontract* or prepared for the purpose of carrying out *WUS* or

completion of the *Subcontract Works*, that party shall give the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the other party written notice of it.

23

In construing the *Subcontract*, subject to the order of precedence in the Formal Instrument of Agreement, the following rules of construction apply:

- (a) where the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy relates to the required quality, number or standard of WUS or the Subcontract Works or the extent of the Subcontractor's obligations under the Subcontract, the Subcontractor shall comply with the highest quality number or standard specified or perform the more onerous obligation;
- (b) where the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy relates to a requirement under the *Main Contractor's project requirements* as compared to a requirement of any *authority*, the *Subcontractor* shall comply with the requirements of the *authority*;
- (c) where clause 8.1(b) does not apply and the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy is between figured and scaled dimensions, figured shall prevail over scaled dimensions;
- (d) where clauses 8.1(a), 8.1(b) and 8.1(c) do not apply, drawings showing particular parts of WUS shall take precedence over scaled dimensions; and
- (e) where clauses 8.1(a), 8.1(b), 8.1(c) and 8.1(d) do not apply, the *Subcontractor* shall comply with the *Subcontract Superintendent's direction* as to the interpretation and construction to be followed in respect of the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy.

The *Subcontractor* shall not be entitled to any *claim*, including for additional cost or an *EOT*, if the *direction* relates to the matters set out at clause 8.1(a), 8.1(b), 8.1(c) or 8.1(d) above.

The Subcontractor shall also bear the cost of compliance with a direction under this subclause to the extent that any inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy in the design documents or between the design documents and the Main Contractor's project requirements necessitates the direction.

If compliance with a *direction* under this clause 8.1(e) causes the *Subcontractor* to incur more or less cost than otherwise would have been incurred had the *direction* not been given, the difference shall be assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and added to or deducted from the *subcontract sum*.

However the *Subcontractor* shall not be entitled to any *claim*, additional cost or *EOT* if the *Subcontractor* did not issue its written notice to the *Subcontract Superintendent* advising of the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy in or between any documents forming part of the *Subcontract* by the earlier of:

- (a) 5 days from the *Subcontractor* identifying the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy in or between any documents forming part of the *Subcontract*; or
- (b) commencing performance of WUS the subject of the inconsistency, ambiguity or discrepancy in or between any documents forming part of the Subcontract.

8.2 Main Contractor-supplied documents

The *Main Contractor* shall supply to the *Subcontractor* the documents and number of copies thereof, both stated in *Item* 21.

They shall:

- (a) remain the *Main Contractor's* property and be returned to the *Main Contractor* on written demand; and
- (b) not be used, copied nor reproduced for any purpose other than WUS.

AS 4903—2000 24

8.3 Subcontractor-supplied documents

The *Subcontractor* shall supply to the *Subcontract Superintendent* the documents and number of copies at the times or stages stated in *Item* 22.

Other documents and information required by the *Subcontract*, unless elsewhere stated in the *Subcontract*, shall be supplied not less than 14 days before the *work* described in the documents is commenced and shall be in a form satisfactory to the *Subcontract Superintendent*.

If the *Subcontractor* submits a document to the *Subcontract Superintendent*, then except where the *Subcontract* otherwise provides:

- (a) the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall not be required to check that document for errors, omissions, inconsistencies, ambiguities, discrepancies or compliance with the *Subcontract*:
- (b) notwithstanding subclause 2.1, any *Subcontract Superintendent's* acknowledgment or approval shall not prejudice the *Subcontractor's* obligations; and
- (c) if the *Subcontract* requires the *Subcontractor* to obtain the *Subcontract Superintendent's direction* about that document, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall give, within the time stated in *Item* 23, the appropriate *direction*, including reasons if the document is not suitable.

A direction by the *Subcontract Superintendent* to vary anything in the *design documents* shall be a *variation* to *WUS* only to the extent that the *design documents*, before such *variation*, complied, or would have complied, with the *Main Contractor's project requirements*.

Except as otherwise provided in the *Subcontract*, copies of documents supplied by the *Subcontractor* shall be the *Main Contractor's* property but shall not be used nor copied otherwise than for the use, repair, maintenance or alteration of *the Subcontract Works*.

8.4 Availability

The Subcontractor shall keep available to the Subcontract Superintendent and the Main Contractor:

- (a) on *site*, one complete set of documents affecting *WUS* and supplied by a party or the *Subcontract Superintendent*; and
- (b) at the place of manufacture or assembly of any significant part of WUS off site, a set of the documents affecting that part.

8.5 Confidential information

The parties shall ensure that there are kept confidential such documents, samples, models, patterns and other information as are supplied and clearly identified as confidential.

If required in writing by a party, the other party shall enter into a separate agreement not to disclose to anyone else other than the *Principal*, the *Superintendent* and their identified consultants, any confidential matter even after *final certificate* or earlier termination of the *Subcontract*. If so required by the *Subcontractor*, the *Main Contractor* shall ensure that the *Subcontract Superintendent*, the *Principal* and the *Superintendent* also enter into such an agreement.

^{*} See Preface

8.6 Media

The Subcontractor shall not disclose any information concerning the project for distribution through any communications media without the Main Contractor's prior written approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld). The Subcontractor shall refer to the Main Contractor any enquiries from any media concerning the project.

9 Assignment and secondary subcontracting

9.1 Assignment

The *Subcontractor* shall not, without the *Main Contractor*'s prior written approval (including terms) assign the *Subcontract* or any payment or any other right, benefit or interest thereunder.

9.2 Secondary subcontracting generally

The *Subcontractor* shall engage and retain the consultants identified in the *Subcontractor's* tender.

The *Subcontractor* shall not without the *Subcontract Superintendent's* prior written approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld):

- (a) subcontract or allow a *secondary subcontractor* to subcontract any *work* described in *Item* 24; or
- (b) allow a *secondary subcontractor* to assign a *secondary subcontract* or any payment or any other right, benefit or interest thereunder.

With a request for approval, the *Subcontractor* shall give the *Subcontract Superintendent* written particulars of the *work* to be subcontracted and the name and address of the proposed *secondary subcontractor*. The *Subcontractor* shall give the *Subcontract Superintendent* other information which the *Subcontract Superintendent* reasonably requests, including the proposed *secondary subcontract* documents without prices.

Within 21 days of the *Subcontractor's* request for approval, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall give the *Subcontractor* written notice of approval or of the reasons why approval is not given.

Approval may be conditional upon the secondary subcontract including:

- (a) provision that the *secondary subcontractor* shall not assign nor subcontract without the *Subcontractor's* written consent;
- (b) provisions which may be reasonably necessary to enable the *Subcontractor* to fulfil the *Subcontractor*'s obligations to the *Main Contractor*;
- (c) provision that if the *Subcontract* is terminated and upon the *secondary subcontractor* being paid the sum certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* as owing to the *secondary subcontractor*, the *Subcontractor* and the *secondary subcontractor* shall, after the *Main Contractor* has done so, promptly execute a deed of novation in the form of Annexure Part C.
 - For the purpose of effecting such novation only, the *Subcontractor* hereby irrevocably appoints the *Superintendent* under the *main contract* to be the *Subcontractor*'s attorney with authority to execute such documents as are necessary to give effect to the novation and to bind the *Subcontractor* accordingly; and
- (d) where the *secondary subcontractor* is a *Subcontractor's consultant*, provision that the *secondary subcontractor* shall effect and maintain professional indemnity insurance on the same terms as are required under *Items* 28(c) and 28(d).

9.3 Selected secondary subcontract work

If the *Main Contractor* has included in the invitation to tender a list of one or more *selected* secondary subcontractors for particular work, the Subcontractor shall subcontract that work to a selected secondary subcontractor and thereupon give the Subcontract Superintendent written notice of that selected secondary subcontractor's name.

If no subcontractor on the *Main Contractor's* list will subcontract to carry out the *selected secondary subcontract work*, the *Subcontractor* shall provide a list for the written approval of the *Subcontract Superintendent*.

9.4 Novation

This subclause applies only where the *Main Contractor's project requirements* include a *preliminary design* or the *Subcontract* includes *selected secondary subcontract work*.

When directed by the *Main Contractor*, the *Subcontractor*, without being entitled to compensation, shall promptly execute a deed of novation in the form of Annexure Part D, such deed being between the *Main Contractor*, the *Subcontractor* and the *secondary subcontractor* or *selected secondary subcontractor* stated in *Item* 25 for the particular part of the *preliminary design* or *selected secondary subcontract work*.

9.5 Subcontractor's responsibility

Except where the *Subcontract* otherwise provides, the *Subcontractor* shall be liable to the *Main Contractor* for the acts, defaults and omissions of *secondary subcontractors* (including *selected secondary subcontractors*) and employees and agents of *secondary subcontractors* as if they were those of the *Subcontractor*.

Approval to subcontract shall not relieve the *Subcontractor* from any liability or obligation under the *Subcontract*.

10 Intellectual property rights

10.1 Warranties and indemnities

The Main Contractor warrants that, unless otherwise provided in the Subcontract, the Main Contractor's project requirements, design, materials, documents and methods of working, each specified in the Subcontract or provided or directed by the Main Contractor or the Subcontract Superintendent shall not infringe any intellectual property right.

The *Subcontractor* warrants that any other design, materials, documents and methods of working, each provided by the *Subcontractor*, shall not infringe any *intellectual property right*.

Each party shall indemnify the other against such respective infringements.

10.2 Intellectual property rights granted to Main Contractor and Principal

The Alternative in *Item* 26 applies.

Alternative 1

The Subcontractor grants to the Main Contractor and to the Principal irrevocable licences to use the design documents for WUS. Such licences shall also include any subsequent repairs to, maintenance or servicing of (including the supply of replacement parts), or additions or alterations to, the Subcontract Works and the copying of the documents for such purposes.

Alternative 2

Copyright and property in the *design documents* (and, as between the *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor*, any part of the *preliminary design* produced under a prior contract between

AS 4903—2000 27

the Main Contractor and a Main Contractor's consultant novated under subclause 9.4) hereby vest in the Main Contractor, and the Main Contractor grants to the Subcontractor an irrevocable licence to use the design documents for WUS. Such vesting shall not extend to components of the design which have been developed by the Subcontractor for general use in the Subcontractor's work and have not been specially developed for incorporation in the design documents.

The Subcontractor shall do everything necessary to perfect such vesting.

The Subcontractor shall ensure that the design documents are used, copied and supplied only for the purpose of WUS.

11 Legislative requirements

11.1 Compliance

The Subcontractor shall satisfy all legislative requirements and obtain all approvals except those in Item 27(a) and (b) or directed by the Subcontract Superintendent to be satisfied by or on behalf of the Main Contractor.

The Subcontractor, upon finding that a legislative requirement is at variance with the Subcontract or the Main Contractor's project requirements, shall promptly give the Subcontract Superintendent written notice thereof.

The Subcontractor shall give the Main Contractor copies of:

- (a) documents it gives to persons having jurisdiction at the time it submits such documents including notices; and
- (b) all documents (including *approvals* and other notices) that persons having jurisdiction issue to it within 2 *business days* of receiving such documents.

11.2 Changes

If a legislative requirement:

- (a) necessitates a change:
 - (i) to the Main Contractor's project requirements;
 - (ii) to the Subcontract Works;
 - (iii) to so much of WUS as is identified in Item 27(c);
 - (iv) being the provision of services by a municipal, public or other statutory authority in connection with WUS; or
 - (v) in a fee or charge or payment of a new fee or charge;
- (b) comes into effect after the *date of Subcontract* but could not reasonably then have been anticipated by a competent subcontractor; and
- (c) causes the *Subcontractor* to incur more or less cost than otherwise would have been incurred,

the difference shall be assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and added to or deducted from the *subcontract sum*.

11.2A Condition precedent – change in legislative requirements

Within 14 days of the *Subcontractor* becoming aware of a change to a *legislative requirement* applicable to *the Subcontract Works* as provided by clause 11.2, the *Subcontractor* will give the *Subcontract Superintendent* a written notice in relation to any *claim* for a change in a *legislative requirement* stating:

- (a) the relevant *legislative requirement* as at the *date of Subcontract*;
- (b) the relevant change to the *legislative requirement*;
- (c) if the change is a change in an Act or a regulation of the Commonwealth of Australia or the State of Queensland, the additional work and the additional cost necessitated by the change in *legislative requirement*; and

28

(d) the steps taken by the *Subcontractor* to mitigate the amount of additional work and additional cost caused by the change in *legislative requirement*.

12 Protection of people and property

12.1 General

Insofar as compliance with the *Subcontract* permits, the *Subcontractor* shall:

- (a) take measures necessary to protect people and property;
- (b) avoid unnecessary interference with the passage of people and vehicles; and
- (c) prevent nuisance and unreasonable noise and disturbance.

If the *Subcontractor* damages property, the *Subcontractor* shall promptly rectify the damage and pay any compensation which the law requires the *Subcontractor* to pay.

If the *Subcontractor* fails to comply with an obligation under this clause, the *Main Contractor*, after the *Subcontract Superintendent* has given reasonable written notice to the *Subcontractor* and in addition to the *Main Contractor*'s other rights and remedies, may have the obligation performed by others. The cost thereby incurred shall be certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* as moneys due from the *Subcontractor* to the *Main Contractor*.

12.2 Work Health and Safety

In performing WUS, the Subcontractor shall be responsible for ensuring that the Subcontractor and its employees, agents, secondary subcontractors or consultants carry out and complete the Subcontract Works safely and in accordance with all legislative requirements including those pursuant to the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld) and those requirements listed in Annexure Part H.

Without limiting the generality of the preceding paragraph and subclauses 11.1 and 11.2, the *Subcontractor* shall comply with all *legislative requirements*, codes of practice, and standards (including Australian Standards) in relation to work health and safety.

The Subcontractor must indemnify the Main Contractor against any loss or damage suffered or incurred in connection with any failure by the Subcontractor to comply with its obligations under this clause, pay any fee, fine or other amount payable under the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld) or as a result of any injury, accident or safety related incident on or adjacent to the site.

13 Urgent protection

If urgent action is necessary to protect WUS, other property or people and the Subcontractor fails to take the action, in addition to any other remedies of the Main Contractor, the Subcontract Superintendent may take the necessary action. If the action was action which the Subcontractor should have taken at the Subcontractor's cost, the Subcontract Superintendent shall certify the cost incurred as moneys due from the Subcontractor to the Main Contractor.

If time permits, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall give the *Subcontractor* prior written notice of the intention to take action pursuant to this clause.

14 Care of the work and reinstatement of damage

14.1 Care of WUS

Except as provided in subclause 14.3, the Subcontractor shall be responsible for care of:

29

- (a) the whole of WUS from and including the date of commencement of WUS until the site is handed over to the Main Contractor or a person designated by the Main Contractor in writing after the date of practical completion, at which time responsibility for the care of the Subcontract Works (except to the extent provided in paragraph (b)) shall pass to the Main Contractor; and
- (b) outstanding work and items to be removed from the site by the Subcontractor after 4:00 pm on the date of practical completion until completion of outstanding work or compliance with clauses 29, 30 and 35.

Without limiting the generality of paragraph (a), the *Subcontractor* shall be responsible for the care of unfixed items accounted for in a *progress certificate* and the care and preservation of things entrusted to the *Subcontractor* by the *Main Contractor* or brought onto the *site* by *secondary subcontractors* for carrying out *WUS*.

14.2 Reinstatement

If loss or damage, other than that caused by an *excepted risk*, occurs to *WUS* during the period of the *Subcontractor's* care, the *Subcontractor* shall, at its cost, rectify such loss or damage.

In the event of loss or damage being caused by any of the *excepted risks* (whether or not in combination with other risks), the *Subcontractor* shall to the extent directed by the *Subcontract Superintendent*, rectify the loss or damage and shall be entitled to claim a *variation*. If loss or damage is caused by a combination of *excepted risks* and other risks, the *Subcontract Superintendent* in pricing the *variation* shall assess the proportional responsibility of the parties.

14.3 Excepted risks

The excepted risks causing loss or damage, for which the Main Contractor is liable, are:

- (a) any negligent act or omission of the *Superintendent*, the *Principal*, the *Subcontract Superintendent*, the *Main Contractor* or the consultants, agents, employees or other contractors (not being employed by the *Subcontractor*) of the *Principal* or the *Main Contractor*;
- (b) any risk specifically excepted elsewhere in the *Subcontract*;
- (c) war, invasion, acts of foreign enemies, hostilities (whether war be declared or not), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection or military or usurped power, martial law or confiscation by order of any Government or public authority;
- (d) ionising radiations or contamination by radioactivity from any nuclear fuel or from any nuclear waste from the combustion of nuclear fuel not caused by the *Subcontractor* or its *secondary subcontractors* or either's employees or agents;
- (e) use or occupation of any part of WUS by the Principal, the Main Contractor or the consultants, agents or other contractors (not being employed by the Subcontractor) of either of them; and
- (f) defects in the design of WUS, including the *preliminary design* provided by the Main Contractor, as is not warranted under clause 2,

provided that the loss or damage was not caused or contributed to by the Subcontractor.

15 Damage to persons and property other than WUS

15.1 Indemnity by Subcontractor

Insofar as this subclause applies to property, it applies to property other than WUS.

The *Subcontractor* shall indemnify the *Main Contractor* against and compensate the *Main Contractor* for:

- (a) loss of or damage to the Principal's or the Main Contractor's property including existing property in or upon which WUS is being carried out; and
- (b) claims in respect of personal injury or death or loss of, or damage to, any other property, arising out of or as a consequence of the carrying out of WUS, but the indemnity shall be reduced proportionally to the extent that the act or omission of the Superintendent, the Principal, the Subcontract Superintendent, the Main Contractor or the consultants, agents or other contractors (not being employed by the Subcontractor) of the Principal or the Main

This subclause shall not apply to:

- (a) the extent that the *Subcontractor's* liability is limited by another provision of the *Subcontract*;
- (b) exclude any other right of the *Principal* or the *Main Contractor* to be indemnified by the *Subcontractor*;
- (c) things for the care of which the *Subcontractor* is responsible under subclause 14.1;
- (d) damage which is the unavoidable result of the construction of *the Subcontract Works* in accordance with the *Subcontract*; and
- (e) claims in respect of the Main Contractor's right to have WUS carried out.

Contractor may have contributed to the injury, death, loss or damage.

15A Subcontractor's general insurance obligations

All insurances held by the *Subcontractor* shall cover the *Subcontractor's* obligations and indemnities in connection with the *Subcontract*.

All insurance policies obtained by the *Subcontractor* under or in connection with the *Subcontract* shall be obtained from reputable, Australian-based insurers holding authorisation from the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. All such insurance policies are subject to approval by the *Main Contractor*, whose approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The *Subcontractor* shall before making a claim under the insurance of any other party, pursue a claim under the *Subcontractor's* insurance effected pursuant to this clause and clauses 16A, 16B, 17 or 18 for the full extent of the *Subcontractor's* liability.

The *Subcontractor* shall bear the cost of any deductible payable under a relevant insurance policy in proportion to its responsibility for the cause of that loss or damage the subject of the claim.

The *Subcontractor* shall, before commencing *WUS*, effect and maintain until the *final* certificate the additional insurance policies in *Item* 27A(b) in addition to the insurance policies required by clauses 16A, 16B, 17 and 18.

16A Insurance of the Subcontract Works

Before the *date of Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* shall ensure that there is in force a policy of insurance in relation to loss or damage to *WUS* in the terms of the policy or proposed policy included in the documents on which the *Subcontractor* tendered or, if not so included, a copy of which was provided to the *Subcontractor* following receipt by the *Main Contractor* of a written request by the *Subcontractor* for a copy of the policy. The policy or proposed

AS 4903—2000 31

policy shall nominate or state the name of the insurer. The *Main Contractor* shall ensure that the policy is maintained while ever the *Subcontractor* has an interest in *WUS* and that all premiums are paid thereon.

The Subcontractor shall be responsible for:

- (i) all "excesses" under the policy of insurance held by the *Main Contractor* as stated in *Item 27A(a)* in respect of any claim made by the *Subcontractor* or his *Secondary Subcontractors*;
- (ii) all items or matters excluded from the policy of insurance for which the Subcontractor or his *Secondary Subcontractors* are otherwise liable under the provision of the *Subcontract*; and
- (iii) Complying with and ensuring that his *Secondary Subcontractors* comply with the terms of the policy and *Subcontract* in respect of claims.

The *Main Contractor* shall not be responsible for any claim by reason that the *Subcontractor* or any of his *Secondary Subcontractors* have:

- (a) failed to fully inform himself of the terms and conditions of the policy held by the *Main Contractor*; and
- (b) failed to comply in any respect with the claim procedures set down in the policy or under the terms of the *Subcontract* for claims administration.

The *Subcontractor* has the option, at his own cost, of effecting or maintaining insurance to cover any risks or portions of the risks for which they feel the insurance provided by the *Main Contractor* does not provide adequate cover/indemnity.

16B Professional indemnity insurance

Before commencing WUS, the Subcontractor shall effect and maintain professional indemnity insurance with levels of cover not less than stated in Item 28(a).

The insurance shall be maintained until the *final certificate* is issued and thereafter for the period stated in *Item* 28(b).

The Subcontractor shall ensure that every Subcontractor's consultant, if within a category stated in Item 28(c), shall effect and maintain professional indemnity insurance with levels of cover not less than stated in Item 28(c) applicable to that category.

Each such *Subcontractor's consultant's* professional indemnity insurance shall be maintained until the *final certificate* is issued and thereafter for the period as stated in *Item* 28(d).

17 Public and product liability insurance

The Alternative in *Item* 29(a) applies.

Alternative 1: Main Contractor to insure

Before the *date of Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* shall ensure that there is in force in relation to *WUS*, a *public liability policy* in the terms of the policy or proposed policy included in the documents on which the *Subcontractor* tendered or, if not so included, a copy of which was provided to the *Subcontractor* following receipt by the *Main Contractor* of a written request from the *Subcontractor* for a copy of the policy. The policy or proposed policy shall nominate or state the name of the insurer. The *Main Contractor* shall ensure that the policy is maintained while ever the *Subcontractor* has an interest in *WUS* and that all premiums are paid thereon.

Alternative 2: Subcontractor to insure

Before commencing WUS, the Subcontractor shall effect and maintain for the duration of the Subcontract, a public liability policy.

32

The policy shall:

- (a) be in the joint names of the *Principal*, the *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor*;
- (b) cover the:
 - (i) respective rights and interests; and
 - (ii) liabilities to third parties;
 - of the parties, the *Principal*, *Superintendent*, *Subcontract Superintendent*, *Subcontractor's consultants* and *secondary subcontractors* from time to time, whenever engaged in *WUS*;
- (c) cover the parties' respective liability to each other for loss or damage to property (other than property required to be insured by clause 16A) and the death of or injury to any person (other than liability which the law requires to be covered under a workers compensation insurance policy);
- (d) be endorsed to cover the use of any *construction plant* not covered under a comprehensive or third party motor vehicle insurance policy;
- (e) provide insurance cover for an amount in respect of any one occurrence of not less than the sum in *Item* 29(b);
- (f) be with an insurer and otherwise in terms both approved in writing by the Main Contractor (which approvals shall not be unreasonably withheld).

18 Insurance of employees

Before commencing WUS, the Subcontractor shall insure against statutory and common law liability for death of or injury to persons employed by the Subcontractor. The insurance cover shall be maintained until completion of all WUS and for the duration of the defects liability period.

Where permitted by law, the insurance policy or policies shall be extended to provide indemnity for the *Main Contractor's* statutory liability to the *Subcontractor's* employees.

The Subcontractor shall ensure that all Subcontractor's consultants and secondary subcontractors have similarly insured their employees.

19 Inspection and provisions of insurance policies

19.1 Proof of insurance

Before the *Subcontractor* commences *WUS* and whenever requested in writing by the other party, a party liable to insure shall provide satisfactory evidence of such insurance effected and maintained.

Insurance shall not limit liabilities or obligations under other provisions of the Subcontract.

19.2 Failure to produce proof of insurance

If after being so requested, a party liable to insure fails promptly to provide evidence of satisfactory compliance, then without prejudice to other rights or remedies, the other party may insure and the cost thereof shall be certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* as moneys due and payable from the party in default to the other party. Where the defaulting party is the *Subcontractor*, *Main Contractor* may refuse payment until such evidence is produced by the *Subcontractor*.

19.3 Notices from or to insurer

The *Subcontractor* insuring under Alternative 2 of clause 17 shall ensure that the insurance policy contains provisions acceptable to the *Main Contractor* which:

33

- (a) requires the insurer to inform both parties, whenever the insurer gives a party or a *Subcontractor's consultant* or a *secondary subcontractor* a notice in connection with the policy;
- (b) provides that a notice of claim given to the insurer by either party, the Subcontract Superintendent, a Subcontractor's consultant or a secondary subcontractor shall be accepted by the insurer as a notice of claim given by both parties, the Subcontract Superintendent, the Subcontractor's consultant and the secondary subcontractor; and
- (c) requires the insurer, whenever the *Subcontractor* fails to maintain the policy, promptly to give written notice thereof to both parties and prior to cancellation of the policy.

19.4 Notices of potential claims

A party shall, as soon as practicable, inform the other party in writing of any occurrence affecting or arising out of WUS that may give rise to a claim under an insurance policy required by clause 16A or 17 and shall keep the other party informed of subsequent developments concerning the claim. The Subcontractor shall ensure that Subcontractor's consultants and secondary subcontractors in respect of their operations similarly inform the parties.

19.5 Settlement of claims

Upon settlement of a claim under the insurance required by clause 16A:

- (a) to the extent that reinstatement has been the subject of a payment or allowance by the *Main Contractor* to the *Subcontractor*, if the *Subcontractor* has not completed such reinstatement, insurance moneys received shall, if requested by either party, be paid into an agreed bank account in the joint names of the parties. As the *Subcontractor* reinstates the loss or damage, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall certify against the joint account for the cost of reinstatement; and
- (b) to the extent that reinstatement has not been the subject of a payment or allowance by the *Main Contractor* to the *Subcontractor*, the *Subcontractor* shall be entitled immediately to receive from insurance moneys received, the amount of such moneys so paid in relation to any loss suffered by the *Subcontractor*.

19.6 Cross liability

Any insurance required to be effected in joint names in accordance with the *Subcontract* shall include a cross liability clause in which the insurer agrees to waive all rights of subrogation or action against any of the persons constituting the insured and for the purpose of which the insurer accepts the term 'insured' as applying to each of the persons constituting the insured as if a separate policy of insurance had been issued to each of them (subject always to the overall sum insured not being increased thereby).

20 Subcontract Superintendent

The *Main Contractor* shall ensure that at all times there is a *Subcontract Superintendent*, and that the Subcontract Superintendent fulfils all aspects of the role and functions reasonably and in good faith.

Except where the Subcontract otherwise provides, the Subcontract Superintendent may give a direction orally but shall as soon as practicable confirm it in writing. If the Subcontractor in writing requests the Subcontract Superintendent to confirm an oral direction, the

Subcontractor shall not be bound to comply with the direction until the Subcontract Superintendent does so.

34

21 Subcontract Superintendent's Representative

The Subcontract Superintendent may from time to time appoint individuals to exercise delegated Subcontract Superintendent's functions, provided that:

- (a) no aspect of any function shall at any one time be the subject of delegation to more than one *Subcontract Superintendent's Representative*;
- (b) delegation shall not prevent the Subcontract Superintendent exercising any function;
- (c) the *Subcontract Superintendent* forthwith gives the *Subcontractor* written notice of respectively:
 - (i) the appointment, including the *Subcontract Superintendent's Representative's* name and delegated functions; and
 - (ii) the termination of each appointment; and
- (d) if the *Subcontractor* makes a reasonable objection to the appointment of a *Subcontract Superintendent's Representative*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall terminate the appointment.

The Subcontractor shall forthwith notify the Subcontract Superintendent if the Subcontractor receives a purported direction from other than the Subcontract Superintendent, the Main Contractor or those authorised by either of them.

22 Subcontractor's representative

The *Subcontractor* shall superintend *WUS* personally or by a competent representative. Matters within a *Subcontractor's* representative's knowledge (including *directions* received) shall be deemed to be within the *Subcontractor's* knowledge.

The *Subcontractor* shall forthwith give the *Subcontract Superintendent* written notice of the representative's name and any subsequent changes.

If the *Subcontract Superintendent* makes a reasonable objection to the appointment of a representative, the *Subcontractor* shall terminate the appointment and appoint another representative.

23 Subcontractor's employees and secondary subcontractors

The Subcontract Superintendent may direct the Subcontractor to have removed, within a stated time, from the site or from any activity of WUS, any person employed on WUS who, in the Subcontract Superintendent's opinion, is incompetent, negligent or guilty of misconduct.

24 Site

24.1 Access and non-exclusive possession

Before the expiry of the time stated in *Item* 30(a), the *Main Contractor* shall give the *Subcontractor* access to the *site* sufficient to enable the *Subcontractor* to commence and carry out the *Subcontractor's design obligations*.

Provided the *Subcontractor* has complied with subclause 19.1, the *Main Contractor* shall before the expiry of the time in *Item* 30(b), give the *Subcontractor* non-exclusive possession of sufficient of the *site* for commencement of *WUS* on *site*. If the *Main Contractor* has not given the *Subcontractor* non-exclusive possession of the *site* to enable the *Subcontractor* to carry out all of *WUS*, the *Main Contractor* shall give the *Subcontractor* non-exclusive

possession of such further portions of the *site* as may, from time to time, be necessary for carrying out *WUS*. Subject to subclause 39.7, delay by the *Main Contractor* in giving possession shall not be a breach of the *Subcontract*.

35

Non-exclusive possession of the *site* shall confer on the *Subcontractor* a right to only such use and control as is necessary to enable the *Subcontractor* to carry out *WUS* and shall exclude camping, residential purposes and any purpose not connected with *WUS*, unless approved by the *Subcontract Superintendent*.

24.2 Access for Main Contractor and others

The *Main Contractor* and the *Main Contractor*'s employees, consultants and agents and other persons authorised by the *Main Contractor* (including other subcontractors) may at any reasonable time have access to any part of the *site* for any purpose. The *Subcontractor* shall permit persons engaged by the *Main Contractor* to carry out *work* on the *site* other than *WUS* and shall cooperate with them.

The Subcontractor shall at all reasonable times give the Subcontract Superintendent and the Superintendent access to WUS, whether at the site or elsewhere.

The *Main Contractor* shall ensure that none of the persons referred to in this subclause impedes the *Subcontractor*.

24.3 Minerals, fossils and relics

Valuable minerals, fossils, articles or objects of antiquity or of anthropological or archaeological interest, treasure trove, coins and articles of value found on the *site* shall as between the parties be and remain the property of the *Main Contractor*. Immediately upon the discovery of these things the *Subcontractor* shall:

- (a) take precautions to prevent their loss, removal or damage; and
- (b) give the Subcontract Superintendent written notice of the discovery.

All costs so incurred by the *Subcontractor* shall be assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and added to the *subcontract sum*.

24.4 Adjoining property

Where WUS requires the Subcontractor to carry out WUS on, in or over any property adjoining or in the vicinity of the site, the Subcontractor shall be responsible for all matters relating to the carrying out of WUS outside the boundaries of the site including coordinating any access with adjoining property owners and any cost, expense, loss, damage or other liability to the extent it arises from the carrying out of WUS outside the boundaries of the site

The Subcontractor shall indemnify the *Main Contractor* against and compensate the *Main Contractor* for any cost, expense, loss, damage or other liability suffered or incurred by the *Main Contractor* in connection with *WUS* carried on outside the boundaries of the *site*.

The Subcontractor shall not be entitled to any claim or to any variation in connection with such access or WUS.

24A Other contractors

The *Main Contractor* will arrange for *other contractors* to carry out *works* at or near the *site* concurrently with the carrying out by the *Subcontractor* of *WUS*.

The Subcontractor shall cooperate with the *other contractors* to ensure:

(a) that the carrying out of WUS is coordinated with the work of the other contractors; and

(b) the *work* of the *Subcontractor* does not interfere with the *work* of the *other* contractors.

The *Subcontractor* shall use its best endeavours to facilitate the *work* of the *other contractors* including, without limitation, coordinating all deliveries and pick-ups of equipment and materials and the carrying out of activities in connection with *WUS*.

25 Latent conditions

25.1 Scope

Latent conditions are physical conditions on the *site* and its near surrounds, including artificial things but excluding weather conditions, which differ materially from the physical conditions which should reasonably have been anticipated by a competent subcontractor at the time of the *Subcontractor's* tender if the *Subcontractor* had inspected:

- (a) all written information made available by the *Main Contractor* to the *Subcontractor* for the purpose of tendering;
- (b) all information influencing the risk allocation in the *Subcontractor's* tender and reasonably obtainable by the making of reasonable enquiries; and
- (c) the *site* and its near surrounds.

25.2 Notification

Within 10 business days after becoming aware of a latent condition while carrying out WUS, and where possible before the latent condition is disturbed, the Subcontractor shall give the Subcontract Superintendent and the Main Contractor a written statement of:

- (a) the *latent condition* encountered and the respects in which it differs materially; and
- (b) the additional *work*, resources, time and cost which the *Subcontractor* estimates to be necessary to deal with the *latent condition*.

If the *Subcontractor* fails to notify the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor* in accordance with this subclause **Error! Reference source not found.**, the *Subcontractor* s hall not be entitled to any *claim* in connection with the *latent condition*

25.3 Variation

Subject to the *Subcontractor's* compliance with subclause **Error! Reference source not f ound.**, the effect of the *latent condition* shall be that the *Subcontractor* is entitled give the *Subcontract Superintendent* a completed written *notice of proposed variation*.

26 Setting out the Subcontract Works

26.1 Setting out

The Main Contractor shall ensure that the Subcontract Superintendent gives the Subcontractor the data, survey marks and like information necessary for the Subcontractor to set out the Subcontract Works, together with those survey marks specified in the Subcontract. Thereupon the Subcontractor shall set out the Subcontract Works in accordance with the Subcontract.

26.2 Errors in setting out

The *Subcontractor* shall rectify every error in the position, level, dimensions or alignment of any *WUS* after promptly notifying the *Subcontract Superintendent* and unless the *Subcontract Superintendent* within 3 days directs otherwise.

If the error was caused by incorrect data, *survey marks* or information given by the *Subcontract Superintendent*, the cost incurred by the *Subcontractor* in rectifying the error shall be assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and added to the *subcontract sum*.

26.3 Care of survey marks

The Subcontractor shall keep in their true positions all survey marks supplied by the Subcontract Superintendent.

The Subcontractor shall reinstate any survey mark disturbed, after promptly notifying the Subcontract Superintendent and unless the Subcontract Superintendent within 3 days directs otherwise.

If the disturbance was caused a person referred to in subclause 24.2 other than the *Subcontractor*, the cost incurred by the *Subcontractor* in reinstating the *survey mark* shall be assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* and added to the *subcontract sum*.

27 Cleaning up

The *Subcontractor* shall keep the *site* and *WUS* clean and tidy and regularly remove rubbish and surplus material.

Within 14 days after the *date of practical completion*, the *Subcontractor* shall remove *temporary works* and *construction plant*. The *Subcontract Superintendent* may extend the time to enable the *Subcontractor* to perform remaining obligations.

If the *Subcontractor* fails to comply with the preceding obligations in this clause, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may direct the *Subcontractor* to rectify the non-compliance and the time for rectification.

If:

- (a) the Subcontractor fails to comply with such a direction; and
- (b) that failure has not been made good within 3 days after the *Subcontractor* receives written notice from the *Subcontract Superintendent* that the *Main Contractor* intends to have the subject *work* carried out by others,

the *Main Contractor* may have that *work* so carried out and the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall certify the cost incurred as moneys due from the *Subcontractor* to the *Main Contractor*. The rights given by this paragraph are additional to any other rights and remedies.

28 Materials, labour and construction plant

Except where the *Subcontract* otherwise provides, the *Subcontractor* shall supply everything necessary for the proper performance of the *Subcontractor's* obligations and discharge of the *Subcontractor's* liabilities.

In respect of any materials, machinery or equipment to be supplied by the *Subcontractor* in connection with the *Subcontract*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may direct the *Subcontractor* to:

- (a) supply particulars of the mode and place of manufacture, the source of supply, the performance capacities and other related information; and
- (b) arrange reasonable inspection at such place or sources by the *Subcontract Superintendent*, the *Main Contractor* and persons authorised by the *Main Contractor*.

The Subcontract Superintendent may give the Subcontractor a written direction not to remove materials or construction plant from the site. Thereafter the Subcontractor shall not remove them without the Subcontract Superintendent's prior written approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld).

28.1A Training Policy

For the purposes of Clauses 28.1A and 28.1AB:

Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander means a person of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander descent who identifies as an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander and is accepted as such by the community in which he or she lives;

38

'Apprentice' or 'Trainee' has the meaning given to it in the Training Policy;

'Compliance Plan' means the plan developed by the Subcontractor demonstrating how the Subcontractor will comply with its obligations under this clause 28.1AB and the Training Policy;

'CSQ' means Construction Skills Queensland;

'DATSIMA' means the Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and Multicultural Affairs;

'Deemed Hours' means the number of hours calculated using the following formula: subcontract sum (GST inclusive) x 0.0006;

'Indigenous Economic Opportunities Plan' means a plan that complies with the requirements of the Training Policy (template available via www.training.qld.gov.au/trainingpolicy) agreed to and signed by:

- (a) the Subcontractor;
- (b) the *Principal*; and
- (c) the relevant Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander council or authority, or where there is no relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander council or authority, DATSIMA;

'Indigenous Project' means:

- (a) an Eligible Project located in an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander community, or in the township of Weipa, or
- (b) an Eligible Project located in a part of Queensland not referred to in paragraph (a) of this definition that is selected as an Indigenous Project by Queensland Government agencies or by the Director General of DATSIMA,

as further detailed in the *Training Policy*;

'Practical Completion Compliance Report' means a report prepared by the Subcontractor demonstrating the compliance by the Subcontractor with clause 28.1AB and the Training Policy;

'Training Policy' means the Queensland Government Building and Construction Training Policy, published by the Department of Education, Training and Employment and located at www.training.qld.gov.au/trainingpolicy, as amended from time to time;

'Training Policy Administration System' or 'TPAS' means the electronic reporting system administered by CSQ for the submission of the Compliance Plan, the Practical Completion Compliance Report and the Indigenous Economic Opportunities Plan located via www.training.qld.gov.au/trainingpolicy.

28.1AB Compliance with Training Policy

- (a) Where WUS constitutes an Eligible Project, the Subcontractor must:
 - (i) within 10 business days of the *date of Subcontract* submit to the *Main Contractor*, a completed *Compliance Plan* in the form attached to these conditions;
 - (i) within 15 business days of the date of practical completion, or if there is more than one the last occurring date of practical completion, submit to the Main Contractor, a completed Practical Completion Compliance Report in the form attached to these conditions;
 - (ii) comply with the *Training Policy*;
 - (iii) ensure that new entrant *Apprentices* or *Trainees*, as set out in the *Training Policy*, work a minimum of 60% of the *Deemed Hours* applicable to *WUS*; and
 - (iv) undertake other workforce training as set out in the *Training Policy* for the remaining *Deemed Hours* not allocated under clause 28.1AB(a)(iv).
- (b) Where the WUS constitutes an Indigenous Project the Subcontractor must, in addition to the requirements set out in clause 28.1AB(a):
 - (i) within 10 business days of the date of Subcontract submit to CSQ via the TPAS, with a copy to the Superintendent, a completed Indigenous Economic Opportunities Plan;
 - (ii) ensure that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Apprentices and/or Trainees, and local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workers work the Deemed Hours applicable to the WUS as set out in the Training Policy;
 - (iii) ensure that, in addition to the requirements set out in Clause 28.1AB(b)(ii), the Subcontractor complies with the Indigenous Economic Opportunities Plan such that 3% of the subcontract sum is allocated toward the agreed Indigenous Economic Opportunities Plan in carrying out the WUS; and
 - (iv) within 15 business days of the date of practical completion, or if there is more than one the last occurring date of practical completion, submit to CSQ via the TPAS, with a copy to the Subcontract Superintendent, the achievement of outcomes against the Indigenous Economic Opportunities Plan in accordance with the Training Policy.
- (c) Nothing in Clauses 28.1AB(a) or 28.1AB(b) limits or alters the *Subcontractor's* obligation to comply with the *Training Policy* generally.
- (d) The *Subcontractor* acknowledges that failure to comply in part or in whole with the requirements of clauses 28.1A and 28.1AB will be a substantive factor that will be taken into account in the process of awarding future contracts by the *Principal* (the State of Queensland).

28.1B Queensland Charter for Local Content

This Clause applies if specified in the Annexure.

The Subcontractor must, and must ensure its sub-Subcontractors, in carrying out WUS:

(a) comply with the principles of the Queensland Charter for Local Content (Charter) and any requirements under the Subcontract in this regard;

- (b) comply with any Statement of Intent or equivalent local content statement under the Subcontract;
- (c) complete and submit a Charter for Local Content Project Outcome Report (available from www.dsdip.qld.gov.au/local-content¹) to the Main Contractor at Practical Completion and at such other times as reasonably requested by the Main Contractor, with a copy to qclc@dsdip.qld.gov.au."

28.2 Site Personnel Register

- (a) From the commencement of WUS until practical completion, the Subcontractor must maintain a register in the form attached to these Conditions ('Site Personnel Register') of all individuals who carry out work under the Subcontract on site.
- (b) The Site Personnel Register must be available for inspection at all times by the *Main Contractor*.
- (c) The *Subcontractor* must provide statistical information in the form attached to these Conditions ('Site Personnel Register Summary') to the *Main Contractor* every 13 weeks and at such other times as the *Main Contractor* may direct.

29 Quality

29.1 Quality of material and work

Unless otherwise provided the *Subcontractor* shall use suitable new materials and proper and tradesmanlike workmanship.

* 29.2 Quality assurance

If the Subcontract elsewhere requires further quality assurance, the Subcontractor shall:

- (a) plan, establish and maintain a conforming quality system; and
- (b) ensure that the *Superintendent* and the *Subcontract Superintendent* have access to the quality system of the *Subcontractor* and *secondary subcontractors* so as to enable monitoring and quality auditing.

Any such quality system shall be used only as an aid to achieving compliance with the *Subcontract* and to document such compliance. Such system shall not discharge the *Subcontractor's* other obligations under the *Subcontract*.

29.3 Defective work

If the Subcontract Superintendent becomes aware of work done (including material provided) by the Subcontractor which does not comply with the Subcontract, the Subcontract Superintendent shall as soon as practicable give the Subcontractor written details thereof. If the subject work has not been rectified, the Subcontract Superintendent may direct the Subcontractor to do any one or more of the following (including times for commencement and completion):

- (a) remove the material from the *site*;
- (b) demolish the work;
- (c) redesign, reconstruct, replace or correct the work; and

¹ An example template of the Charter for Local Content – Project Outcome Report is attached to these Conditions.

^{*} See Preface

(d) not deliver it to the *site*.

If:

- (a) the Subcontractor fails to comply with such a direction; and
- (b) that failure has not been made good within 5 days after the *Subcontractor* receives written notice from the *Subcontract Superintendent* that the *Main Contractor* intends to have the subject *work* rectified by others,

the *Main Contractor* may have that *work* so rectified and the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall certify the cost incurred as moneys due from the *Subcontractor* to the *Main Contractor*.

29.4 Acceptance of defective work

Instead of a *direction* pursuant to subclause 29.3, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may direct the *Subcontractor* that the *Main Contractor* elects to accept the subject *work*, whereupon the subject *work* shall be assessed as if it were a *variation*.

29.5 Timing

The Subcontract Superintendent may give a direction pursuant to this clause at any time before the expiry of the last defects liability period.

29A Non-Conforming Building Products

29A.1 Definitions

In this clause 29A, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, words that are capitalised have the same meaning as in the *Building and Construction Legislation (Non-Conforming Building Products – Chain of Responsibility and Other Matters) Amendment Act 2017* (Qld) (*NCBP Act*).

29A.2 Building Products

The Subcontractor warrants to the Main Contractor that:

- (a) any *Building Product* to be used or supplied will not be a *Non-Conforming Building Product*;
- (b) if the *Subcontractor* designs, manufactures or installs any *Building Product* to be used or supplied it will provide all *Required Information* for the *Building Product* upon the *Main Contractor's* request;
- (c) if the Subcontractor becomes aware, or reasonably suspects that a Building Product is a Non-Conforming Building Product, the Subcontractor will immediately notify the Main Contractor; and
- (d) the *Subcontractor* will at all times comply with the requirements of *NCBP Act* in connection with the *WUS*.

29A.3 Indemnity

The *Subcontractor* shall indemnify the *Main Contractor* against and compensate the *Main Contractor* for any direct, indirect or consequential loss, cost, expense or damages of any nature whatsoever suffered or incurred by the *Main Contractor* arising directly or indirectly out of any breach of the warranties set out in subclause 29A.2.

30 Examination and testing

30.1 Tests

At any time before the expiry of the last defects liability period, the Subcontract Superintendent may direct that any WUS be tested. The Subcontractor shall give such assistance and samples and make accessible such parts of WUS as may be directed by the Subcontract Superintendent.

42

30.2 Covering up

The Subcontract Superintendent may direct that any part of WUS shall not be covered up or made inaccessible without the Subcontract Superintendent's prior written direction.

30.3 Who conducts

Tests shall be conducted as provided elsewhere in the Subcontract or by the Subcontract Superintendent or a person (which may include the Subcontractor) nominated by the Subcontract Superintendent.

30.4 Notice

The Subcontract Superintendent or the Subcontractor (whichever is to conduct the test) shall give reasonable written notice to the other of the date, time and place of the test. If the other does not attend, the test may nevertheless proceed.

30.5 Delay

Without prejudice to any other right, if the *Subcontractor* or the *Subcontract Superintendent* delays in conducting a *test*, the other, after giving reasonable written notice of intention to do so, may conduct the *test*.

30.6 Completion and results

On completion of the *tests*, the *Subcontractor* shall make good *WUS* so that it fully complies with the *Subcontract*.

Results of *tests* shall be promptly made available by each party to the other and to the *Subcontract Superintendent*.

30.7 Costs

Costs in connection with testing pursuant to this clause shall be borne by the *Main Contractor* except where the *Subcontract* otherwise provides or the *test* is consequent upon, or reveals a failure of the *Subcontractor* to comply with the *Subcontract* (including this clause).

31 Working hours

If the working hours and working days on the *site* are not stated elsewhere in the *Subcontract*, they shall be as notified by the *Main Contractor* to the *Subcontractor* before commencement of *work* on *site*. They shall not be varied without the *Subcontract Superintendent's* prior written approval, except when, in the interests of safety of persons or property, the *Subcontractor* finds it necessary to carry out *WUS* otherwise, whereupon the *Subcontractor* shall give the *Subcontract Superintendent* written notice of those circumstances as early as possible.

The *Subcontractor* shall consider any request of the *Main Contractor* with respect to working hours including the working of a six day week.

32 Programming

The *Subcontract Superintendent* shall give to the *Subcontractor* the information, materials, documents and instructions by the times or within the periods both stated in *Item* 31.

43

The Subcontractor shall give the Subcontract Superintendent reasonable advance notice of when the Subcontractor needs other information, materials, documents or instructions from the Subcontract Superintendent or the Main Contractor.

The *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall not be obliged to give any information, materials, documents or instructions earlier than the *Main Contractor* or the *Subcontract Superintendent*, as the case may be, should reasonably have anticipated at the *date of Subcontract*.

The Subcontractor shall co-operate with the Main Contractor's other subcontractors and with others engaged by the Main Contractor or the Principal and subject to the Main Contractor being responsible for the overall co-ordination of WUS into the work under the main contract, the Main Contractor and the Subcontractor shall co-ordinate WUS with the work under the main contract.

The Subcontract Superintendent may direct in what order and at what time the various stages or portions of WUS shall be carried out. If the Subcontractor can reasonably comply with the direction, the Subcontractor shall do so. If the Subcontractor cannot reasonably comply, the Subcontractor shall give the Subcontract Superintendent written notice of the reasons.

A construction program is a written statement showing the dates by which, or the times within which, the various stages or portions of WUS are to be carried out or completed. A construction program shall only be deemed a Subcontract document if approved by the Subcontract Superintendent or Main Contractor.

The Subcontract Superintendent may direct the Subcontractor to give the Subcontract Superintendent a construction program within the time and in the form directed.

The Subcontractor shall not, without reasonable cause, depart from a construction program.

If compliance with any such directions under this clause, pertaining to what orders and at what time the various stages or portions of *WUS* shall be carried out, except those pursuant to the Subcontractor's default, causes the Subcontractor to incur more or less cost than otherwise would have been incurred had the Subcontractor not been given the direction, the difference shall be assessed by the Subcontract Superintendent and added to or deducted from the subcontract sum.

32A Acceleration

- (a) The Subcontract Superintendent may at any time give the Subcontractor written notice of proposed acceleration for the Subcontractor to accelerate the carrying out of WUS.
- (b) The Subcontractor shall, within 5 days (or such further period agreed with the Subcontract Superintendent) of receiving a notice of proposed acceleration, notify the Subcontract Superintendent whether the Subcontractor can comply with the notice of proposed acceleration, together with details of:
 - (i) whether and to what extent the acceleration is achievable;
 - (ii) the effect on the construction program (including the date for practical completion);
 - (iii) all costs (including time related costs, if any) of complying with the *notice of* proposed acceleration and how that cost has been determined, including any quotations or supporting documentation;
 - (iv) any changes in labour, plant, activities, or hours of work required to comply with the *notice of proposed acceleration*; and

- (v) any other issues requested by the Subcontract Superintendent.
- (c) The *Subcontract Superintendent* shall, as soon as practicable after receiving the *Subcontractor's* notice of proposed acceleration, assess the information provided by the *Subcontractor* and may give a written direction to the *Subcontractor* to accelerate the carrying out of *WUS*. A direction given under this paragraph (c) shall be taken to be a direction under clause 32.
- (d) If the acceleration is necessary as a result of a qualifying cause of delay then:
 - (i) an instruction to accelerate under this clause will entitle the *Subcontractor* to be paid by the *Main Contractor* the net costs unavoidably incurred by it as a result of the acceleration, and such costs shall be valued in accordance with clause 36.4; and
 - (ii) the *Subcontractor* shall take all steps possible to mitigate the actual net direct extra costs reasonably incurred as a result of the acceleration.
- (e) The *Subcontractor* is not entitled to any *variation*, costs or *claim* except in so far as set out in clause 32A(d).
- (f) The *Main Contractor's* right to liquidated damages in accordance with subclause 34.7 shall not be prejudiced by any *direction* given, or complied with, in accordance with this clause.

33 Suspension

33.1 Subcontract Superintendent's suspension

The Subcontract Superintendent may direct the Subcontractor to suspend the carrying out of the whole or part of WUS for such time as the Subcontract Superintendent thinks fit:

- (a) because of an act, default or omission of:
 - (i) the Subcontract Superintendent, the Main Contractor or its employees, consultants, agents or other contractors (not being employed by the Subcontractor); or
 - (ii) the Subcontractor, a Subcontractor's consultant, a secondary subcontractor or the employees or agents of any of them;
- (b) for the protection or safety of any person or property;
- (c) to comply with a court order;
- (d) because of a main contract dispute;
- (e) because suspension of work under the *main contract*, in the *Subcontract Superintendent's* opinion, prevents *WUS*;
- (f) due to suspension under the main contract; or
- (g) due to any other reason given by the *Main Contractor*.

33.2 Subcontractor's suspension

If the *Subcontractor* wishes to suspend the carrying out of the whole or part of *WUS*, otherwise than pursuant to subclause 39.9, the *Subcontractor* shall obtain the *Subcontract Superintendent's* prior written approval. The *Subcontract Superintendent* may approve the suspension and may impose conditions of approval.

33.3 Recommencement

As soon as the *Subcontract Superintendent* becomes aware that the reason for any suspension no longer exists, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall direct the *Subcontractor* to recommence suspended *WUS* as soon as reasonably practicable.

The *Subcontractor* may recommence *WUS* suspended pursuant to subclause 33.2 or 39.9 at any time after reasonable notice to the *Subcontract Superintendent*.

33.4 Cost

The Subcontractor shall bear the cost of suspension pursuant to paragraph (a)(ii) of subclause 33.1 and subclause 33.2. If the Subcontractor made the protection, safety, court order or suspension of work necessary, the Subcontractor shall bear the cost of suspension pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of subclause 33.1. If the Subcontractor otherwise incurs more or less cost than otherwise would have been incurred, the difference shall be assessed by the Subcontract Superintendent and added to or deducted from the subcontract sum.

34 Time and progress

34.1 Progress

The Subcontractor shall ensure that WUS reaches practical completion by the date for practical completion.

34.2 Notice of delay

A party becoming aware of anything which will probably cause delay to WUS shall promptly give the Subcontract Superintendent and the other party written notice of that cause and the estimated delay.

34.3 Claim

The *Subcontractor* shall be entitled to such extension of time for carrying out *WUS* (including reaching *practical completion*) as the *Subcontract Superintendent* assesses ('EOT'), if:

- (a) the *Subcontractor* is or will be delayed in reaching *practical completion* by the *date for practical completion* due to a *qualifying cause of delay*; and
- (b) the Subcontractor gives the Subcontract Superintendent, within 10 business days of when the Subcontractor should reasonably have become aware of that causation occurring, a written claim for an EOT which:
 - (i) gives detailed particulars of the cause of the delay and how WUS has been delayed by reference to its impact upon the progress of one or more activities on the critical path set out in the construction program;
 - (ii) details of the number of days extension claimed;
 - (iii) describes the reasonable steps taken by the *Subcontractor* to avert and minimise the delay and/or the cause of the delay; and
 - (iv) includes a fully amended *construction program* which also identifies the delay and its effect on the critical path of the current *construction program*.

If further delay results from a *qualifying cause of delay* evidenced in a claim under paragraph (b) of this subclause, the *Subcontractor* shall claim an *EOT* for such delay by giving the *Subcontract Superintendent* a written claim evidencing the facts of that delay within 5 *business days* of when the *Subcontractor* should reasonably have become aware of the further delay the *Subcontractor* shall claim an *EOT* for such delay by giving the *Superintendent* a written claim complying with this subclause and:

- (c) evidencing the facts of that delay;
- (d) including a fully amended construction program; and
- (e) identifying the further delay and its impact on the critical path of the current construction program.

If the Subcontractor does not strictly comply with the requirements set out in this subclause:

- (f) it shall not be entitled to an *EOT*;
- (g) it shall ensure that WUS reaches practical completion by the date for practical completion; and
- (h) any principle of law or equity (including the 'prevention principle') which might otherwise render this clause or the *date for practical completion* unenforceable or render any liquidated damages penal, shall not apply.

34.4 Assessment

In assessing each *EOT* the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall have regard to whether:

- (a) the Subcontractor contributed to the delay by any act or omission;
- (b) the cause of the delay was within the reasonable control of the *Subcontractor*;
- (c) whether the *Subcontractor* has taken all reasonable steps to mitigate the effect of the delay; and
- (d) any practical options or courses of action which the *Subcontractor* acting reasonable considers are, or may be desirable and available to the *Main Contractor* to avoid or minimise the delay, including ones which may involve the expenditure of moneys by the *Main Contractor*.

The Subcontract Superintendent may request that the Subcontractor provide further information in connection with a claim for an EOT within 7 days of receiving the claim.

The Subcontractor shall have made due allowance for the delays and interruption to work or WUS which a competent subcontractor, experienced in projects similar to the Subcontract Works, could reasonably have anticipate given all information which the Subcontractor was made aware of or should have been made aware of prior to the date of Subcontract.

When more than one event causes concurrent delays and the cause of at least one of those events, but not all of them, is not a *qualifying cause of delay*, then to the extent that the delays are concurrent, the *Subcontractor* shall not be entitled to an *EOT* for *practical completion*.

34.5 Extension of time

Within 35 days after receiving the *Subcontractor's* claim for an *EOT*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall give to the *Subcontractor* and the *Main Contractor* a written *direction* evidencing the *EOT* so assessed, either:

- (a) granting the claim for an *EOT* in full;
- (b) granting part of the claim for an *EOT* giving reasons why the claim is partly rejected; or
- (c) rejecting the claim giving reasons why the claim for an *EOT* is rejected in full.

Notwithstanding that the *Subcontractor* is not entitled to or has not claimed an *EOT*, the *Subcontract Superintendent*, for the *Main Contractor's* benefit only, and in its sole and absolute discretion and without being under any obligation to do so, may at any time and from time to time before issuing the *final certificate* direct an *EOT*.

Any delay or failure by the Subcontract Superintendent to grant an extension of time under this subclause shall not cause the date for practical completion to be set at large.

AS 4903—2000 47

34.6 Practical completion

The Subcontractor shall give the Subcontract Superintendent at least 14 days written notice of the date upon which the Subcontractor anticipates that practical completion will be reached.

When the Subcontractor is of the opinion that practical completion has been reached, the Subcontractor shall in writing request the Subcontract Superintendent to issue a certificate of practical completion. Within 14 days after receiving the request, the Subcontract Superintendent shall give the Subcontractor and the Main Contractor either a certificate of practical completion evidencing the date of practical completion or written reasons for not doing so.

If the *Subcontract Superintendent* is of the opinion that *practical completion* has been reached, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may issue a *certificate of practical completion* even though no request has been made.

34.6A Use of part of the Subcontract Works

Use by the *Principal* or *Main Contractor* of any other part of the *Subcontract Works* shall not constitute *practical completion* for that part of *the Subcontract Works*.

34.7 Liquidated damages

If WUS does not reach practical completion by the date for practical completion, the Subcontract Superintendent shall certify, as due and payable to the Main Contractor, liquidated damages in Item 33(a) for every day after the date for practical completion to and including the earliest of the date of practical completion or termination of the Subcontract or the Main Contractor taking WUS out of the hands of the Subcontractor.

At any time after the *date for practical completion*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may issue a written notice to the *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor* certifying the amount of liquidated damages accrued in accordance with this subclause 34.7 as at that date. The *Main Contractor* shall be entitled to recover the amount certified from the *Subcontractor* as a debt due and payable from the *Subcontractor* to the *Main Contractor*.

If an EOT is directed after the Subcontractor has paid or the Main Contractor has set off liquidated damages under the Subcontract, the Main Contractor shall forthwith repay to the Subcontractor such of those liquidated damages as represent the days the subject of the EOT.

* 34.7A Indemnity

If:

- (a) the *main contract works* do not reach practical completion by their date for practical completion; and
- (b) the reason therefore is caused by the *Subcontractor's* delay in completing *WUS*, the *Subcontractor* shall indemnify the *Main Contractor* against and compensate the *Main Contractor* for:
- (c) liquidated damages under the *main contract* stated in *Item* 33(b) certified by the *Superintendent*; and
- (d) damages, other than liquidated damages, which have become due and payable by the *Main Contractor* to the *Principal*.

-

^{*} See Preface

If the *Subcontractor's* delay is not the sole cause of the *Main Contractor's* liability for damages, the *Subcontractor* shall indemnify the *Main Contractor* and compensate the *Main Contractor* only in proportion to the *Subcontractor's* delay, which shall be certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* as moneys due to the *Main Contractor* by the *Subcontractor*.

If after the *Subcontractor* has paid or the *Main Contractor* has set off liquidated damages, the *Superintendent* directs an *EOT* for the cause of the *Subcontractor*'s delay, the *Main Contractor* shall forthwith repay to the *Subcontractor* such of those liquidated damages as represent the days the subject of the *EOT*.

The *Subcontractor's* indebtedness under this subclause is not included in the liquidated damages applicable to subclause 34.7.

34.8 Not used

34.9 Delay costs

Other than an *EOT*, the *Subcontractor* has no other *claim* (including any *claim* for delay or disruption costs or losses) caused by or incurred as a result of a *qualifying cause of delay*.

35 Defects liability

The defects liability period stated in Item 36 shall commence on the date of practical completion at 4:00 pm.

If the date of expiry of the *defects liability period* is the same as the date of expiry of the defects liability period under the *main contract*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall, within 14 days of becoming aware of the date of expiry of the defects liability period under the *main contract*, inform the *Subcontractor* in writing of that date.

The *Subcontractor* shall carry out rectification at times and in a manner causing as little inconvenience to the occupants or users of *the Subcontract Works* as is reasonably possible.

As soon as possible after the *date of practical completion*, the *Subcontractor* shall rectify all *defects* existing at the *date of practical completion*.

During the defects liability period, the Subcontract Superintendent may give the Subcontractor a direction to rectify a defect which:

- (a) shall identify the *defect* and the date for completion of its rectification; and
- (b) may state a date for commencement of the rectification and whether there shall be a separate *defects liability period* therefore (not exceeding 12 months, commencing at 4:00 pm on the date the rectification is completed and governed by this clause).

If the rectification is not commenced or completed by the stated dates, the *Main Contractor* may have the rectification carried out by others but without prejudice to any other rights and remedies the *Main Contractor* may have. The cost thereby incurred shall be certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* as moneys due and payable to the *Main Contractor*.

36 Variations

36.1 Directing variations

The Subcontractor shall not vary WUS except as directed in writing.

The Subcontract Superintendent, before the date of practical completion, may direct the Subcontractor to vary WUS by any one or more of the following which is nevertheless of a character and extent contemplated by, and capable of being carried out under, the provisions of the Subcontract (including being within the warranties in subclause 2.2):

(a) increase, decrease or omit any part;

- (b) change the character or quality;
- (c) change the levels, lines, positions or dimensions;
- (d) carry out additional work;
- (e) demolish or remove material or *work* no longer required by the *Main Contractor*.

No variation directed by the Subcontract Superintendent shall be regarded as repudiation of the Subcontract by the Main Contractor even if the variation requires additional work outside of the general scope of the Subcontract Works or omits any part of the Subcontract Works for the purpose of the omitted work being carried out by the Main Contractor or another party engaged by the Main Contractor.

49

36.2 Variations requested by the Subcontract Superintendent

The Subcontract Superintendent may give the Subcontractor a written notice of proposed variation.

The Subcontractor shall within 5 days (or such further period as agreed with the Subcontract Superintendent) of receiving the notice of proposed variation from the Subcontract Superintendent, respond to the notice of proposed variation by notifying the Subcontract Superintendent in writing whether the proposed variation can be effected, together with, if it can be effected, the Subcontractor's estimate of the:

- (a) description of the nature and extent of the *variation*;
- (b) effect on the construction program (including the date for practical completion); and
- (c) costs (including all warranties and time-related costs, if any) of the proposed *variation* and how the costs have been estimated, including any quotations and supporting documentation and any allowance for the *Subcontractor's* margin or overheads or administration costs.

The *Subcontract Superintendent* may direct the *Subcontractor* to give a detailed quotation for the proposed *variation* supported by measurements or other evidence of cost.

36.3 Variations for convenience of Subcontractor

The Subcontractor may, where the Subcontractor considers that a variation is necessary, give the Subcontract Superintendent a completed written notice of proposed variation which must:

- (a) state that the proposed variation is for the convenience of the Subcontractor; and
- (b) comply with the requirements of subclause 36.2(a), (b) and (c).

If the *Subcontractor* requests the *Subcontract Superintendent* to direct a *variation* for the convenience of the *Subcontractor*, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may do so. Unless the *direction* provides otherwise, the *Subcontractor* shall be entitled to neither extra time nor extra money.

36.4 Pricing

The *Subcontract Superintendent* shall, as soon as possible, assess the price of each *variation* using the following order of precedence:

- (a) Prior written agreement;
- (b) applicable rates or prices in the Subcontract;
- (c) rates or prices in a priced *bill of quantities*, *schedule of rates* or schedule of prices, even though not *Subcontract* documents, to the extent that it is reasonable to use them; and
- (d) reasonable rates or prices, which shall include the margin profit and overheads in *Item* 36A,

and any deductions shall include the margin profit but not overheads in *Item 36A*.

That price shall be added to or deducted from the *subcontract sum*.

The *Subcontractor* acknowledges that if it does not comply strictly with the requirements of clause 36, the *Subcontract Superintendent* shall not be required to assess or approve the *variation*.

36.5 Notification of variations

Despite any other provision of the Subcontract:

- (a) if the Main Contractor gives the Subcontractor a direction which, in the opinion of the Subcontractor, involves a variation, other than a direction which the Subcontract Superintendent expressly acknowledges in writing involves a variation, the Subcontractor shall notify the Subcontract Superintendent:
 - (i) that in the opinion of the Subcontractor the direction involves a variation, and
 - (ii) of the *Subcontractor's* estimate of the additional *work* necessary to give effect to the *variation* (including any likely delay and cost),

before the *Subcontractor* gives effect to the *direction*, but not later than 5 *business days* after receipt by the *Subcontractor* of the *direction*.

(b) if the *Subcontractor* fails to notify the *Subcontract Superintendent* in accordance with this subclause 36.5, the *Subcontractor* shall not be entitled to any *claim* (including for any payment or an *EOT*) in connection with the *Subcontract Superintendent's direction*.

37 Payment

37.1 Progress claims

The Subcontractor shall submit the Claim Documentation and claim payment progressively in accordance with Item 37 while WUS is being carried out prior to practical completion, at practical completion and at the final payment claim under subclause 37.4.

The date prescribed in this subclause 37.1 as the time for a *progress claim* is the 'reference date' for the purposes of the *Payments Act*.

The parties agree that a reference date shall only arise when the *Subcontractor* submits with the *progress claim*, the *Claim Documentation*.

Each *progress claim* shall be given in writing by way of email to the email address in *Item* 10A, addressed to the attention of the *Subcontract Superintendent* and shall include:

- (a) details of the value of WUS done; and
- (b) a declaration in the form contained in Annexure Part I executed by a person authorised to so on behalf of the *Subcontractor*.

The Subcontract Superintendent in receiving a progress claim does so as agent of the Main Contractor for the purposes of the Payments Act.

37.2 Certificates

The Subcontract Superintendent shall, within 15 business days after receiving such a progress claim, issue to the Main Contractor and the Subcontractor a progress certificate which:

- (a) identifies the progress claim to which it relates;
- (b) states the amount of the payment, if any, that the *Main Contractor* proposes to make (*certified amount*);

(c) if the *certified amount* is less than the claimed amount, state why the *certified amount* is less, and if it less because the *Main Contractor* is withholding payment for any reason, the *Main Contractor*'s reason for withholding payment; and

51

(d) states the amount of retention moneys and moneys due from the *Subcontractor* to the *Main Contractor* pursuant to the *Subcontract*.

If the *Subcontractor* does not make a progress claim in accordance with *Item* 37, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may issue the *progress certificate* with details of the calculations and shall issue the certificate dealing with the matters in paragraph (d).

The Subcontract Superintendent in issuing a progress certificate does so as agent of the Main Contractor for the purposes of the Payments Act. The parties agree that any progress certificate issued by the Subcontract Superintendent under this clause 37.2 is a payment schedule for the purposes of the Payments Act.

Failure by the *Subcontract Superintendent* to set out in a *progress certificate* an amount which the *Main Contractor* is entitled to retain, deduct, withhold or set off from the amount which would otherwise be payable to the *Subcontractor* by the *Main Contractor*, will not prejudice the *Main Contractor's* right to subsequently exercise its rights to retain, deduct, withhold or set off any amount under the *Subcontract*.

The Main Contractor shall within 25 business days after the Subcontract Superintendent receives the progress claim, pay to the Subcontractor the balance of the progress certificate after deducting retention moneys and setting off such moneys or amounts as the Main Contractor elects to set off. If that setting off produces a negative balance, that negative balance shall become a debt due and payable by the Subcontractor to the Main Contractor.

Neither a *progress certificate* nor a payment of moneys shall be evidence that the subject *WUS* has been carried out satisfactorily nor shall they prejudice any *claim* by or defence by the *Main Contractor*. Payment other than *final payment* shall be payment on account only.

At any time and from time to time, the *Subcontract Superintendent* may by a further *progress certificate* correct any error which has been discovered in any previous *payment schedule*.

37.3 Unfixed plant and materials

The *Main Contractor* shall not be liable to pay for unfixed plant and materials unless they are listed in *Item* 38 and the *Subcontractor*:

- (a) provides the additional security in Item 19(e); and
- (b) satisfies the *Subcontract Superintendent* that the subject plant and materials have been paid for, properly stored and protected, and labelled the property of the *Main Contractor*.

Upon payment to the *Subcontractor* and the release of any additional *security* in paragraph (a), the subject plant and materials shall be the unencumbered property of the *Main Contractor*.

37.4 Final payment claim and certificate

Within 5 business days after the expiry of the last defects liability period, the Subcontractor shall give the Subcontract Superintendent a written final payment claim endorsed 'Final Payment Claim' being a progress claim together with all other claims whatsoever in connection with the subject matter of the Subcontract.

The Subcontractor releases the Main Contractor from, and shall indemnify the Main Contractor against and compensate the Main Contractor for any claim not included in the final payment claim.

Within 49 days after the expiry of the last defects liability period or within 10 business days of receipt of the final payment claim, whichever is the earlier, the Subcontract Superintendent shall issue to both the Subcontractor and the Main Contractor:

- (a) a *final certificate* evidencing the moneys finally due and payable between the *Subcontractor* and the *Main Contractor* on any account whatsoever in connection with the subject matter of the *Subcontract; and*
- (b) a completed copy of the *Deed of Release Final* for the *Subcontractor's* execution.

The execution and delivery to the *Subcontract Superintendent* and the *Main Contractor* of the *Deed of Release - Final* by the *Subcontractor* shall be a precondition to payment of the *final payment claim* by the *Main Contractor*.

Those moneys certified as due and payable shall, provided that the *Subcontractor* has executed and delivered the *Deed of Release - Final*, be paid by the *Main Contractor* or the *Subcontractor* within the earlier of 25 *business days* after the *Subcontract Superintendent* receives the *final payment claim*, or within 25 *business days* after the *Main Contractor* receives the *final certificate*.

The *final certificate* shall be conclusive evidence of accord and satisfaction, and in discharge of each party's obligations in connection with the subject matter of the *Subcontract* except for:

- (a) fraud or dishonesty relating to WUS or any part thereof or to any matter dealt with in the *final certificate*;
- (b) any defect or omission in the Subcontract Works or any part thereof which was not apparent at the end of the last defects liability period; and
- (c) any accidental or erroneous inclusion or exclusion of any *work* or figures in any computation or an arithmetical error in any computation.

37.5 Interest

Interest in *Item* 39 shall be due and payable after the date of default in payment.

37.6 Other moneys due

The *Main Contractor* may elect that moneys due and owing or moneys claimed to be owing otherwise than in connection with the subject matter of the *Subcontract* also be due to the *Main Contractor* pursuant to the *Subcontract*.

37.7 Set off

Without limiting any other rights of the *Main Contractor*, in relation to any loss, cost, damage or other amount (liquidated or otherwise) which:

- (a) the Subcontractor is liable to pay to the Main Contractor under the Subcontract; or
- (b) the *Main Contract* claims it has suffered or is likely to suffer as a result of an act or omission by the *Subcontractor* arising out of or in connection with the *Subcontract* or any other agreement (whether in relation to the *Subcontract Works*, *WUS* or otherwise),

the *Main Contractor* may at any time after giving written notice to the *Subcontractor*:

(c) deduct from or set off such losses, costs, damages or other amount against any amounts due to the *Subcontractor* under the *Subcontract* or otherwise at law in respect of *the Subcontract Works* or under any other agreement (whether in relation to this *Project* or otherwise);

AS 4903—2000 53

(d) have recourse to any security provided by the *Subcontractor* under the *Subcontract* or provided by the *Subcontractor* under any other agreement (whether in relation to this *Project* or otherwise).

The provisions of this subclause 37.7 survive the termination or expiration of the *Subcontract*.

37A Project Bank Accounts

37A.1 Application of clause

This clause applies if a project bank account is required for this *Subcontract* by operation of the *BIF Act*.

Terms defined by the *BIF Act* as relevant to the operation of Chapter 2 of the *BIF Act* and used (without separate definition) in this clause 24A, shall have the meaning given to them by the *BIF Act*.

Item 37B states whether a project bank account is to be established for this *Subcontract*, provided the other matters that determine when a project bank account is required under the *BIF Act* are satisfied.

If *Item* 37B states that a project bank account is to be established for the *Subcontract*, the *Subcontractor* warrants that:

- (a) it is not a Related Entity of the Main Contractor; and
- (b) it has provided the Subcontractor's Information to the Main Contractor.

37A.2 Definitions

In this clause 37A.2:

Business Day has the meaning given in the BIF Act;

Related Entity has the meaning given in the BIF Act;

Subcontractor's Information means the following details:

- (a) the Subcontractor's registered business name and/or trading name;
- (b) the name of the Subcontractor's financial institution;
- (c) the Subcontractor's Bank/State/Branch (BSB) number and account number; and
- (d) any other information the *Main Contractor* requires to comply with the *BIF Act*.

37A.3 Subcontractor's warranties

The Subcontractor acknowledges that:

- (a) within 5 Business Days of entering this Subcontract, the Main Contractor must provide the Principal with the Subcontractor's Information; and
- (b) within 5 Business Days of becoming aware of any change to the Subcontractor's Information the Main Contractor must notify the Principal in writing of any such changes.

The Subcontractor warrants the accuracy of the Subcontractor's Information and shall immediately notify the Main Contractor in writing upon becoming aware of any discrepancy or change in the Subcontractor's Information.

37A.4 Payment Instruction

The Subcontractor agrees that upon receipt of a payment instruction by the Main Contractor, the Subcontractor shall have 2 Business Days to review the payment instruction and notify the Main Contractor in writing of any errors or omissions in the payment instruction.

If the *Subcontractor* does not give the *Main Contractor* written notice in accordance with this subclause 37A.4 the accuracy of the payment instruction will be deemed to have been accepted by the *Subcontractor*.

37A.5 General Obligations

The *Subcontractor* must ensure that it does not do anything or fail to do anything that would cause the *Main Contractor* to be in breach of the *main contract* or the *BIF Act*.

The *Subcontractor* indemnifies the *Main Contractor* against any cost, expense, loss, damage or other liability suffered or incurred by the *Main Contractor* arising out of or in connection with any breach by the *Subcontractor* of this clause 37A.

38 Payment of workers, Subcontractor's consultants and secondary subcontractors

38.1 Workers, Subcontractor's consultants and secondary subcontractors

The *Subcontractor* shall give in respect of a progress claim and as a precondition to payment, documentary evidence (annexed to the declaration in Annexure Part I) of the payment of moneys due and payable to:

- (a) workers of the Subcontractor and of the secondary subcontractors;
- (b) Subcontractor's consultants; and
- (c) secondary subcontractors,

in respect of WUS the subject of that claim.

If the *Subcontractor* is unable to give such documentary evidence, the *Subcontractor* shall give other documentary evidence of the moneys so due and payable to workers, *Subcontractor's consultants* and *secondary subcontractors*.

Documentary evidence, except where the *Subcontract* otherwise provides, shall be to the *Subcontract Superintendent's* satisfaction.

38.2 Withholding payment

Subject to the next paragraph, and without limiting the *Main Contractor's* rights under the *Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* may withhold moneys certified due and payable in respect of the *progress claim* until the *Subcontractor* complies with subclause 38.1.

The *Main Contractor* shall not withhold payment of such moneys in excess of the moneys evidenced pursuant to subclause 38.1 as due and payable to workers, *Subcontractor's consultants* and *secondary subcontractors*.

38.3 Direct payment

Before *final payment*, the *Main Contractor*, if not aware of a relevant relation-back day (as defined in the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth)) may pay unpaid moneys the subject of subclause 38.1 directly to a worker, *Subcontractor's consultant* or a *secondary subcontractor* where:

- (a) permitted by law;
- (b) given a court order in favour of the worker, Subcontractor's consultant or secondary subcontractor; or
- (c) requested in writing by the *Subcontractor*.

AS 4903—2000 55

Such payment and a payment made to a worker, *Subcontractor's consultant* or *secondary subcontractor* in compliance with a *legislative requirement* shall be deemed to be part-satisfaction of the *Main Contractor's* obligation to pay pursuant to subclause 37.2 or 37.4, as the case may be.

39 Default or insolvency

39.1 Preservation of other rights

If a party breaches (including repudiates) the *Subcontract*, nothing in this clause shall prejudice the right of the other party to recover damages or exercise any other right or remedy.

39.2 Subcontractor's default

If the *Subcontractor* commits a substantial breach of the *Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* may give the *Subcontractor* a written notice to show cause.

Substantial breaches include, but are not limited to:

- (a) failing to:
 - (i) perform properly the Subcontractor's design obligations;
 - (ii) provide security;
 - (iii) provide evidence of insurance;
 - (iv) comply with a *direction* of the *Subcontract Superintendent* pursuant to subclause 29.3; or
 - (v) use the materials or standards of work required by the Subcontract;
- (b) wrongful suspension of work;
- (c) substantial departure from a *construction program* without reasonable cause or the *Subcontract Superintendent's* approval;
- (d) where there is no *construction program*, failing to proceed with due expedition and without delay; and
- (e) in respect of clause 38, knowingly providing documentary evidence containing an untrue statement:

39.3 Main Contractor's notice to show cause

A notice under subclause 39.2 shall state:

- (a) that it is a notice under clause 39 of these Subcontract Conditions;
- (b) the alleged substantial breach;
- (c) that the *Subcontractor* is required to show cause in writing why the *Main Contractor* should not exercise a right referred to in subclause 39.4;
- (d) the date and time by which the *Subcontractor* must show cause (which shall not be less than 7 *business days* after the notice is received by the *Subcontractor*); and
- (e) the place at which cause must be shown.

39.4 Main Contractor's rights

If the *Subcontractor* fails to show reasonable cause by the stated date and time, the *Main Contractor* may by written notice to the *Subcontractor*:

(a) take out of the *Subcontractor's* hands the whole or part of the *work* remaining to be completed and suspend payment until it becomes due and payable pursuant to subclause 39.6; or

56

(b) terminate the Subcontract.

39.5 Take out

The Main Contractor shall complete work taken out of the Subcontractor's hands and may:

- (a) use materials, equipment and other things intended for WUS; and
- (b) without payment of compensation to the *Subcontractor*:
 - (i) take possession of, and use, such of the *construction plant* and other things on or in the vicinity of the *site* as were used by the *Subcontractor*;
 - (ii) contract with such of the Subcontractor's consultants and secondary subcontractors; and
 - (iii) take possession of, and use, such of the design documents,

as are reasonably required by the Main Contractor to facilitate completion of WUS taken out.

If the *Main Contractor* takes possession of *construction plant*, *design documents* or other things, the *Main Contractor* shall maintain them and, subject to subclause 39.6, on completion of the *work* taken out, shall return such of them as are surplus.

The *Subcontract Superintendent* shall keep records of the cost of completing the *work* taken out.

39.6 Adjustment on completion of work taken out

When work taken out of the Subcontractor's hands has been completed, the Subcontract Superintendent shall assess the cost thereby incurred and shall certify as moneys due and payable accordingly the difference between that cost (showing the calculations therefore) and the amount which would otherwise have been paid to the Subcontractor if the work had been completed by the Subcontractor.

If the *Subcontractor* is indebted to the *Main Contractor*, the *Main Contractor* may retain construction plant or other things taken under subclause 39.5 until the debt is satisfied. If after reasonable notice, the *Subcontractor* fails to pay the debt, the *Main Contractor* may sell the construction plant or other things and apply the proceeds to the satisfaction of the debt and the costs of sale. Any excess shall be paid to the *Subcontractor*.

39.7 Main Contractor's default

If the *Main Contractor* commits a substantial breach of the *Subcontract*, the *Subcontractor* may, by hand or by registered post, give the *Main Contractor* a written notice to show cause.

Substantial breaches include, but are not limited to:

- (a) failing to:
 - (i) provide security;
 - (ii) produce evidence of insurance;
 - (iii) rectify inadequate *Subcontractor's* access to the *site* if that failure continues for longer than the time stated in *Item* 40(a);
 - (iv) rectify inadequate *Subcontractor's* non-exclusive possession of the *site* if that failure continues for longer than the time stated in *Item* 40(b); or
 - (v) make a payment due and payable pursuant to the Subcontract; and

(b) the Subcontract Superintendent not giving a certificate of practical completion or reasons as referred to in subclause 34.6.

57

39.8 Subcontractor's notice to show cause

A notice given under subclause 39.7 shall state:

- (a) that it is a notice under clause 39 of these Subcontract Conditions;
- (b) the alleged substantial breach;
- (c) that the *Main Contractor* is required to show cause in writing why the *Subcontractor* should not exercise a right referred to in subclause 39.9;
- (d) the date and time by which the *Main Contractor* must show cause (which shall not be less than 7 clear days after the notice is received by the *Main Contractor*); and
- (e) the place at which cause must be shown.

39.9 Subcontractor's rights

If the *Main Contractor* fails to show reasonable cause by the stated date and time, the *Subcontractor* may, by written notice to the *Main Contractor*, suspend the whole or any part of *WUS*.

The Subcontractor shall remove the suspension if the Main Contractor remedies the breach.

The *Subcontractor* may, by written notice to the *Main Contractor*, terminate the *Subcontract* if, within 28 days of the date of suspension under this subclause the *Main Contractor* fails:

- (a) to remedy the breach; or
- (b) if the breach is not capable of remedy, to make other arrangements to the reasonable satisfaction of the *Subcontractor*.

Damages suffered by the *Subcontractor* by reason of the suspension shall be assessed by the *Subcontract Superintendent* within 10 *business days* of receipt of a *claim* from the *Subcontractor*, who shall certify them as moneys due and payable to the *Subcontractor*.

39.10 Termination

If the *Subcontract* is terminated pursuant to subclause 39.4(b) or 39.9, the parties' remedies, rights and liabilities shall be the same as they would have been under the law governing the *Subcontract* had the defaulting party repudiated the *Subcontract* and the other party elected to treat the *Subcontract* as at an end and recover damages.

If the *Main Contractor* has terminated the *Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* may also, without payment of compensation, take possession of the *design documents*.

39.11 Insolvency

If:

- (a) a party informs the other in writing, or creditors generally, that the party is insolvent or is financially unable to proceed with the *Subcontract*;
- (b) execution is levied against a party by a creditor;
- (c) a party is an individual person or a partnership including an individual person, and if that person:
 - (i) commits an act of bankruptcy;
 - (ii) has a bankruptcy petition presented against him or her or presents his or her own petition;

- (iii) is made bankrupt;
- (iv) makes a proposal for a scheme of arrangement or a composition; or
- (v) has a deed of assignment or deed of arrangement made, accepts a composition, is required to present a debtor's petition, or has a sequestration order made, under Part X of the *Bankruptcy Act 1966* (Cth) or like provision under the law governing the *Subcontract*; or
- (d) in relation to a party being a corporation:
 - (i) notice is given of a meeting of creditors with a view to the corporation entering a deed of company arrangement;
 - (ii) it enters a deed of company arrangement with creditors;
 - (iii) a controller or administrator is appointed;
 - (iv) an application is made to a court for its winding up and not stayed within 14 days;
 - (v) a winding up order is made in respect of it;
 - (vi) it resolves by special resolution that it be wound up voluntarily (other than for a member's voluntary winding up); or
 - (vii) a mortgagee of any of its property takes possession of that property,

then, where the other party is:

- (A) the *Main Contractor*, the *Main Contractor* may, without giving a notice to show cause, exercise any right under subclause 39.4; or
- (B) the *Subcontractor*, the *Subcontractor* may, without giving a notice to show cause, exercise the right under subclause 39.9.

The rights and remedies given by this subclause are additional to any other rights and remedies. They may be exercised notwithstanding that there has been no breach of contract.

40 Termination by frustration

If the *Subcontract* is frustrated:

- (a) The Subcontract Superintendent shall issue a progress certificate for WUS carried out to the date of frustration, evidencing the amount which would have been payable had the Subcontract not been frustrated and had the Subcontractor been entitled to and made a progress claim on the date of frustration;
- (b) the *Main Contractor* shall pay the *Subcontractor*:
 - (i) the amount due to the Subcontractor evidenced by all unpaid certificates;
 - (ii) the cost of materials and equipment reasonably ordered by the *Subcontractor* for *WUS* and which the *Subcontractor* is liable to accept, but only if they will become the *Main Contractor*'s property upon payment; and
 - (iii) the costs reasonably incurred:
 - (A) removing temporary works and construction plant;
 - (B) returning to their place of engagement the *Subcontractor* and its employees engaged in *WUS* at the date of frustration; and
 - (C) by the *Subcontractor* in expectation of completing *WUS* and not included in any other payment; and
- (c) each party shall promptly release and return all *security* provided by the other.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the *Subcontract* is frustrated, the *Subcontractor's* entitlement is limited to the amount payable as determined under this clause 40 which shall not exceed the *subcontract sum*.

40A Main contract ended

If the *main contract* is ended for any reason the *Main Contractor* may terminate the *Subcontract* on the giving of written notice of termination.

If the *Subcontract* is terminated under this clause the *Main Contractor* shall pay to the *Subcontractor*:

- (a) the amount due to the Subcontractor shown in any unpaid progress certificates;
- (b) the amount certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* for *WUS* carried out to the date of the termination, evidencing the amount which would have been payable had the *Subcontract* not been terminated and had the *Subcontractor* been entitled to and made a progress claim on the date of termination; and
- (c) the cost of materials reasonably ordered by the *Subcontractor* for *WUS*, which the Subcontractor cannot return or for which the order cannot be cancelled, but only if the materials become the property of the *Main Contractor* upon payment.

The *Subcontractor* is not entitled to any other *claim*, including any claim for loss of profits, costs, losses, damages or expenses suffered or incurred, other than those amounts payable under this clause 40A.

40B Termination for convenience

The *Main Contractor* may terminate the *Subcontract* for any reason by giving the *Subcontractor* written notice, after which the *Subcontract* is ended and the *Main Contractor* shall pay to the *Subcontractor*:

- (a) the amount due to the Subcontractor evidenced by all unpaid certificates;
- (b) the cost of materials and equipment reasonably ordered by the *Subcontractor* for *WUS* and which the *Subcontractor* is liable to accept, but only if they will become the *Main Contractor*'s property upon payment; and
- (c) the costs reasonably incurred:
 - (i) removing temporary works and construction plant;
 - (ii) returning to their place of engagement the *Subcontractor* and its employees engaged in *WUS* at the date of frustration; and
 - (iii) by the *Subcontractor* in expectation of completing *WUS* and not included in any other payment.

The *Subcontractor* is not entitled to any other *claim*, including any *claim* for loss of profits, costs, losses, damages or expenses suffered or incurred, other than those amounts payable under this clause 40B.

The Subcontractor shall:

- (d) on the day of termination cease carrying out WUS;
- (e) if directed by the *Main Contractor* to do so:
 - (i) assign or novate in favour of the *Main Contractor* any sub-subcontracts (including without limitation for the provision of any materials) or rights under any sub-subcontracts entered into or obtained by the *Subcontractor* in connection with *WUS* or *the Subcontract Works*; and

(ii) terminate any other sub-subcontracts and recover from the *secondary* subcontractor any property, documentation, material or information of the *Main* Contractor or the Subcontract Superintendent,

60

in each case, with effect on and from the date of termination;

- (f) on or before the date of termination, deliver to the Main Contractor all documents, calculations, notes, data sheets, computer data, specifications, drawings, plans, sketches, procedures and the like prepared and issued by the *Subcontractor* and its subsubcontractors or *consultants* in accordance with the *Subcontract* and which are necessary for the proper and complete performance of *WUS*;
- (g) on or before the date of termination deliver to the Main Contractor all property, documentation or information of the *Main Contractor* or the *Subcontract Superintendent* provided to the *Subcontractor* in connection with *WUS* or *the Subcontract Works*; and
- (h) on or before the date of termination, deliver to the *Main Contractor* any of the materials or *WUS* which under the *Subcontract* has become the property of the *Main Contractor*.

This clause 40B survives termination or expiration of this Subcontract.

41 Notification of claims

41.1 Communication of claims

Notwithstanding any other provision of the *Subcontract*, the *Main Contractor* will not be liable upon any *claim* (other than a *progress claim* under clause 37) by the *Subcontractor* in respect of any matter arising out of or in connection with the *Subcontract*, the subject matter of the *Subcontract* or otherwise, including but not limited to, any *claim* for any form of loss or damages unless:

- (a) a notice of claim, together with full particulars thereof is lodged in writing with the *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontract Superintendent* not later than the time specified in this *Subcontract*, or if no time is stated, 10 *business days* after the date the *Subcontractor* becomes aware or should have become aware of the occurrence of the events or circumstances on which the *claim* is based; and
- (b) the notice outlines the legal basis of the *claim* and full details of the likely quantum.

41.2 Liability for failure to communicate

If the Subcontractor does not give the Main Contractor and the Subcontract Superintendent the notice in accordance with subclause 41.1, the Subcontractor shall not be entitled to the claim and the Main Contractor shall be released for all time from the claim.

The provision of a notice in accordance with subclause 41.1 is a precondition to any such *claim* for payment.

41.3 Subcontract Superintendent's decision

Within 10 business days of receipt of notice of claim under subclause 41.1, the Subcontract Superintendent shall assess the notice of claim under subclause 41.1 and notify the parties in writing of the decision. Unless a party within a further 21 days of such notification gives a notice of dispute under subclause 42.1 which includes such decision, the Subcontract Superintendent shall certify the amount of that assessment to be moneys then due and payable.

42 Dispute resolution

42.1 Notice of dispute

If a difference or dispute (together called a 'dispute') between the parties arises in connection with the subject matter of the Subcontract, including a dispute concerning:

- (a) a Subcontract Superintendent's direction; or
- (b) a claim:
 - (i) in tort;
 - (ii) under statute;
 - (iii) for restitution based on unjust enrichment or other quantum meruit; or
 - (iv) for rectification or frustration,

or like claim available under the law governing the Subcontract,

then either party shall, by hand or by registered post, give the other and the *Subcontract Superintendent* a written notice of *dispute* adequately identifying and providing details of the *dispute*.

Notwithstanding the existence of a *dispute*, the parties shall, subject to clauses 39 and 40 and subclause 42.6, continue to perform the *Subcontract*.

42.2 Conference

Within 14 days after receiving a notice of *dispute*, the parties shall confer at least once to resolve the *dispute*. At every such conference each party shall be represented by a person having authority to agree to such resolution or methods. All aspects of every such conference except the fact of occurrence shall be privileged.

If the *dispute* has not been resolved within 28 days of service of the notice of *dispute*, that *dispute* shall be resolved pursuant to subclause **Error! Reference source not found.**.

42.3 Expert Determination or litigation

If this subclause **Error! Reference source not found.** applies and a *dispute* remains u nresolved, the *dispute* will be resolved by expert determination or litigation, as determined by the *Main Contractor* in its absolute discretion.

The *Main Contractor* shall give written notice to the *Subcontractor* as to whether the *dispute* is to be resolved by expert determination or litigation within 40 *business days* of the date of service of the notice of *dispute*.

If the *Main Contractor* determines that the *dispute* is to be resolved by expert determination, the *dispute* will thereby be referred to expert determination in accordance with the provisions of subclause **Error! Reference source not found.**.

42.4 Expert Determination

- (a) If the parties cannot agree on an expert within 10 business days, the expert will be appointed by an authorised officer of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (Queensland).
- (b) In making a determination, the expert shall:
 - (i) give due weight to any written submissions or representations made by a disputing party within any reasonable time limit prescribed by the expert;
 - (ii) give written reasons for his decisions;

- (iii) act as an expert and not as an arbitrator;
- (iv) in the absence of any manifest error, the decision of the expert on *disputes* up to a maximum value of \$100,000 will be final and binding upon the parties and not subject to review; and
- (v) for *disputes* in excess of \$100,000 and in the absence of any manifest error, the decision of the expert will be final and binding on the parties and not subject to review, if neither of the parties has taken any steps to enforce a right or remedy by instituting proceedings relating to the *dispute* within 28 days of the written decision of the expert.
- (c) The expert determination shall be conducted in accordance with the rules in *Item* 41A.
- (d) The cost and expense of the conference and expert determination will be borne equally by the parties.

42.5 Main contract expert

If a notice is given under subclause **Error! Reference source not found.**, the subject matter of which touches or concerns any *main contract dispute*, then the expert to be appointed pursuant to subclause **Error! Reference source not found.** shall be the *main contract expert* unless:

- (a) no *main contract expert* is nominated within 42 days of giving the notice under subclause **Error! Reference source not found.**; or
- (b) the main contract expert is unable or unwilling so to act,

in which case the *main contract expert* shall be nominated under subclause **Error! Reference s** ource not found.

42.6 Main contract dispute affecting the Subcontract

When the *Main Contractor* becomes aware of a *main contract dispute* which touches or concerns *work*, material or the performance of *WUS*, the *Main Contractor* shall give the *Subcontractor*:

- (a) a notice setting out adequate details of the main contract dispute; and
- (b) a copy of the *main contract* provisions relating to notification of claims and resolution of disputes.

If the *Main Contractor* has complied with this subclause, the *Main Contractor* may give written notice to the *Subcontractor* requiring any *dispute* which affects the *main contract dispute* to be resolved as part of the *main contract dispute*.

42.7 Summary relief

Nothing herein shall prejudice the right of a party to institute proceedings to enforce payment due under the *Subcontract* or to seek injunctive or urgent declaratory relief.

43 Waiver of conditions

Except as provided at law or in equity or elsewhere in the *Subcontract*, none of the provisions of the *Subcontract* shall be varied, waived, discharged or released, except with the prior written consent of the parties.

AS 4903—2000 63

44 Services and facilities

44.1 Provision of services and facilities

The *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor* shall provide, in good order and working condition, the services and facilities stated in *Item* 42 as being provided by that party.

Except as provided in this clause or elsewhere in the *Subcontract*, the *Subcontractor* shall provide all other services and facilities necessary for the execution and completion of *WUS*.

The *Subcontractor* shall use services or facilities provided by the *Main Contractor* only for the carrying out of *WUS*.

44.2 Compliance

All services and facilities provided by the *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor* shall comply with all *legislative requirements* applicable from time to time to *WUS*.

44.3 Additional services or facilities

If pursuant to a request of the *Subcontractor*, the *Main Contractor* agrees to provide services or facilities additional to those provided by the *Main Contractor* in *Item* 42, the *Subcontractor* shall pay a reasonable charge (which shall not be less than the cost to the *Main Contractor*) for the provision of such additional services or facilities. The rates of hire and the conditions relating to their provision shall be agreed in writing prior to the provision of such additional services or facilities.

45 GST

45.1 Consideration is GST-exclusive

Unless otherwise specified, all amounts payable under this *Subcontract* are exclusive of *GST* and shall be calculated without regard to *GST*.

45.2 RCTIs

- (a) The *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor*:
 - (i) agree that, during the term of this *Subcontract*, every tax invoice relating to a taxable supply(s) is to be issued by the *Main Contractor* as an *RCTI*; and
 - (ii) shall, within 7 days of the date of the *Subcontract*, enter into the agreement authorising the *Main Contractor* to issue *RCTIs* in the form contained in Annexure Part M.
- (b) If the parties do not enter into an agreement authorising the *Main Contractor* to issue *RCTIs*, the *Subcontractor* shall submit to the *Main Contractor* a compliant tax invoice with each claim for payment to enable the *Main Contractor* to claim, where applicable, input tax credits. If the *Subcontractor* fails to submit a compliant tax invoice, the invoice will not be processed.

45.3 Interpretation

In this clause 45 terms that are not defined have the same meaning given to them under the *GST Act*.

46 PPSA

46.1 The Main Contractors Personal Property

For the purposes of this clause:

(a) "the Main Contractors Personal Property" means all personal property the subject of a security interest granted in favour of the Main Contractor under this Subcontract; and

64

(b) words and phrases used in this clause that have defined meanings in the *PPSA* have the same meaning as in the *PPSA* unless the context otherwise indicates.

46.2 Further assurance

If the *Main Contractor* determines that this *Subcontract* (or a transaction in connection with it) is or contains a *security interest*, the *Subcontractor* agrees to do anything (including obtaining consents, signing and producing documents, getting documents completed and signed and supplying information) which the *Main Contractor* asks and considers necessary for the purposes of:

- (a) ensuring that the *security interest* is enforceable, perfected and otherwise effective; and/or
- (b) enabling the *Main Contractor* to apply for any registration, complete any financing statement or give any notification, in connection with the *security interest*; and/or
- (c) enabling the *Main Contractor* to exercise rights in connection with the *security interest*,

46.3 Registration

The *Main Contractor* need not give any notice under the *PPSA* (including notice of a verification statement) unless the notice is required by the *PPSA* to be given.

The Subcontractor shall give to the Main Contractor notice of registration or verification of registration of any security interest it registers on the PPSA register in connection with WUS.

For the avoidance of doubt, any *security interest* in favour of the *Subcontractor* ceases on the issue of the *certificate of practical completion*.

The *Subcontractor* shall cause to be removed all data from the *PPSA register* it has registered or caused to be registered in connection with *WUS* prior to achieving *practical completion*.

The Subcontractor indemnifies the Main Contractor against and shall compensate the Main Contractor for all loss, cost, damage or expense that the Main Contractor suffers or incurs in connection with the registration of a security interest in connection with WUS or the failure to remove the registered data relating to a security interest from the PPSA register.

46.4 Notices to be given to the Main Contractor

The *Subcontractor* shall notify the *Main Contractor* as soon as the *Subcontractor* becomes aware of any of the following:

- (a) if any personal property which does not form part of the *Main Contractor's Personal Property* becomes an accession to the *Main Contractor's Personal Property* and is subject to a *security interest* in favour of a third party, that has attached at the time it becomes an accession;
- (b) if any of the Main Contractor's Personal Property is located or situated outside Australia; or
- (c) upon request by the *Main Contractor*, of the present location of the *Main Contractor's Personal Property*.

47 Building Code 2016

47.1 Definitions

For the purpose of this clause:

ABCC means the body referred to in subsection 29(2) of the Act;

ABC Commissioner means the Australian Building and Construction Commissioner referred to in subsection 15(1) of the *Act*;

Act means the Building and Construction Industry (Improving Productivity) Act 2016;

Building Code means the Code for the Tendering and Performance of Building Work 2016, which is available at https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/F2016L01859;

Building Contractor has the same meaning as in the Act;

Building Industry Participant has the same meaning as in the Act;

Building Work has the same meaning as in subsection 3(4) of the Building Code;

Commonwealth Funded Building Work means Building Work in items 1-8 of Schedule 1 of the Building Code;

Enterprise Agreement has the same meaning as in the Fair Work Act 2009;

Exclusion Sanction has the same meaning as in subsection 3(3) of the Building Code;

Letter of Compliance means a letter of compliance issued by the ABCC certifying that an Enterprise Agreement is compliant with the Building Code;

Related Entity has the same meaning as in subsection 3(2) of the Building Code; and

Sub-subcontractor means a secondary subcontractor, a Building Contractor or Building Industry Participant who the Subcontractor has entered, or proposes to enter, into a subsubcontract with to undertake any of the Subcontract Works.

47.2 Application

This clause 49.2 applies where the *main contract* includes *Commonwealth Funded Building Work* or where required by the *Main Contractor*.

47.3 Building Code 2016

- (a) The Subcontractor:
 - (i) declares as at the date of commencement of this *Subcontract* in relation to *the Subcontract Works*; and
 - (ii) must ensure that during the term of this *Subcontract* in relation to *the Subcontract Works*,
- (b) that it and its Sub-subcontractors:
 - (i) comply with the Building Code;
 - (ii) are not covered by an *Enterprise Agreement* that does not meet the requirements of section 11 of the *Building Code*;
 - (iii) are not subject to an Exclusion Sanction;
 - (iv) will only use products in relation to *the Subcontract Works* that comply with the relevant Australian standards published by, or on behalf of, Standards Australia;
 - (v) unless approved otherwise by the ABC Commissioner, are not excluded from performing Building Work funded by a state or territory government; and

- (vi) comply with any applicable Workplace Relations Management Plan approved by the *ABCC* in accordance with Part 6 of the *Building Code* that applies to *the Subcontract Works*.
- (c) Without limiting and notwithstanding clause 49.3(a)(ii), the *Subcontractor* will ensure that remedial action is taken to rectify any behaviour on the part of it and its *Subsubcontractors* that is non-compliant with the *Building Code*.
- (d) The *Subcontractor* must every six months during the term of this *Subcontract* advise the *Main Contractor* whether:
 - (i) it has in the preceding 6 months or since it last advised the *Main Contractor*, whichever is the earliest, had an adverse decision, direction or order of a court or tribunal made against it for a breach of a designated building law, work health and safety law or the *Migration Act 1958*; or
 - (ii) it has in the preceding 6 months or since it last advised the *Main Contractor*, whichever is the earliest:
 - (A) been required to pay any amount under an adjudication certificate (provided in accordance with a law relating to the security of payments that are due to persons in respect of building work) to a *Building Contractor* or *Building Industry Participant*; or
 - (B) owed any unsatisfied judgement debts to a Building Contractor or Building Industry Participant.
- (e) Compliance with the *Building Code* does not relieve the *Subcontractor* from responsibility to perform this *Subcontract*, or from liability for any defect in *the Subcontract Works* arising from compliance with the *Building Code*.
- (f) The *Subcontractor* must notify the *ABCC* of any breach or suspected breach of the *Building Code* as soon as practicable but no later than 2 working days after becoming aware of the breach or suspected breach and of the steps proposed to be taken to rectify the breach.
- (g) The Subcontractor acknowledges the powers and functions of the ABC Commissioner and the ABCC under the Act and the Building Code and will ensure that it and its Subsubcontractors comply with any requests made by the ABCC and the ABC Commissioner within those powers and functions, including but not limited to requests for entry under section 72 of the Act, requests to interview any person under section 74 of the Act, requests to produce records or documents under sections 74 and 77 of the of the Act and requests for information concerning matters relating to the Building Code under subsection 7(c) of the Building Code.
- (h) The *Subcontractor* must only enter into a sub-subcontract for any of *the Subcontract Works* where:
 - (i) the *Sub-subcontractor* has submitted a declaration of compliance, including the further information outlined in Attachment A to the declaration of compliance, in substantively the same form as the model declaration of compliance applicable to contractors and subcontractors in relation to the *Building Code*; and
 - (ii) the sub-subcontract with the *Sub-subcontractor* contains clauses in substantively the same form as the model contract clauses applicable to contractors and subcontractors in relation to the *Building Code*.

Despite anything to the contrary, the parties must comply with any determination made by the expert under subclause 42.3 for a dispute about payments to the *Subcontractor*.

48 Queensland Code of Practice for the Building and Construction Industry

This clause 48 applies where the Main Contract Sum is of a value of \$2 million (inclusive of GST) or more.

- 48.1 The Subcontractor must comply with, and meet any obligations imposed by, the Queensland Government's Code of Practice for the Building and Construction Industry ("Queensland Code") and the Queensland Government's Implementation Guidelines to the Queensland Code of Practice for the Building and Construction Industry ("Queensland Guidelines"") in carrying out the work under the Contract. Copies of the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines are available at http://www.justice.qld.gov.au/fair-and-safe-work/industrial-relations/codes-of-practice-and-guidelines/building-and-construction-industry-guidelines.
- 48.2 For the purposes of this clause 48, unless a contrary intention applies, where a word or expression is not otherwise defined by the Subcontract, that word or phrase shall have the same meaning as attributed to it in the Queensland Guidelines.
- 48.3 The Subcontractor must notify the Building Construction Compliance Branch ("BCCB") (or nominee) and the Principal of any alleged breach of the Queensland Code and the Queensland Guidelines and of voluntary remedial action taken to rectify the alleged breach, within 24 hours of becoming aware of the alleged breach.
- 48.4 Where the Subcontractor engages another party in connection with the work under the Contract, the Subcontractor must ensure that any such engagement includes obligations equivalent to those imposed on the Subcontractor pursuant to this clause 48, including that the party must comply with, and meet any obligations imposed by, the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines.
- 48.5 The Subcontractor must not appoint or engage another party in relation to the work under the Contract where that appointment or engagement would be a breach of a sanction imposed on that other party under the Queensland Code or Queensland Guidelines.
- 48.6 The Subcontractor must maintain adequate records of its compliance with the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines and must ensure that its subsubcontractors, consultants and related entities do the same.
- 48.7 Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Contract, the Subcontractor must allow, and must take reasonable steps to ensure, the Queensland Government authorised personnel (including authorised personnel of the BCCB) are able to:
 - (a) enter and have access to sites and premises controlled by the Subcontractor including the Site;
 - (b) inspect any work, material, machinery, appliance, article or facility;
 - (c) inspect and copy any record relevant to the Subcontract and the work under the Subcontract;
 - (d) have access to personnel; and
 - (e) interview any person,

as is necessary for the authorised personnel to monitor and investigate compliance with the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines by the Subcontractor, its sub-subcontractors, consultants and related entities.

48.8 The Subcontractor must, and must take reasonable steps to ensure its related entities, comply with any request from Queensland Government authorised personnel (including authorised personnel of the BCCB) to produce a specified documents by a specified date, whether in person, by post or by electronic means.

48.9 In addition to any other rights of the Main Contractor under the Main Contract, if the Subcontractor is in breach of the Queensland Code or the Queensland Guidelines, a sanction may be imposed. If a sanction is imposed:

68

- (a) it shall be without prejudice to any other rights that would accrue to the parties under this Subcontract; and
- (b) the State of Queensland (through its agencies, Ministers and/or the BCCB) may record and disclose details of the sanction imposed including the Subcontractor's breach of the Queensland Code or the Queensland Guidelines in relation to which the sanction was imposed.
- 48.10 The Subcontractor shall comply with the Queensland Code and the Queensland Guidelines including compliance with the requirements of the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines under this Contract at the Subcontractor's own cost.
- 48.11 The Subcontractor shall have no claim against the Main Contractor in connection with its compliance with the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines including without limitation for costs, losses, expenses, damages, extensions of time or otherwise.
- 48.12 The Subcontractor shall indemnify the Main Contractor against any claim, action, demand, loss, damage, cost or expense which may be brought against, or suffered or incurred by, the Main Contractor as a result of or in connection with the Subcontractor's compliance with the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines including any enforcement of requirements imposed on the Subcontractor under the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines.
- 48.13 Compliance with the Queensland Code and Queensland Guidelines shall not relieve the Subcontractor of any of the Subcontractor's liabilities and obligations under the Subcontract.

49 Compliance with Ethical Supplier Threshold

This clause 49 applies where the *Queensland Procurement Policy 2019* applies or where required by the *Main Contractor*.

49.1 Definitions for clause 49

Ethical Supplier Threshold means the Ethical Supplier Threshold described in paragraph 2.3 of the Queensland Procurement Policy 2019; and

Queensland Procurement Policy 2019 means The State of Queensland (Department of Housing and Public Works) Queensland Procurement Policy 2019, which is available at https://www.hpw.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/3377/qldprocurementpolicy.pdf. as amended from time to time.

49.2 Ethical Supplier Threshold

- (a) The Subcontractor:
 - (i) declares as at the date of commencement of this *Subcontract* in relation to the *Subcontract Works*; and
 - (ii) must ensure that during the terms of this *Subcontract* in relation to the *Subcontract Works*,

that it and its secondary subcontractors:

(iii) comply with, and meet any obligations imposed by, the *Ethical Supplier Threshold*;

AS 4903—2000 69

- (b) without limiting and notwithstanding clause 49.2(c)(i) the *Subcontractor* will ensure that remedial action is taken to rectify any behaviour on the part of it and its *secondary* subcontractors that is non-compliant with the *Ethical Supplier Threshold*.
- (c) the Subcontractor must every six months during the term of this Subcontract:
 - (i) advise the *Main Contractor* whether it has in the preceding six months or since it last advised the *Main Contractor*, whichever is the earliest, contravened the *Ethical Supplier Threshold*; and
 - (ii) provide information to the *Main Contractor* relevant to the evaluation criteria that may be required to be taken into account in assessing whether the *Subcontractor* and its *secondary subcontractors* comply with the *Ethical Supplier Threshold*.
- (d) compliance with the *Ethical Supplier Threshold* does not relieve the *Subcontractor* from responsibility to perform this *Subcontract*, or from liability for any defect in the *Subcontract Works* arising from compliance with the *Ethical Supplier Threshold*.
- (e) the Subcontractor unconditionally indemnifies the Main Contractor against any claim or loss caused by, or resulting from, the Subcontractor's failure to comply with the Ethical Supplier Threshold. For the avoidance of any doubt, the Subcontractor bears the cost of ensuring its compliance with the Ethical Supplier Threshold, including in respect of any positive steps it is obliged to take to meet its obligations under the Ethical Supplier Threshold. The Subcontractor is not entitled to make a claim for reimbursement or any extension of time from the Main Contractor for such costs.
- (f) the *Subcontractor* must notify the *Main Contractor* of any breach or suspected breach of the *Ethical Supplier Threshold* by the *Subcontractor* or its *secondary subcontractors* as soon as practicable but not later than two working days after becoming aware of the breach or suspected breach and of the steps proposed to be taken to rectify the breach.
- (g) The Subcontractor must only enter into a secondary subcontract for any of the Subcontract Works where:
 - (i) the *secondary subcontractor* has submitted a declaration of compliance, in substantially the same form as the declaration of compliance applicable to the *Main Contractor* in relation to the *Ethical Supplier Threshold*; and
 - (ii) the subcontract with the *secondary subcontractor* contains clauses in substantially the same form as this clause 49.

AS 4903—2000 70

ANNEXURE to the Australian Standard General Conditions of Subcontract for Design and Construct

Part A

This Annexure shall be completed and issued as part of the tender documents and, subject to any amendments to be incorporated into the *Subcontract*, is to be attached to the Subcontract Conditions and shall be read as part of the *Subcontract*.

| Item | | |
|------|---------------------------------------|---|
| 1 | Main Contractor (clause 1) | Evans Built Pty Ltd |
| | | ABN 61 120 743 099 |
| 2 | Main Contractor's address | La Balsa, Suite 301, 45 Brisbane Road Mooloolaba Qld 4557 |
| | | PO Box 1755, Buderim, QLD 4556 |
| | | Phone 07 5353 5050 Fax 07 5302 6689 |
| | | Email admin@evansbuilt.com.au |
| 3 | Subcontractor (clause 1) | "SC NAME" |
| | | |
| | | ACN <mark>"ENTER ACN" ABN "ENTER ABN"</mark> |
| 4 | Subcontractor's address | "SC ADDRESS" |
| | | |
| | | Phone "ENTER PHONE" Fax "ENTER FAX" |
| | | Email <mark>"ENTER EMAIL"</mark> |
| 5 | Subcontract Superintendent (clause 1) | Evans Built Pty Ltd |
| | | ABN 61 120 743 099 |
| | | |
| 6 | Subcontract Superintendent's address | La Balsa, Suite 301, 45 Brisbane Road Mooloolaba Qld 4557 |
| | | PO Box 1755, Buderim, QLD 4556 |
| | | Phone 07 5353 5050 Fax 07 5302 6689 |
| | | Email |

| | 7 | Principal (clause 1) | The State of Queensland through the Department of Education and Training (DET) |
|---|-----|---|--|
| | | | |
| | | | ACNABN |
| | | | |
| | 8 | Principal's address | Level 18 – AM 60 |
| | | | 42-60 Albert Street, Brisbane Qld 4000 |
| | | | Phone 131 304 Fax |
| | | | |
| | 9 | Superintendent | Honeywill Consulting – David Honeywill |
| | | (clause 1) | , |
| | | | ACN ABN 59 165 027 805 |
| | | | ACN ABN 59 165 027 805 |
| | | | |
| | 10 | Superintendent's address | Unit 5/1 Fort Lane, Milton Qld 4064 |
| | | | |
| | | | Phone 07 3367 3060 Fax |
| | 10A | The email address for service of any claim under the Subcontract or the Payments Act (clause 7) | accounts@evansbuilt.com.au |
| † | 11 | (a) Date for practical completion (clause 1) | "ENTER PC DATE" |
| | | OR | |
| | | (b) Period of time for <i>practical</i> completion (clause 1) | |
| | 40 | | Outconstant |
| | 12 | Governing law (clause 1(h)) | Queensland |
| | | | |
| | 13 | (a) Currency | Australian Dollars |
| | 10 | (a) Currency (clause 1(g)) | If nothing stated, that of the jurisdiction where the <i>site</i> is located |
| | | (b) Place for payments | |
| | | (clause 1(g)) | If nothing stated, the Main Contractor's address |
| | | (c) Place of business of bank | |
| | | (clause 1(d)) | If nothing stated, the place nearest to where the site is located |
| | | | |

[†] If applicable, delete and instead complete equivalent Item in the separable portions section of the Annexure Part A

| 14 | The Main Contractor's project | 1 Preliminary design (if included in Item 15) |
|-----|---|--|
| | requirements are described in the following documents (clause 1) | 2 Refer to Annexure Part F |
| | | 3 |
| | | 4 |
| | | 5 |
| 15 | Preliminary design (clause 1) | (a) A preliminary design * is included * is not included in the Main Contractor's project requirements. If neither deleted, a preliminary design is not included |
| | | (b) The <i>preliminary design</i> documents are detailed in the <i>Main</i> Contractor's project requirements at Annexure Part F: |
| | | 1 |
| | | 2 |
| | | 3 |
| | | 4 |
| | | 5 |
| | | |
| 16 | Bill of quantities (subclause 2.4) | |
| | (a) Alternative applying (subclause 2.4) | Alternative 2 |
| | (b) If Alternative 2 applies, is the bill of quantities to be priced? (subclause 2.4) | *No / *Yes If neither deleted, the bill of quantities shall be priced |
| | (c) Lodgement time (subclause 2.5(b)) | days after the date of Subcontract If nothing stated, 21 days |
| 17 | Quantities in <i>schedule of rates</i> , limits of accuracy (subclause 2.7(b)) | Upper Limit |
| | | Lower Limit |
| | | |
| 18 | Provisional sum, percentage for profit and attendance (clause 3) | % |
| 18A | Provisional sum items | |
| | (Clause 3) | |
| | | |
| | | |

72

^{*} Delete one

| † | 19 | Subcontractor's security | | |
|---|----|--|---|---------------------------------------|
| | | (a) Form (clause 5) | | |
| | | (b) Amount or maximum percentage of subcontract sum (clause 5) | 5% of the total subcontract sum plus any addit made under the Subcontract | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| | | (c) If retention moneys, percentage of each <i>progress certificate</i> (clause 5 and subclause 37.2) | | |
| | | (d) Time for provision (except for retention moneys) (clause 5) | within days after the date of Su If nothing stated, 28 days | bcontract |
| | | (e) Additional <i>security</i> for unfixed plant and materials (subclauses 5.4 and 37.3) | \$ | |
| | | (f) Subcontractor's security upon certificate of practical completion is reduced by (subclause 5.4) | | |
| † | 20 | Not Used | | |
| | 21 | Main Contractor-supplied documents (subclause 8.2) | Document 1 | |
| | | | | o copies |
| | 22 | Documents, numbers of copies, and the times or stages at which they are to be supplied by the <i>Subcontractor</i> (subclause 8.3) | | о сорісо |
| | 22 | the times or stages at which they are to be supplied by the <i>Subcontractor</i> | No. of copies Tim | e/stage |
| | 22 | the times or stages at which they are to be supplied by the <i>Subcontractor</i> (subclause 8.3) Document | | |
| | 22 | the times or stages at which they are to be supplied by the <i>Subcontractor</i> (subclause 8.3) Document 1 | | e/stage |
| | 22 | the times or stages at which they are to be supplied by the <i>Subcontractor</i> (subclause 8.3) Document 1 | | e/stage |
| | 22 | the times or stages at which they are to be supplied by the <i>Subcontractor</i> (subclause 8.3) Document 1 | | e/stage |

[†] If applicable, delete and instead complete equivalent Item in the separable portions section of the Annexure Part A

| 23 | Time for Subcontract Superintendent's direction about documents (subclause 8.3) | If nothing stated, 21 days | |
|----|--|---|--|
| 24 | Secondary subcontracting (subclause 9.2) | Work by Subcontractor's consultants | <i>Work</i> by others |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 25 | Novation (subclause 9.4) | Secondary subcontractor or selected secondary subcontractor, as the case may be | Particular part of the preliminary design or selected subcontract work, as the case may be |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 26 | Intellectual property rights granted to the Main Contractor, the Alternative applying (subclause 10.2) | If nothing stated, Alternative 1 appl | |
| 27 | Legislative requirements | | |
| | (a) Those already excepted under the main contract | | |
| | (subclause 11.1) | | |
| | (b) Those excepted under the Subcontract (subclause 11.1) | | |
| | (c) Identified <i>WUS</i> (subclause 11.2(a)(iii)) | | |

| 27A | Subcontractor's Insurance (Clause 15.1, 15A and 16A) | | | |
|-----|--|--------------------------|----------------------|----------|
| | (a) Subcontractor's Insurance for | Excess per claim: | \$2,500 Minor Peril | |
| | WUS | | \$10,000 Major Peril | |
| | (b) Other insurance to be held by the Subcontractor | Type of insurance | to the val | ue of |
| 28 | Professional indemnity insurance (clause 16B and subclause 9.2(d)) | Type of insurance | to the val | ue of |
| | (a) Levels of cover of <i>Subcontractor's</i> professional indemnity insurance shall be not less than | \$\$ | | |
| | (b) Period for which Subcontractor's professional indemnity insurance shall be maintained after issue of the final certificate | If nothing stated, 6 yea | | |
| | (c) Categories of Subcontractor's consultants and levels of cover of Subcontractor's consultants' professional indemnity insurance | Cate | | \$ \$ |
| | (d) Period for which each Subcontractor's consultant's professional indemnity insurance shall be maintained after issue of the final certificate | If nothing stated, 6 yea | rs | |

| 2 | 29 | Public and product liability insurance (clause 17) | |
|---|----|--|--|
| | | (a) Alternative applying | ALTERNATIVE 2 |
| | | If alternative 2 applies | |
| | | (b) Level of Subcontractor's insurance for public and product liability | Twenty Million Dollars (\$20,000,000) |
| | | (c) Amount per occurrence shall be not less than | Twenty Million Dollars (\$20,000,000) |
| | 30 | (a) Time for giving access (subclause 24.1) | within days of date of Subcontract If nothing stated, 14 days |
| | | (b) Time for giving non-exclusive possession (subclause 24.1) | within days of date of Subcontract If nothing stated, 14 days |
| | 31 | The information, materials, documents or instructions and the times by, or periods within which they are to be given to the <i>Subcontractor</i> (clause 32) | Documents or instructions Times/Periods 1 |
| | 32 | Qualifying causes of delay, causes of delay for which EOTs will be granted (paragraph (c) of clause 1 and subclause 34.3) | |
| t | 33 | (a) Subcontract liquidated damages, rate (subclause 34.7) ‡ (b) Main contract liquidated damages, rate (subclause 34.7A) | per day \$ per day per day \$ per day |
| † | 34 | Not Used | |

[†] If applicable, delete and instead complete equivalent *Item* in the *separable portions* section of the Annexure Part A

[‡] Delete if optional subclause 34.7A is deleted

| † | 35 | Not Used | |
|---|-----|--|---|
| | 36 | Defects liability period (clause 35) | If nothing stated, the period ending on the date of expiry of the last defects liability period under the <i>main contract</i> |
| | 36A | Margin on <i>variations</i> (subclause 36.4) Profit Overheads | [insert]% [insert]% |
| | 37 | Progress claims (subclause 37.1) | |
| | | (a) Times for progress claims | (a) 28 th day of each month for <i>WUS</i> done to the 28 th day of that month until the <i>date of practical completion</i> ; |
| | | | (b) on the date of practical completion; and |
| | | | (c) on the date for issuing a final payment claim. |
| | | | For sake of clarity, the parties agree that there are no reference dates between the <i>date of practical completion</i> and the date of issuance of the <i>final payment claim</i> . |
| | | OR | |
| | | (b) States of WUS for progress | |
| | | claims | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | 37A | Payment Claim Documentation (subclause 37.0) | [insert] |
| | 37B | Project Bank Accounts (clause 37A) | Yes / No * (delete one) |
| | 38 | Unfixed plant and materials for which payment claims may be made (subclause 37.3) | |

[†] If applicable, delete and instead complete equivalent Item in the separable portions section of the Annexure Part A

| 39 | Interest rate on overdue payments (subclauses 37.5) | Per section 67P of the QBCC Act |
|-----|--|---|
| 40 | (a) Time for <i>Main Contractor</i> to rectify inadequate access (subclause 39.7(a)(iii)) | days If nothing stated, 14 days |
| | (b) Time for <i>Main Contractor</i> to rectify inadequate non-exclusive possession (subclause 39.7(a)(iv)) | days If nothing stated, 14 days |
| 41 | Not Used | |
| 41A | Rules for expert determination (subclause 42.4) | The Resolution Institute Expert Determination Rules |
| 42 | Services and facilities (clause 44) | |
| | (a) Electricity | |
| | (i) Installation of 240 volts: Supply | shall be provided by the <i>Main Contractor</i> at the following points |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Installation of 240 volts: Supply | shall be provided by the Subcontractor at the following points |
| | | |
| | | |
| | (ii) Installation of 415 volts: Supply | shall be provided by the Main Contractor at the following points |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Installation of 415 volts: Supply | shall be provided by the Subcontractor at the following points |
| | | |
| | | |

| (iii) Cost of Electricity provided to the Subcontractor shall be borne by the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
|---|---|
| (iv)Cost of connection to the power supply shall be borne by the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| NOTE: The Subcontractor shall provide leads for the Subcontractor's own use. | |
| (b) Adequate artificial lighting shall be provided by the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| (c) Scaffolding | |
| (i) Initial supply and erection and final removal of scaffolding at the following locatio | ns |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| shall be provided by and at the cost of the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| (ii) Adjustment and moving of scaffolding or planks or both shall be carried out by and at the cost of the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| (iii) Cost of the provision or hire of scaffolding or planks shall be borne by the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| (d) Cranage and hoisting | |
| (i) Cranage facilities (including provision of qualified operators) shall be borne by the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| (ii) Description of cranage facilities if provided by Main Contractor | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| (iii) Description of cranage facilities if provided by Subcontractor | |

^{*} Delete one

^{*} Delete one

| (iv) Hoisting facilities shall be p | rovided by the | | * <mark>Main Contractor</mark> |
|--|--------------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------|
| | | | * Subcontractor |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| (v) Description of hoisting facili | ties if provided by Main Contracto | or. | |
| (v) Description of noisting facili | ties if provided by Main Contracte |) i | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| (vi) Description of hoisting facili | ties if provided by Subcontractor | | |
| (v) 2 dear phon or molecular radius | nee ii previded by edizeemideter | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| (vii) Labour to handle material | s to be lifted by crane shall be pro | ovided by the | * Main Contractor |
| , | , . | , | * Subcontractor |
| | | | |
| (viii) Labour to handle material | s to be lifted by hoist shall be pro | vided by the | * <mark>Main Contractor</mark> |
| | | | * Subcontractor |
| (iv) If materials are to be lifted by | arrana muaridad bu tha | | |
| (ix) If materials are to be lifted by Main Contractor, lifting shall | | | |
| times of each day | The between the following | from | *am / *pm |
| ee er eaen aay | | | |
| | | to | * am / *pm |
| (x) If materials are to be hoiste | d by the Main Contractor | | |
| | ne following times of each day | from | *am / *pm |
| | .o rono ning minoo or odon day | | |
| | | to | *am / *pm |
| (xi) Charge for cranage facilities | s provided by the <i>Main</i> | | |
| Contractor shall be at the fo | - | \$ | per hour |
| | 3 | ¥ | |
| (xii) Charge | for hoisting facilities provided by | the <i>Main</i> | |
| Contractor shall be at the fo | ollowing rate | \$ | per hour |

^{*} Delete one

| (e) Other plant or equipment | | |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|
| | ent to be provided or made available by of the Subcontractor shall be as follows | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| (ii) The date of provision or availab | ility of such other items of plant or equipment sh | all be |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| (iii) A qualified operator for such pla | ant or equipment shall be provided by the | * Main Contractor * Subcontractor |
| (iv)Such other items of plant or equ the following date or dates | uipment shall be returned by the Subcontractor o | n |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| _ | pair (other than due to fair wear and tear) of other items and used by the <i>Subcontractor</i> shall be charged to the | s of plant or equipment |
| | | |
| (f) Telephones and fax | If a telephone service of facsimile machine, or by the <i>Main Contractor</i> for the <i>Subcontractor</i> shall pay for outward calls or tra | ntractor's use, the |
| (g) General | | |
| (i) Space for the erection of the Su Main Contractor. | ubcontractor's sheds and storage facilities shall b | e provided by the |
| (ii) Toilet accommodation and wash | hing facilities shall be provided by the Main Cont | ractor. |
| (iii) Adequate water and boiling wat | er for drinking purposes shall be provided by the | Main Contractor. |
| (iv)Adequate water and hot water following locations: | or cleaning purposes shall be provided by the Ma | ain Contractor at |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

| (v) Other services and facil (specify) | (v) Other services and facilities | |
|--|-----------------------------------|--|
| | (specify) | by the *Main Contractor / *Subcontractor |
| | | by the *Main Contractor / *Subcontractor |
| | | |
| | | by the *Main Contractor / *Subcontractor |
| | | by the *Main Contractor / *Subcontractor |
| 42A | Clause 49 applicable | Yes/No |
| | (clause 49) | *choose one* |

* Delete one

Part A

Separable Portions

- This section should be completed only if the Subcontract provides for separable portions.
- Complete separate pages for each separable portion, which should be numbered appropriately. Any balance of the Subcontract Works should also be a separable portion.

| | Separable po (clause 1) | ortion | No | | |
|------|--|---|---|------------|--|
| | | f separable portion | | | |
| | (clause 1) | SEPARABLE PO | ORTIONS NOT APPLICABLE | | |
| Item | | | | | |
| 11 | (a) Date for p (clause 1) | ractical completion | | | |
| | OR | | | | |
| | (b) Period of completio (clause 1) | | | | |
| 19 | Subcontracto | r's security | | | |
| | (a) Form (clause 5) | | | | |
| | | r maximum percentage nis separable portion | If nothing stated, 5% of value of this separable | | |
| | each <i>prog</i> to this sep | n moneys, percentage of tress certificate applicable parable portion and subclause 37.2) | %, until the limit in <i>Item</i> If nothing stated, 10%, until the limit in <i>Item</i> 19 | | |
| | (d) Time for p retention (clause 5) | | within days after the date of S If nothing stated, 28 days | ubcontract | |
| | and mater | · | \$ | | |
| | | • | | | |

| 20 | Main Contractor's security | |
|----|--|--|
| | (a) Form (clause 5) | |
| | (b) Amount or maximum percentage of value of this separable portion (clause 5) | If nothing stated, nil |
| | (c) Time for provision (clause 5) | within days after the date of Subcontract If nothing stated, 28 days |
| | (d) Main Contractor's security upon certificate of practical completion is reduced by (subclause 5.4) | % of amount held If nothing stated, 50% of amount held |
| 33 | (a) Subcontract liquidated damages, rate (subclause 34.7) | per day \$per day |
| | ‡ (b) Main contract liquidated damages, rate (subclause 34.7A) | per day \$per day |
| 34 | Bonus for early <i>practical completion</i> (subclause 34.8) | |
| | (a) Rate | per day \$per day |
| | (b) Limit | \$ |
| | | |

³⁵ Not Used

[‡] Delete if optional subclause 34.7A is deleted

Annexure to the Australian Standard General Conditions of Subcontract for Design and Construct

Approved form of unconditional undertaking

Part B

This form may also be used where the Main Contractor is required to provide an unconditional undertaking, by substituting Main Contractor for Subcontractor and vice versa, wherever occurring.

| • • | | J | | | | |
|--|-------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------|----------------|---------------------|-------|
| (clause 1 - security) | | | | | | |
| At the request of | | | | | | |
| | ABN | • | | • | | |
| ACN | ABN | (the | e <i>Main</i> | Contractor) | accepting | this |
| - | the Subcontract for | | | | | |
| | | • | | | | |
| ACN | | | | | | |
| undertakes to pay on dem | and any sum or sums whic | ch may from time to time | e be dema | inded by the | Main Contr | actor |
| to a maximum aggregate | sum of | | | | | |
| | | (\$ | | | |) |
| payment to the <i>Main Cor Contractor</i> may require. | ntractor by the Financial i | Institution of the whole | of the su | ım or such p | part as the | Main |
| Should the Financial Instit | tution be notified in writing | nurporting to be signe | ed by | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Contractor desires payme | | | | | | |
| that the Financial Institution | on will make the payment o | or payments to the <i>Main</i> | Contract | or forthwith w | vithout refer | ence |
| to the Subcontractor and | notwithstanding any notice | e given by the Subcontr | actor not | to pay same | | |
| Provided always that the | Financial Institution may | at any time without be | ing requir | ed so to do | pay to the | Main |
| Contractor the sum of | | | | | | |
| | | (\$ | | | |) |
| less any amount or amou | nts it may previously hav | e paid under this under | rtaking or | such lesser | sum as ma | y be |
| required and specified by | the Main Contractor and | thereupon the liability | of the Fi | nancial Insti | <i>tution</i> hereu | ınder |
| shall immediately cease. | | | | | | |
| Dated at | this | day of | · | | 20 | |

Part C

Deed of novation

(subclause 9.2(c))

| This Deed made the | | day of | 20 |
|--------------------|-----|--------|---------------------------|
| between | | | (the Main Subcontractor) |
| of | ACN | ABN | |
| and | | | (the Subcontractor) |
| of | ACN | ABN | |
| and | | (the | secondary subcontractor) |
| of | ACN | ABN | |
| and | | (the | e Incoming Subcontractor) |
| of | ACN | ABN | |
| | | | |

- witness that:
- 1 Upon receipt by the *secondary subcontractor* of the sum certified by the *Subcontract Superintendent* as owing under the prior contract described in the Schedule hereto:
 - (a) the prior contract shall be discharged;
 - (b) the *secondary subcontractor* shall release the *Subcontractor* from the further performance of the prior contract and from all claims and demands in connection with the prior contract;
 - (c) the *Incoming Subcontractor* shall punctually perform the obligations of the *Subcontractor* under the prior contract as far as they are not performed. The *Incoming Subcontractor* acknowledges itself bound by the provisions of the prior contract as if the *Incoming Subcontractor* had been named in the prior contract; and
 - (d) the secondary subcontractor shall punctually perform like obligations and be bound to the *Incoming Subcontractor* as if the provisions of the prior subcontract were incorporated herein.
- 2 The Main Subcontractor and secondary subcontractor each warrant to the Incoming Subcontractor that:
 - (a) subcontract work carried out to the date hereof is in accordance with the provisions of the prior contract; and
 - (b) all claims and demands in connection with the prior contract have been made to the Subcontractor.
- 3 The Main Subcontractor and secondary subcontractor each indemnifies the Incoming Subcontractor from all claims and demands of the Subcontractor, Main Contractor and secondary subcontractor in connection with the prior contract.
- 4 A dispute between:
 - (a) the *Main Contractor* and the *secondary subcontractor* in connection with the *Subcontract Superintendent's* certification of the sum owing under the prior contract; or
 - (b) the *Incoming Subcontractor* and the *secondary subcontractor* in connection with clause 1(c) or 1(d), shall be resolved pursuant to the provisions of AS 4903—2000 General conditions of subcontract for design and construct which for the purposes of this clause 4 are incorporated herein.
- 5 This Deed shall be governed by the laws of the jurisdiction stated in *Item* 12 of the *Subcontract* between the *Main Contractor* and *Subcontractor*.

| Schedule | |
|---|-----------------------------------|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| In witness whereof the parties have executed this DEED OF | NOVATION by affixing their seals. |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the Main Contractor | |
| was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| | 2 |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |
| | |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the Subcontractor | |
| was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| | |
| | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |
| | |
| | |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the secondary subcontractor was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| | |
| | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |
| , | , |
| | |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the Incoming Subcontractor | |
| was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |
| ramo (picaso pinit) | raino (picase pinit) |

Part D

In the Deed where applicable

- outgoing party is the main contractor;
- incoming party is the subcontractor;
- continuing party is the secondary subcontractor, selected secondary subcontractor or subcontractor's consultant, as the case may be.

| Deed of novat | IO | n |
|---------------|----|---|

(subclause 9.4)

| This Deed made the | | day of | 20 |
|--------------------|---|---|----------------------|
| between | | | (the outgoing party) |
| of | | | |
| and | | | |
| of | | | |
| and | | | |
| of | | | |
| witness that: | / | ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | |

- witness that:
- 1 Upon receipt by the *continuing party* of all moneys owing under the prior contract:
 - (a) the *incoming party* shall punctually perform the obligations of the *outgoing party* under the prior contract prescribed in the Schedule hereto as far as they are not performed. The *incoming party* acknowledges itself bound by the provisions of the prior contract as if the *incoming party* had been named as the *outgoing party* in the prior contract;
 - (b) the *continuing party* punctually perform like obligations and be bound to the *incoming party* as if the provisions of the prior contract were incorporated herein; and
 - (c) the *outgoing party* and *continuing party* shall each release and forever discharge the other from the further performance of the prior contract and from all claims and demands in connection with the prior contract.
- 2 The outgoing party and continuing party each warrant to the incoming party that preliminary design or selected subcontract work, as the case may be, carried out to the date hereof, is in accordance with the provisions of the prior contract.
- 3 This Deed shall be governed by the governing law of the prior contract between the *outgoing party* and *continuing party*.

| Schedule | |
|---|-----------------------------------|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| In witness whereof the parties have executed this DEED OF | NOVATION by affixing their seals. |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the outgoing party | |
| was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the <i>incoming party</i> was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |
| THE COMMON SEAL of the <i>continuing party</i> was affixed to this document in the presence of: | |
| Secretary/Director | Director |
| Name (please print) | Name (please print) |

Part E

| Dele | etions, amendments and additions | | | | |
|------|---|--|--|--|--|
| 1 | The following clauses have been deleted from AS 4903—2000 | | | | |
| | As per the marked up copy of this AS4903 | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 2 | The following clauses have been amended and differ from the corresponding clauses in AS 4903—2000 | | | | |
| | As per the marked up copy of this AS4903 | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 2 | The fellowing players have been added to AC 4000, 2000 | | | | |
| 3 | The following clauses have been added to AS 4903—2000 | | | | |
| | As per the marked up copy of this AS4903 | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Part F

Main Contractor's Project Requirements

Refer to attached Notice of Acceptance: including

- Schedule A Extent of Work and
- Schedule B Scope of Work

Part G

Drawing Register

Refer to the attached Notice of Acceptance:

• Schedule A – Extent of Work: **Drawings.**

Part H

Safety Requirements

The Subcontractor shall:

- (a) carry out works pursuant of the requirements of, and to comply with, the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld) and Work Health and Safety Regulations 2011 (Qld), relevant advisory standards and codes of practice;
- (b) before the *Subcontractor's* employees commence work on the *site*, give to the *Main Contractor's* representative a site specific safety plan including work method statements for high risk construction work and other hazardous works;
- (c) induct all employees into the *Subcontractor's* site specific safety plan and any work health and safety management plan provided by the *Main Contractor* and keep and maintain a training register of trainees inducted;
- (d) ensure that all employees have attended and hold a QLD General Industry Induction Card (formerly known as a "blue card") or other relevant general industry induction card accepted by WH&S QLD;
- (e) on request by the *Main Contractor's* representative, give evidence that all employees have been trained in the *Subcontractor's* work method statements involving high risk construction work or other hazardous work, and certification that they are deemed competent in the same;
- (f) instruct its employees to report to the site foreman before starting work, to attend the *Main Contractor's* site specific induction session and obtain site registration.
- (g) ensure employees who are required to work in a Prescribed Occupation have their certificate (license) on their person for viewing and shall ensure those employees are competent;
- (h) ensure all hazardous substances used by an employee has a material safety data sheet (MSDS) supplied for that substance and a risk assessment for safe use at the *site*. The MSDS and risk assessment are to be attached to the *Subcontractor's* site specific safety plan. The employee shall be trained in the safe use of the hazardous substance;
- (i) ensure any plant supplied by the *Subcontractor* meets the requirements of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld), Work Health and Safety Regulations 2011 (Qld) and relevant codes of practice;
- (j) ensure suppliers of material engaged by the *Subcontractor* comply with the requirements of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld) and Work Health and Safety Regulations 2011 (Qld), when entering the *site*;
- (k) ensure that all common plant, housekeeping, inductions, hazardous substances, work at height, falling objects and other regulatory requirements are identified in order that they may be managed to prevent or minimise exposure to the risk of injury or illness;
- (l) ensure that any agents, sub-subcontractors or consultants and their employees who are carrying out work for the *Subcontractor* on the *site* or in relation to the *site*, provide adequate information, instruction, training and supervision to prevent or minimise exposure to the risk of fatality, injury or illness;
- (m) ensure compliance with the *Main Contactor's* construction safety plan and / or work health and safety management plan prior to commencing work on the *site*;

- (n) ensure that all employees, agents, sub-subcontractors and consultants comply with the *Main Contractor's* construction safety plan or where there is high risk construction work, the relevant work method statement; and
- (o) report all injuries, illnesses and dangerous events to the *Main Contractor* as soon as it becomes aware of the injury, illness or dangerous event.

The Subcontractor certifies that:

- (p) all of the *Subcontractor's* employees, agents, sub-subcontractors and consultants are competent to carry out *WUS*;
- (q) the *Subcontractor* and its employees, agents, sub-subcontractors and consultants shall immediately comply with all instructions from the *Main Contractor*;
- (r) the *Subcontractor* has work method statements for all high risk construction work and other hazardous works;
- (s) all WUS carried out by the Subcontractor complies with all relevant codes, laws and standards; and
- (t) it has obtained, read, understands and will comply with the *Main Contractor's* work health safety policies, Site Specific Safety Rules and Construction Safety Management Plan. If these documents, or any other similarly named documents are not provided with this *Subcontract* then the *Subcontractor* must obtain them from the *Main Contractor* and ensure the *Subcontractor's* full compliance with a all such documentation.

| SIGNED BY THE SUBCONTRACTOR | DATE |
|-----------------------------|------|

FAILURE TO COMPLY

If the *Subcontractor* fails to comply with the above requirements:

- (a) the *Main Contractor* shall be entitled to withhold any money payable to the *Subcontractor* (including a progress payment) until the *Subcontractor* complies;
- (b) the *Main Contractor* may remove from the *site* any of the *Subcontractor's* employees who do not comply with the *Main Contractor's* directions or instructions until the worker complies;
- (c) the *Subcontractor* shall indemnify and hold harmless the *Main Contractor* against any fines, penalties or other monetary amounts directly incurred by the *Main Contractor* from Workplace Health and Safety Queensland and any other loss or damages suffered by the *Main Contractor* due to the *Subcontractor*'s non-compliance shall be an amount due from the *Subcontractor* to the *Main Contractor* and may be back charged to the *Subcontractor*, or set-off or as otherwise allowed under this *Contract* or as damages;
- (d) the *Subcontractor* shall indemnify and hold harmless the *Main Contractor* against all loss, cost, damage or expense in connection with disruptions and/or work stoppages, including all consequential ramifications of such stoppages in commensurate proportion to the contribution by the *Subcontractor*;
- (e) the *Subcontractor* shall indemnify and hold harmless the *Main Contractor* against all claims made against, or loss incurred (including all legal costs of proceedings or prosecutions on a solicitor and own client basis) by the *Main Contractor* arising out of or in connection with a breach of the *Subcontractors* obligations under this Annexure Part H.

Part I

| De | claration by Subcontractor |
|----------|---|
| PRO | JECT NAME – |
| PRO | JECT NAME |
| To t | he Finance Director of EVANS BUILT PTY LTD |
| l, | (Print name) |
| of | (Address) in the State of Queensland, |
| SO SO | olemnly and sincerely declare that, in relation to the Agreement between EVANS BUILT PTY LTD (The <i>Main Contractor</i>) |
| And | (The <i>Subcontractor</i>) |
| (Res | gistered Business/Entity Name) |
| | contract for"the Subcontract") |
| Subi | |
| 1. | I hold the position of I am in a position to know the facts contained herein and to bind the Subcontractor by the terms of this declaration, and I am duly authorised by the Subcontractor to make this declaration on its/their behalf. |
| 2. | All EMPLOYEES, WORKERS, SUB-SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS who at any time have carried out work under the <i>Subcontract</i> have been paid in full all monies due and payable to them inclusive of any amounts owing under any industrial instrument and all mandatory statutory obligations, payments, charges or taxes (including but not limited to Goods and Services Taxes and Superannuation where applicable) up to the date of submission by the <i>Subcontractor</i> of Payment Claim No |
| 3. | All sub-subcontractors performing work under the <i>Subcontract</i> have been informed of the existence of the <i>Building</i> and Construction Industry Payments Act 2004 and the Subcontractors' Charges Act 1974 and the Building Industry Fairness (Security of Payment) Act 2017 [BIF Act]. |
| I ma | ke this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the information contained herein to be true and correct. |
| Sign | ature of the Declarant |
| Nan | ne of Declarant |
| Date | |

95

 $\label{lem:company} \textbf{A signed original copy of this declaration must accompany each progress claim submitted for payment}$

Signature of Witness

Part J

| Design and Construct | | | i ait o |
|---|---|------------------------------|--|
| Deed of Release – Practic | al Completion | | |
| Project: | | | |
| Subcontract: | | | |
| Description: | | | |
| Subcontract Date: | | | |
| Subcontractor: | | | |
| Release and Indemnity | | | |
| | | | y the Subcontractor arising out of the date of this Deed is as follows: |
| Original Subcontract Sum | | | \$ |
| Adjustment Additions | | \$ \$ | |
| Adjustment – Additions Adjustment – Deductions | | Φ | |
| Subcontract Sum at Practical | Completion | | \$ |
| Less Previous Net Payments | | | \$ |
| Final Balance Owing (including F | Retention) | | \$ |
| Less Retention Terms (< | >% of \$< | >) | \$ |
| Balance owing at Practical Comp | oletion (excluding Re | etention) | \$ |
| | | | the final balance owing for all works of the Subcontract No agrees |
| debts, accounts, costs, lier | ns, actions and proce ain Contractor or th | eedings whether known or u | epresentative from all claims, demands, nknown which the Subcontractor has or sentative howsoever arising under the |
| servants and agents, from | and against all clai | ims, demands, debts, accou | ctor's Representative and their officers, nts, expenses, costs, liens, actions and or firm howsoever arising under the |
| Execution of Release and Inden IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Sub | - | under set its hand on the da | v and the year hereinafter written. |
| Dated this | | Day of | 2040 |
| Subcontractor:: | | | 2018 |
| | | | |
| Signature of Director | | Name of Dire | ector |
| | | | |

96

This Deed of Release form is to be signed by incorporated Subcontractors and returned to the Main Contractor, as a condition of reaching Practical Completion.

Name of Witness

Part K

| Deed | d of Release - Final | | | | |
|------------|--|--------------|--------------------------|--|--|
| Des Sub | ect: contract: cription: contract Date: contractor: | | | | |
| Relea | se and Indemnity | | | | |
| 1.1 | | | | by the Subcontractor arising out of the e date of this Deed is as follows: | |
| Orig | inal Subcontract Sum | | | \$ | |
| | stment – Additions stment – Deductions | | \$ \$ | | |
| Fina | I Subcontract Sum | | | \$ | |
| Less | s Previous Net Payments | | | \$ | |
| Fina | l Balance Owing (including | g Retention) | | \$ | |
| Less | s Retention Terms (< | >% of \$< | >) | \$ | |
| Fina | l Balance Owing (excludin | g Retention) | | \$ | |
| 1.2 | The Subcontractor, upon Retention) in the terms of | | | being the final balance owing (exclusive of ees to:- | |
| 1.2.1 | .1 Release and discharge the Main Contractor and the Main Contractor's Representative from all claims, demands, debts, accounts, costs, liens, actions and proceedings whether known or unknown which the Subcontractor has or might have against the Main Contractor or the Main Contractor's Representative howsoever arising under the Subcontract or out of its performance. | | | | |
| 1.2.2 | Indemnify and keep indemnified the Main Contractor and the Main Contractor's Representative and their officers, servants and agents, from and against all claims, demands, debts, accounts, expenses, costs, liens, actions and proceedings, whether known or unknown, by any person, corporation or firm howsoever arising under the Subcontract or out of its performance. | | | | |
| | ution of Release and Index TNESS WHEREOF the Se | _ | nder set its hand on the | day and the year hereinafter written. | |
| Date | ed this | | Day of | 2018 | |
| Sub | contractor: | | | | |
| Sign | ature of Director | | Name of D | irector | |
| Sign | ature of Witness | | Name of W | /itness | |

97

This Deed of Release form is to be signed by incorporated Subcontractors and returned to the Main Contractor, as a condition of reaching Final Completion.

Annexure to the Australian Standard General Conditions of Subcontract for Design and Construct

Part L

Trade Breakdown

The Trade Breakdown is for the purpose of valuing progress claims submitted under clause 37.1 and does not constitute a *schedule of rates*.

The Trade Breakdown may be relied upon to value *variation* claims pursuant to clause 36.4(a) but only to the extent it is reasonable to do so.

[INSERT]

Annexure to the Australian Standard General Conditions of Subcontract for Design and Construct

Part M

Agreement to Issue RCTIs

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the **INSERT** day of **INSERT** 2020

BETWEEN

Evans Built Pty Ltd (ACN 120 743 099) of La Balsa, Suite 30, 45 Brisbane Road, Mooloolaba, Queensland, 4557 (the Main Contractor)

And

"ENTER SUNCONTRACTOR" (ACN "ENTER ACN")
of "SC ADDRESS"
(the Subcontractor)

Subcontract: [INSERT] between the *Main Contractor* and the *Subcontractor* dated [INSERT]

1. Definitions

Agreement means this agreement for the issuing of *RCTIs*.

Words and expressions used in this Annexure which are not defined in the *Subcontract* but which are defined in the *GST Act* have the same meaning as in the *GST Act*.

2. Issue of RCTIs

- (a) The *Main Contractor* will issue an *RCTI* in respect of all supplies supplied by the *Subcontractor* under the *Subcontract*.
- (b) The *Subcontractor* will not issue tax invoices in respect of supplies supplied to the *Main Contractor* under the *Subcontract*, except as otherwise provided under the *Subcontract*.
- (c) The *Subcontractor* acknowledges that it is registered for *GST* when it enters into the *Subcontract* and that it will notify the *Main Contractor* if it ceases to be registered or fails to register.
- (d) The *Main Contractor* acknowledges that it is registered for *GST* when it enters into the *Subcontract*, and that it will notify the *Subcontractor* if it ceases to be registered for *GST* or if it ceases to satisfy any of the requirements for *RCTIs* under the *GST Act* or taxation rulings.
- (e) The *Main Contractor* will not issue a document that would otherwise be an *RCTI*, on or after the date when the *Main Contractor* or the *Subcontractor* has failed to comply with any of the *RCTI* requirements.
- (f) The *Subcontractor* acknowledges that the *Main Contractor* is not obliged to and will not issue a *RCTI* in respect of a supply until:
 - (i) the progress claim received from the *Subcontractor* has been certified in accordance with the *Subcontract*; and
 - (ii) the Subcontractor has provided the necessary documentation to allow a RCTI to be issued.

3. Termination

The *Main Contractor* may, at its sole discretion, by written notice to the *Subcontractor*, terminate this *Agreement* and from the date of the notice of termination the *Subcontractor* will be responsible for issuing any and all tax invoices in respect of supplies to the *Main Contractor* under the *Subcontract*.

4. Main Contractor's indemnity

The *Main Contractor* shall indemnify the *Subcontractor* against any liability, cost, expense, loss or damage that the *Subcontractor* that may arise from an understatement of the *GST* payable on any of the specified supplies received on an *RCTI* the *Main Contractor* issues to the *Subcontractor*.

5. Subcontractor's indemnity

The *Subcontractor* shall be liable for, and indemnifies the *Main Contractor* against, any cost, expense, loss or damage that the *Main Contractor* and/or the *Subcontractor* may incur or suffer as a result of or in any way relating to the termination of this Agreement.

| EXECUTED by Evans Built Pty Ltd |) | | |
|---|---|--|--------|
| (ACN 120 743 099) |) | | |
| by its duly authorised representative: | , | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Name of authorised representative | | Signature of authorised representative | ••••• |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| EXECUTED by "SC NAME" |) | | |
| (ACN "ENTER ACN") |) | | |
| by its duly authorised representative: | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Name of authorised representative | | Signature of authorised representative | •••••• |

Part N

PROGRESS CLAIM PROFORMA

The following format is to be used when submitting progress claims:

| SUBCONTRACTOR: | | | | | | |
|----------------|---|---------------|--|--|--|--|
| PRO | PROJECT: | | | | | |
| | | Excluding GST | | | | |
| 1 | Accepted Net Contract Value: | \$ | | | | |
| 2 | Approved Variations to Contract: (attach details) | \$ | | | | |
| 3 | Adjusted Net Contract Value: | \$ | | | | |
| 4 | Total Value of Contract Work completed to date: (attach detailed breakup) | \$ | | | | |
| 5 | Variations Claimed to Date: (attach details) | \$ | | | | |
| 6 | Less Previously Claimed: | \$ | | | | |
| 7 | This Claim No for works completed to// | \$ | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | Plus 10% GST (if applicable): | \$ | | | | |
| | Total Claim Including GST: | \$ | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Annexure to the Australian Standard General Conditions of Subcontract for Design and Construct

Part O

Conditions of Contract Clause 9.2 Request for Approval to Sub-Subcontract

| Re: Subcontract for | | | | | |
|--|-----------|--|--|--|--|
| (specify the Subcontract and Head Contract) | | | | | |
| Pursuant to clause 9.2.6 of the Conditions of Contract I request approval to allow a Subcontractor to enter into a Sub-subcontract for: | | | | | |
| (specify the nature of the work) | | | | | |
| The proposed Sub-subcontractor is | | | | | |
| (specify the Sub-subcontractor's name) | | | | | |
| ACN: ABN: | | | | | |
| Of: | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| (specify the Sub-subcontractor's address) | | | | | |
| Licence Number: Category: | | | | | |
| Trade: Restrictions (if any): | | | | | |
| And the total value of the proposed Sub-subcontract is: \$ | | | | | |
| (specify the Sub-subcontract value) I confirm that: | | | | | |
| (i) The proposed sub-subcontract documents incorporate AS2545 – 1993 Australian Standard Subcontract Conditions as the general conditions of sub-subcontract, amended only to reflect the Subcontract Conditions of Contract*; [*delete if the total value of the proposed sub-subcontract is les than \$50,000] | | | | | |
| (ii) The payment recording system required by clause 43 of the conditions of subcontract ha been esta | blished; | | | | |
| (iii) The proposed sub-subcontractor: | | | | | |
| (A) Has a personal services business determination in effect from the Australian Tax Office und Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cwlth); or | er the | | | | |
| (B) In relation to the work to be performed under the sub-subcontract: | | | | | |
| (I) Will be paid to achieve a specified result or outcome; and (II) Is required to supply the plant and equipment or tools of trade needed to perform the (III) Will be liable for the cost of rectifying any defect in the work performed. | work; and | | | | |
| I warrant that if approval is granted, the sub-subcontract will be entered into in accordance with the above. | | | | | |
| Signed | | | | | |
| Contractor Subcontractor | | | | | |



Conditions of Contract Clauses 28.1A and 28.1AB

103

TRAINING POLICY

Privacy Statement – The Queensland Government Building and Construction Training Policy

This Privacy Statement is to be provided to each participant on an eligible Queensland Government funded Building and Civil Construction project to comply with the *Information Privacy Act 2009*.

The Queensland Government Building and Construction Training Policy (the Training Policy) requires that a minimum of 10 per cent of the total labour hours on eligible Queensland Government building or civil construction projects be undertaken by apprentices and/or trainees and through other workforce training. Contractors are required to provide evidence of compliance with the Training Policy, and this information will ultimately be considered in any review of their eligibility to tender for future government work.

The Department of Education, Training and Employment (DETE) requires that contracted organisations collect personal information from participants including:

| Apprentice or Trainee | Registration id Name Engaged as Apprentice or Trainee Employer Indigenous status Total hours |
|--|---|
| Cadet Undergraduate Employee Student Indigenous Employee | First & surname name Engaged as Cadet/Undergraduate/ Tradesperson/Non- Tradesperson/Prevocational Student (SWL) Indigenous status Total Hours |

Contracted organisations must provide this information to Construction Skills Queensland (CSQ), as CSQ administers contractor compliance data on behalf of the Queensland Government, through the Training Policy Administration System (TPAS).

CSQ will consider the information and determine if there is non-compliance with the Training Policy by the contracted organisation. If CSQ determines that there is non-compliance with the Training Policy, personal information may be provided to DETE, the State Government agency procuring the project or the designated Principal Contractor.

Annual performance reports regarding a contractor's compliance with the policy will be provided by the Department of Education, Training and Employment (DETE) to the Director-General of each Queensland Government agency.

Records collected will be treated as a public record and will be retained as required by the *Public Records Act* 2002. For the term that the record is maintained, CSQ will only use this information to administer the Training Policy on the Queensland Government's behalf.

Only authorised officers will have access to this information and personal information will not be disclosed to any other third party without consent unless authorised or required under law.

A person may apply to access their personal information stored. Should a person have any queries regarding the information held about themselves, including if they think that the personal information held is incorrect in any way, or is out of date, please CSQ at info@csq.org.au or on 1800 798 488.

AS 4903-2000 104

Conditions of Subcontract Clause 28.1A

TRAINING POLICY

COMPLIANCE PLAN

(Form to be Completed and returned within 10 working days of the Date of Subcontract)

"ENTER LEGAL NAME"

LEGAL NAME:

| TRADING NAME: | "ENTER SUBCONTR | ACTOR NAME | | | | |
|--|--|-------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| ADDRESS: | "ENTER SUBCONTR | "ENTER SUBCONTRACTOR ADDRESS" | | | | |
| PHONE NO. | "ENTER PHONE" | | | | | |
| FAX NO | "ENTER FAX" | | | | | |
| CONTACT PERSON: | "ENTER CONTACT" | | | | | |
| MAIN CONTRACTOR | | | | | | |
| NAME: | EVANS BUILT PTY LTD |) | | | | |
| ADDRESS: | PO BOX 1755 BUDERII | M QLD 4556 | | | | |
| PHONE NO.: | 07 5353 5050 | | | | | |
| FAX NO.: | 07 5302 6689 | | | | | |
| CONTACT PERSON: | "ENTER NAME" | | | | | |
| CONTRACT DESCRIPTION | | | | | | |
| CONTRACT NAME: | "ENTER PROJECT" | | | | | |
| PROJECT NO: | "ENTER PROJECT N | UMBER" | | | | |
| details of where you intend to *Note: This is simply a guide to TENDER PRICE: \$ | | (a) = | Total hours of compliance | | | |
| OR: | x 0.03% (Civil) | (b) = | Total hours of compliance | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Up Skilling your existing workers | | = | Hours | | | |
| Employing your own apprenticesUsing Group Training Scheme a | | = | Hours | | | |
| Using Q-Build apprentices/traine | • | = | Hours | | | |
| Using subcontractor apprentices, | | = | Hours | | | |
| Using RTCS apprentices/trainee | | = | Hours Hours | | | |
| Other (please specify) | | = | Hours | | | |
| | | (c) = | Total hours of compliance | | | |
| | | | (should equal either a or b above) | | | |
| SIGNATURE OF SUBCONTRACTO | R OR AUTHORISED PERSOI | N DAT | ΓΕ: | | | |
| Form to be completed and returned | to: Evans Built Pty L PO Box 1755 Bu admin@evansbu | derim Qld 4556 | | | | |

Amendments to the Conditions of Building Subcontract – "ENTER PROJECT NAME"

Att: The Project Manager

Conditions of Subcontract Clause 28.1A

TRAINING POLICY

INTERIM COMPLIANCE REPORT

(To be submitted within 5 days of the expiration of the successive 13 week period commencing from the Date of Subcontract)

"ENTER SUBCONTRACTOR NAME"

"ENTER LEGAL NAME"

SUBCONTRACTOR

LEGAL NAME:

TRADING NAME:

| ADDRESS: | | | "ENTER SUBCONTRACTOR ADDRESS" | | | | | |
|--------------------|---------------------|---------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------|---|-----------------------------------|--|--|
| PHONE NO. | | | "ENTER PHO | "ENTER PHONE" | | | | |
| FAX NO | | | "ENTER FAX | "ENTER FAX" | | | | |
| CONTACT PERSON: | | | "ENTER CON | ITACT" | | | | |
| MAIN CO | ONTRACTOR | | | | | | | |
| NAME: | | | EVANS BUILT | EVANS BUILT PTY LTD | | | | |
| ADDRE | SS: | | PO BOX 1755 | PO BOX 1755 BUDERIM QLD 4556 | | | | |
| PHONE | NO.: | | 07 5353 5050 | | | | | |
| FAX NO | D.: | | 07 5302 6689 | | | | | |
| CONTA | CT PERSON: | | "ENTER LEG | AL NAME" | | | | |
| CONTRA | ACT DESCRIPTION | <u>[</u> | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| CONTR | RACT NAME: | | "ENTER PRO | DJECT" | | | | |
| PROJE | CT NO: | | "ENTER PRO | JECT NUI | MBER" | | | |
| CONTRA | ACT PRICE: \$ | | x 0.06% (Buil | ding) | (a) = | Total hours of compliance | | |
| | OR: | | x 0.03% (Civi | l) | (b) = | Total hours of compliance | | |
| (1) | Structured Training | g Hours Achie | eved | | | | | |
| | For the Period | / / | to / | / | = | Hours | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| SIGNA ⁻ | TURE OF SUBCON | TRACTOR C | R AUTHORISED | PERSON | DATE: | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| (1) | | | | | cy Quick Guide av 631 991 or (07) 32 | ailable from DETIR on 35 4333. | | |

Form to be completed and returned to:

Evans Built Pty Ltd

PO Box 1755 Buderim Qld 4556 admin@evansbuilt.com.au Att: The Project Manager

Amendments to the Conditions of Building Subcontract – "ENTER PROJECT NAME"

SUBCONTRACTOR

Conditions of Subcontract Clause 28.1A

TRAINING POLICY

PRACTICAL COMPLETION REPORT

(To be submitted within 10 working days of the Date of Practical Completion, or if there is more than one, the last occurring Date of Practical Completion)

| LEGAL NAME: | "EN | "ENTER LEGAL NAME" | | | | |
|---|---------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------|----------------|---------------------|--|
| TRADING NAME: | "EN | "ENTER SUBCONTRACTOR NAME" | | | | |
| ADDRESS: | "EN | NTER SUBCONTRA | ACTOR ADDRE | SS" | | |
| PHONE NO. | "EN | "ENTER PHONE" | | | | |
| FAX NO | "EN | "ENTER FAX" | | | | |
| CONTACT PERSON: | "EN | "ENTER CONTACT". | | | | |
| MAIN CONTRACTOR | | | | | | |
| NAME: | EV | ANS BUILT PTY LTD | | | | |
| ADDRESS: | PO | BOX 1755 BUDERIM | QLD 4556 | | | |
| PHONE NO.: | 07 ! | 5353 5050 | | | | |
| FAX NO.: | 07 5 | 5302 6689 | | | | |
| CONTACT PERSON: | <mark>"E</mark> 1 | NTER LEGAL NAME | <u>="</u> | | | |
| CONTRACT DESCRIPTION | <u>)N</u> | | | | | |
| CONTRACT NAME: | "El | NTER PROJECT" | | | | |
| PROJECT NO: | <u>"E1</u> | NTER PROJECT N | UMBER" | | | |
| DEEMED HOURS FOR TI | RAINING: | | | | | |
| CONTRACT PRICE: \$ | χ(| 0.06% (Building) | (a) = | Total I | nours of compliance | |
| OR: | x (| 0.03 (Civil) | (b) = | Total I | nours of compliance | |
| TRAINING DETAILS (If insufficient space please at | ttach separate list) | | | | | |
| APPRENTICE/TRAINEE NAME | TRAINING AGREEMENT NO. | APPRENTICESHIP/ TRAINEESHIP/ | PERIOD OF ENGAGEMENT | TOTAL HOURS | EMPLOYER | |
| - 11 mm | | CADETSHIP | ON PROJECT | | | |
| (a) | (b) | (c) | (d) | (e) | (f) | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | 1 | | | | |

| The above information is true and correct. | Form to be completed and returned to |
|--|--------------------------------------|
| | Evans Built Pty Ltd PO Box 1755 |
| SIGNATURE OF SUBCONTRACTOR OR AUTHORISED AGENT | BUDERIM QLD 4556 |
| | admin@evansbuilt.com.au |
| DATE: | Att: The Project Manager |

AS 4903—2000 107

Conditions of Subcontract Clause 28.1A

TRAINING POLICY

PRACTICAL COMPLETION REPORT (Continued)

| ROJECT NO: | ENTER PROJECT | NUMBER" | | | |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|----------------|----------|
| ıge: | of: | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| APPRENTICE/TRAINEE NAME | TRAINING AGREEMENT NO. | APPRENTICESHIP/ TRAINEESHIP/ CADETSHIP | PERIOD OF ENGAGEMENT ON PROJECT | TOTAL HOURS | EMPLOYER |
| (a) | (b) | (c) | (d) | (e) | (f) |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

AS 4903—2000 108

Conditions of Subcontract Clause 28.1A

TRAINING POLICY

PRACTICAL COMPLETION REPORT (GUIDE)

(To be submitted within 10 working days of the Date of Practical Completion, or if there is more than one, the last occurring Date of Practical Completion)

| | | - · · | , | | | |
|---------------------------------|--|--|---|--------------------------------------|--------------------------|---|
| SUBCONTRACTOR — | | s the Subcontractor | | | | |
| LEGAL IDENTITY: | subcontra | | | | | |
| TRADING NAME: | | | <u> </u> | | | |
| ADDRESS: | | | | | POSTCOI | DE: |
| PHONE NO.: | | | F | FAX NO.: | | |
| CONTACT PERSO | DN: | | | | <u></u> | |
| MAIN CONTRACTOR | | | Defined as the Main Contractor you are dealing | | | |
| NAME: | EVANS BUILT PTY | LTD | ith in the Subce | ne administration of ontract | | |
| ADDRESS: | PO BOX 1755 BUDE | ERIM QLD 4556 | 3 | | <u></u> | Legal or trade name of |
| DUONE NO | 07 5050 5050 | | | EAVING 07 | | the employer listed on the training agreement that applies to the |
| PHONE NO.: | 07 5353 5050 | | | FAX NO.: 07 | | apprentice/trainee in column C. This may be |
| | ON: The Project Man | | | ified on Subcontrac ling location | t | a subcontractor or group scheme. |
| CONTRACT DESCRIPTION | <u>ON</u> | | | | | |
| CONTRACT NAME | E: "ENTER PROJECT | NAME" | | | | _ |
| PROJECT NO: | 1614 | | | Defined as the Subcontract s | sum for the | |
| DEEMED HOURS FOR T | RAINING: | | | whole projec | t | |
| CONTRACT PRICE: \$ | x(| 0.06% (Building) |) | (a) = | Total I | nours of compliance |
| OR: | OR: x 0.04 (Civil) (b) = Total hours of compliance | | | | | nours of compliance |
| TRAINING DETAILS | ttaala aanamata list) | | | | | |
| (If insufficient space please a | TRAINING | APPRENTICES | | PERIOD OF | TOTAL | |
| NAME | AGREEMENT NO. | TRAINEESHI CADETSHII | | ON PROJECT | | EMPLOYER |
| (a) | (b) | (c) | + | (d) | (e) | (f) |
| | For the purposes of c | ompliance, the term | is appre | entices/trainees/cade | ets | |
| | shall include any em | | the follo | owing arrangement | s: | |
| | in State voca | ational education an | d traini | ng legislation (refer | to | |
| | and | Guide" for a detailed | d list of | acceptable trades); | | |
| | | or scholarship impl or technical educat | | rmal tertiary, | | |
| | Procession | | | <u> </u> | | |
| The above information is tru | ue and correct. | | | Fo | orm to be con | npleted and returned to: |
| | | | | | ans Built Pty | Ltd |
| SIGNATURE OF SUBCON | TRACTOR OR AUTHOR | ISED AGFNT | | | D Box 1755 JDERIM QLD | 0.4556 |
| | | | | ac | lmin@evansb | ouilt.com.au |
| DATE: | | | | At | t: The Const | ruction Manager |

Amendments to the Conditions of Building Subcontract – "ENTER PROJECT NAME"

Site Personnel Register (Clause 28.2.1)

| Project Na | me: | "ENTER PROJECT NAME" | | | Project Location: | | "ENTER LOCATION" | |
|------------|---|--|---|--|---|---|--|---|
| Sub Contra | actor's Name: | "ENTER SUBCON | ITRACTOR NAME | " | | Project Registratio | n Number: | "ENTER PROJECT NUMBER" |
| Name | Is this person an owner/partner of an approved subcontractor/sub subcontractor? Y or N (if N please complete the rest of the table as applicable) | Is this person remunerated in accordance with an award or registered agreement? Y or N (if Y please complete column (d) and (e) only; if N complete columns (e) to (i) only) | Name of award or registered agreement? (if applicable) | Name of this person's Employer? | Is a WorkCover premium paid in respect of this person? Y or N | Are superannuation contributions made in respect of this person? Y or N | Is tax withheld from payments made to this person? Y or N | Is Payroll tax paid in respect of this person where applicable? Y or N Or N/A |
| (a) | (b) | (c) | (d) | (e) | (f) | (g) | (h) | (i) |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

Note: If the answer to the question in column (b) is NO, the individual concerned will be considered to be a "worker" as that term is defined in the Workplace Health & Safety Act 1995 and the Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 2003 unless evidence can be provided to the contrary.

AS 4903-2000 110

Site Personnel Register Summary (Clause 28.2.3)

| Project | t Name: | "ENTER PRO | JECT NAME" | Project Location: | LOCATION | |
|---------|--|------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------|--|
| | | | | Project Registration Number: | "PROJECT NUMBER" | |
| | | | | | | |
| Sub Co | ontractor's | s Name: | "ENTER SUBC | ONTRACTOR NAME" | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Respons | se | | | | Total | |
| 1. | Total num | ber that respond | led Y to the question | on in column (b)? | | |
| 2. | Total number that responded N to the question in column (b) and Y to the question in column (c)? | | | | | |
| 3. | Total number that responded N to the question in column (b) and N to the question in column (c)? | | | | | |
| 4. | Total number that responded N to the question in column (f) | | | | | |
| 5. | Total number that responded N to the question in column (g) | | | | | |
| 6. | Total number that responded N to the question in column (h) | | | | | |
| 7. | Total num | ber that respond | led N to the questic | on in column (i) | | |
| Date: | | | | | | |
| Signatu | re: | | | | | |

† INDEX

| Clause | Clau | se |
|--|---|-----|
| Acceleration | fees and charges | |
| 34.4(0) | interest | |
| Acceptance (see Approval) | liquidated damages | |
| Acceptance of tender | minerals, fossils and relics | |
| date of, defined1 | omitted items | .4 |
| formal instrument of agreement6 | hands of the Subcontractor39 | |
| security—time for | | |
| | pricing variations | |
| Access (see also Possession of site) | provisional sums | |
| during defects liability period35 | quantities | |
| failure to give | set-offs by the Main Contractor37.2, 37 | |
| for Main Contractor and others | suspension by Subcontractor | |
| for testing30.1 | urgent protection | |
| time for giving | urgent protection | |
| Accident (see also Insurance, Urgent protection and | Agreement | |
| Protection of persons and property) | formal instrument of | |
| reinstatement of damage | interpretation of | |
| to employees | Subcontract in absence of formal instrument | |
| to third parties | rectification when dispute42 | 1 |
| to WUS | Alignments (see Survey mark) | |
| Accord and satisfaction | Alternative clauses | 17 |
| Actions arbitration | Ambiguity in documents8 | .1 |
| indemnification by Main Contractor 10, 12, 15.2, 17 | Appliances (see Construction plant) | |
| indemnification by Subcontractor 10, 15.1, 17 | Approval | |
| Acts, (of Parliament) (see Legislative requirements) | effect of certificates37 | .2 |
| rets, (or rumament) (see Begisharve requirements) | examination and testing | 30 |
| Additions and/or deductions | extension of time34.4, 34 | |
| adjustment generally2.1 | of defective material or work29 | .4 |
| care of survey marks | of documents8 | |
| changes in legislative requirements11.2 | of form of security(page 4) 1(| |
| contract sum definition, excluded in1 | of insurance policy by | |
| discrepancies in documents8.1 | of media releases8 | .6 |
| error in setting out | of municipal and statutory authorities | |
| generally | (see Legislative requirement) | |
| legislative requirements | of subcontracting9 | .2 |
| minerals, fossils and relics | of variations of convenience | |
| order of work | to suspension by Subcontractor33 | |
| pricing variations generally | working days | |
| programming | working hours | 51 |
| suspension | Approved form of unconditional undertaking | |
| suspension | security 1(| e) |
| Address for service (see also Service)7 | form of | |
| change of7 | | |
| Main Contractor | Arbitration | |
| Principal | agreement to arbitrate | |
| Subcontract Superintendent | ambit of dispute | . I |
| Subcontractor | Commercial Arbitration Act | |
| Superintendent | conference | |
| A divertment (for) | main contract arbitrator | |
| Adjustment (for) actual quantities | main contract dispute | |
| bonus | nomination of arbitrator | |
| cost of suspension | rules of | U) |
| cost of tests | Assessment (see Superintendent, assessments by) | |
| defective material and work | | |
| delay damages | Assignment | |
| directions on order of work | by secondary subcontractor | |
| errors in documents | of secondary subcontract | |
| errors in setting out 26.2 | of Subcontract9 | . 1 |

 $[\]dagger$ References to *Items* are to *Items* in Annexure Part A

© Standards Australia

| Clause | Clause |
|---|--|
| Asterisk clauses | meaning of |
| Australasian Dispute Centre Item 41(a), (c) | non-issue of |
| Authorisation (see Direction) | Claims (see also Adjustment) |
| Awards (see Legislative requirements) | arbitration of42.3, 42.4 |
| Bank guarantee (see Unconditional undertaking) | assessment of |
| Bank | failure to notify, effect41.2 |
| place of business (page 4) 1(d), <i>Item</i> 13(c) | for damages |
| Bankruptcy | for final payment37.4 |
| of Main Contractor | for progress payment |
| of Subcontractor | indemnity by Main Contractor |
| Basis of payment | notice of dispute |
| Bench mark (see Survey mark) | notice of potential claims on insurance policies19.4 notification of41 |
| Bill of Quantities | settlement of claims under policy of insurance19.5 |
| alternative applying2.4, <i>Item</i> 16(a) definition of1 | settlement of disputes |
| errors in | |
| lodgement | Clause headings—effect |
| no payment until lodged | Cleaning up27 |
| omission of items in | Commencement of WUS |
| priced and extended | generally |
| pricing, errors in | possession of site |
| quantities in | production of policies before |
| time for lodgment2.5(b), Item 16(c) | Communications between parties |
| to be priced | · |
| valuation of variation by36.4(c) | Compensable cause defined 1 |
| Bonus | delay damages for |
| for early practical completion | others listed |
| rate of | Completion |
| waiver of part of bonus | by Main Contractor on default 39.4, 39.5, 39.6 |
| where separable portions4(c) | final certificate |
| Breach of Subcontract | practical (see Practical completion) |
| claims for | Compliance |
| default of the Main Contractor | with legislative requirements |
| liquidated damages 34.7, 34.7A | 1 |
| preservation of other rights | Concurrent delay |
| repudiation | Conditions, waiver of43 |
| By-laws (see Legislative requirements) | Confidential information |
| | agreement as to |
| Care of WUS cleaning up27 | generally8.5 |
| Subcontractor's obligations for | Construction of Subcontract |
| excepted risks | Construction plant |
| generally14.1 | care of14.1 |
| reinstatement of loss or damage | defined |
| | not to be removed |
| Certificate(s) (see also Direction and Payment) | removal of |
| effect of | Subcontractor to supply28 |
| frustration | use by Main Contractor |
| of cost to complete on default by Subcontractor 39.6 | |
| of municipal and statutory authorities (see Legislative requirements) | Consultant (see Main Contractor's consultant and Subcontractor's consultant) |
| practical completion34.6 | |
| progress certificate | Contingency sum (see Provisional sum) |
| Certificate of Practical Completion | Contract works insurance amount of cover of |
| defined | length of cover |
| 133uc 01 | |

www.standards.com.au

| Clause | Clause |
|--|--|
| policy16A | defects liability period35 |
| Contractor's all risk insurance (see Contract works | generally34.6 |
| insurance) | liquidated damages |
| Contributory negligence | Days mean calendar days1(a) |
| indemnity as to | working |
| reduction of liability for14.2, 15.1 | · · |
| Copyright (see Intellectual property right) | Debt due to the Main Contractor 12, 13, 27, 29.3, 34.7, 35, 37.6, 39.6 |
| Corporation (also see Person)1(a), 5.6, 39.11(d) | Decision (see Direction) |
| Corporations Law5.6, 38.3 | Deed of guarantee, undertaking and substitution |
| Cost(s) (see also Adjustment) | defined |
| added to contract sum | requirement for |
| completion of work taken out of the | |
| hands of the Subcontractor | Deed of novation9.4 |
| examination and testing | Deemed variation |
| latent conditions | as to acceptance of defective work |
| protection of person, etc | for latent condition |
| provisional sums3 | omission in bill or schedule of rates2.4 |
| reinstatement | reinstatement of damage14.2 |
| set-offs by Main Contractor | |
| setting out26.2, 26.3 | Default by Main Contractor |
| survey marks | generally |
| urgent protection13 | in making due payment |
| variations36.2, 36.4 | in providing evidence of insurance |
| Cost objectives defined in Main Contractor's project requirements1 | in providing security |
| Covering up of WUS | non-exclusive possession |
| | in Subcontract Superintendent not issuing certificate of practical completion39.7(b) |
| Cranage and Hoisting | on termination |
| Cross liability clause | rights of the Subcontractor 39.1, 39.7, 39.8, 39.9 |
| Currency | show cause on |
| Damage (see also Care of the Subcontract Works and | Subcontractor's rights on |
| Insurance) | Default by Subcontractor |
| prevention of | adjustment of costs on |
| protection of property, etc12 | assessment of cost to complete on |
| reinstatement of | failing to comply with a direction of the |
| to persons and property other than WUS | Subcontract Superintendent39.2(a) |
| to WUS | failing to maintain program39.2(c) |
| urgent protection | failing to proceed with due expedition and without delay |
| delay damages | failing to properly perform design obligations39.2(a) |
| for breach of the subcontract | failing to provide evidence of insurance39.2(a) |
| for delay by Subcontractor 34.7A, Item 33(a) | failing to use materials or standards |
| for delay due to compensable cause | of workmanship39.2(a) |
| liquidated | in providing documentary evidence39.2(e) |
| main contract damages | in providing security39.2(a) |
| on termination of the Subcontract | may use plant and materials on |
| Date | on termination |
| for practical completion | possession of plant and materials |
| of acceptance of tender1 | procedure on |
| of practical completion | records of cost to complete |
| | retention of plant and materials |
| Date of acceptance of tender | rights of the Main Contractor |
| defined1 | show cause notice to |
| Date for practical completion | substantial departure from |
| bonus | construction program39.2(c) |
| defined | suspension of payment on |
| effect of proposed variation on | when the Main Contractor takes work |
| liquidated damages | out of hands of Subcontractor |
| period of time for | Default of secondary subcontractor |
| Date of practical completion | Default or insolvency |
| defined1 | by Main Contractor |
| | c, commutor |

| | Clause | | Clause |
|--|-------------------|---|-----------|
| by Subcontractor | 39.2, 39.11 | project requirements | 1 |
| generally | 39 | procurement methods explained | Preface |
| preservation of other rights | 39.1 | stated purpose | 2.2 |
| show cause notices | 39.3, 39.8 | warranties, as to by Subcontractor | 2.2 |
| substantial breaches | 39.2, 39.7 | warranties unaffected, as to | |
| Defective work | | warranty as to by Main Contractor | 10.1 |
| acceptance of | 29.4 | Design and Construct | |
| correction of | | explained | Preface |
| cost of rectification | | | |
| demolition of | 29.3 | Design development and construct | |
| examination and testing of | 30 | explained | Preface |
| generally | 29.3 | Design documents | |
| includes material | | ambiguities in | 8 1 |
| not to deliver | 29.3 | defined | |
| quality assurance | 29.2 | direction to vary | |
| removal of | | discrepancies in | |
| replacement of | | included in Subcontractor's design obligation | |
| testing of | | inconsistencies in | |
| time of notice of | | licence to use. | |
| | | ownership of | |
| Defects | | variation to, effect of | |
| costs of rectification | | warranties, as to | |
| defined | | warranties unaffected | |
| direction to rectify | | warranties unarrected | ,2.3(c) |
| examination and testing for | | Design, novate and construct | |
| in design—excepted risk | | explained | Preface |
| length of liability period | | TO 11 11 11 | |
| material and work | | Design objectives | |
| minor, practical completion | | defined in Main Contractor's | |
| remedying | | project requirements | 1 |
| removal and replacement | | Determination (see also Direction) | |
| times for rectification | | defined in direction | 1 |
| work and material | 29.3, 29.4, 35 | disputes | |
| Defects liability period | | interpretation of discrepancy | |
| defined | 1 | pricing of variation | |
| duration of | | value of work | |
| generally | • | | a |
| | | Determination of Contract (see Termination of | Contract) |
| Definitions (generally) | | Dimensions | |
| dispute | 42.1 | figured | 8.1 |
| Delay | | scaled | 8.1 |
| concurrent | 34.4 | | 20.6 |
| construction program | | Direct payment to subcontractor | 38.3 |
| damages | | Direction (see also Approval) | |
| further delay | | construction program | 32 |
| in giving possession | | covering up of work | |
| notice of | | defective materials or work | |
| overlapping | | defined | |
| rate of progress | | dispute as to | |
| | | examination and testing | |
| Delay damages | | oral, to be confirmed in writing | |
| certified by Subcontract Superintenden | | order of work | |
| claim for | | notice of tests | |
| due and payable | | relating to Subcontractor's employees | |
| for compensable cause | | relating to subcontractors | |
| other compensable causes | | suspension of WUS | |
| where separable portions | 4(c) | written | |
| Deletion of clauses, etc. effect | 1(i) | | |
| | | Discrepancies | 0 1 |
| Deletions, amendments and additions (generally)1(i). | , Annexure Part E | Contract documents | |
| Demand (see also Direction) | | Dispute (see Dispute resolution) | |
| Deposit (see Security) | | Dispute resolution after final certificate | 27 4(4) |
| Design | | | |
| defects in—excepted risk | 14.3(f) | ambit ofarbitration | |
| intellectual property rights in | | conference. | |
| objective, defined in Main Contractor's | | continue performance of Subcontract | |
| , | | commune performance of Subcontract | +∠.1 |

114

www.standards.com.au

© Standards Australia

| Clause | Clause |
|--|--|
| dispute defined | Failure of Main Contractor |
| includes difference | (see also Default of Main Contractor) |
| main contract | rights of the Subcontractor on |
| meaning of dispute | to give access |
| notice of dispute | to give non-exclusive possession of site 24.1, 39.7(a) |
| Documents | to insure |
| ambiguities in | to make payment |
| approval of the Subcontract Superintendent | Failure of Subcontractor (see also Delay and |
| availability of | Default of Subcontractor) |
| confidential information | to arrange urgent protection |
| construction of8.1 | to lodge security |
| discrepancies in | to make claims41.2 |
| evidencing Subcontract6 | to produce proof of insurance 19.2, 39.2(a) |
| generally8 | to show cause39.3 |
| inconsistencies in8.1 | English (and the Complete) |
| interpretation of8.1 | Facilities (see also Services) |
| Main Contractor-supplied8.2 | Facsimile |
| property in | provision of <i>Item</i> 42(f) |
| service of7 | service by |
| Subcontractor-supplied 8.3 | Foulty work (and Defective metarial on work) |
| Due (see Moneys due) | Faulty work (see Defective material or work) |
| Due and owing (see Moneys due and owing) | Fees and charges (see Legislative requirements) |
| Due and payable (see Moneys due and payable) | Figured dimensions8.1 |
| | Final certificate |
| Electricity | accord and satisfaction37.4 |
| Emergency work | defined 1 |
| Emergency work | effect of |
| Employees | final payment claim for37.4 |
| control of23 | generally |
| insurance of | meaning |
| of Subcontractor (see Subcontractor's employees) | release of security5.4 |
| of subcontractor23 | Final payment (see also Final certificate) |
| responsibility for | defined |
| English language1(e) | meaning37 |
| EOT (extension of time) | Final payment claim |
| application for | defined |
| assessment of | endorsement of |
| claim for | includes all claims |
| deemed assessment | meaning |
| defined1 | payment on account, excepted37.2 |
| exclusions | prescribed notice, excluded41.1 |
| grant of | time for |
| in event of further delay34.3 | Financial institution |
| partial grant of34.5 | form of unconditional |
| qualifying cause of delay | undertaking byAnnexure Part B |
| refusal of | security provided by(page 4) 1(e) |
| Subcontract Superintendent may direct | |
| time for applying for | Finding of minerals, fossils and relics24.3 |
| Equipment to be provided by Subcontractor | Fitness for stated purpose |
| (see Construction plant)28, Item 32 | to be stated in Main Contractor's |
| Errors | project requirements (definition) 1 |
| Contract documents | warranty as to |
| in bill of quantities or schedule of rates2.5 | warranty as to preliminary design2.2(a)(ii) |
| setting out | Formal instrument of agreement |
| | execution of |
| Escrow 5.1 | generally |
| security transferred in5.1 | stamping of |
| Examination and testing | Form of unconditional undertaking Annexure Part B |
| Excepted risk | Fossils |
| defined | |
| meaning14.3 | Frustration |
| Explanation (see also Direction) | generally |
| Extension of time (see EOT) | notice of dispute when42.1(b) |
| Extension of time (see EOT) | payment on40 |

| Clause | Clause |
|--|---|
| release and return of security40 | of Subcontract Works16A |
| termination by40 | professional indemnity |
| General services and facilities | proof of insurance 19.1 |
| | provisions of policies |
| Gender includes every gender 1(d) | settlement of claims |
| Governing law | workers' compensation |
| Guarantee, etc. deed of5.6 | Intellectual property rights |
| Headings of clauses | defined |
| Hoisting (see Cranage) | design documents |
| | licence in |
| Hours of work31 | Main Contractor's warranty as to |
| Incompetence of employees, etc23 | Subcontractor's warranty as to |
| Indemnity | Interpretation of Subcontract documents |
| by Main Contractor | Interest |
| by Subcontractor | on security5.5 |
| care of work | overdue payments |
| damage to persons and property | rate of |
| | Issue of |
| Information to be supplied | certificate of practical completion34.6 |
| advance notice | final certificate |
| by Main Contractor32 | payment certificate37.2 |
| confidential information | Itam |
| for setting out the Subcontract Works | Item defined1 |
| latent conditions | defined |
| results of tests | Labour |
| Subcontract documents8 | provision by Subcontractor28 |
| to media8.6 | Language of subcontract |
| working hours and days31 | |
| Injury to parcone | Latent conditions |
| Injury to persons generally12 | costs of |
| indemnity by Subcontractor | deemed variation on |
| insurance | meaning |
| measures to prevent12 | notification of |
| | scope of |
| Insolvency bankruptcy | - |
| deed of arrangement | Law |
| generally | compliance with legislative requirements |
| Main Contractor's rights on | giving of notices |
| meeting of creditors | governing the Subcontract |
| mortgagee in possession39.11(d)(vii) | |
| Subcontractor's rights on | Legislative requirements |
| voluntary winding up39.11(d)(vi) | changes in |
| when corporation | changes to Main Contractor's project requirements |
| when exercisable | changes to the Subcontract Works |
| when individual | changes to WUS |
| Inspection | compliance with |
| access for testing | cost of11.2(c) |
| access to Main Contractor and others24.2 | defined |
| insurance policies | excepted11.1, <i>Item</i> 27(a), (b) |
| materials, etc | fees and charges |
| testing | identified WUS |
| Institute of Arbitrators and Mediators Australia | payment to secondary subcontractor under |
| rules of | payment to worker under |
| Instruction (see also Direction) | satisfaction of |
| Instruction (see also Direction) | time of effect of |
| Insurance | variance in |
| cross-liability | |
| failure to provide proof of 19.2, 39.2(a), 39.7(a) | Level mark (see Survey mark) |
| inspection of policies | Liability of the Subcontractor |
| notice of potential claims | for care of WUS14 |
| of employees | for compliance with legislative requirements11 |
| 01 cmp10 jeco10 | for secondary subcontractors9.5 |
| © Standards Australia | www.standards.com.au |

116

Clause

Clause

| for selected secondary subcontractors9.5 | Main Contractor's project requirements | |
|---|--|----------------|
| Licences (see Legislative requirements) | change in legislative requirement on | |
| | cost objectives | |
| Lighting Item 42(b) | defineddesign objectives | |
| Limits of accuracy—schedule of rates2.7(b), <i>Item</i> 17 | details of | |
| · | inconsistencies, etc. in | |
| Liquidated damages certifying of34.7 | novation | |
| rate of | stated purpose of | 1, 2.2(a)(iv) |
| repayment of | timing objectives | (page 2) 1 |
| separable portions | warranties as to | |
| Litigation | warranty as to, by Main Contractor | 10.1 |
| Local authorities | Making good (see also Reinstatement) | 14.2, 29.3, 35 |
| | Materials (see also Work) | 20.4 |
| Loss or damage to WUS | acceptance of defective | |
| care of WUS | defectiveexamination and testing of | |
| excepted risks | failure to use proper materials | |
| generally | manufacture and supply of | |
| reinstatement 12, 13 | not to remove from site | |
| urgent protection | particulars of | |
| | possession on default | |
| Lump sum | provision of by Subcontractor | |
| Main contract | quality of | |
| defined | supply of | |
| defects liability period under35 | testing of | 30 |
| dispute under | unfixed | |
| superintendent under9.2(c) | upon frustration of Subcontract | |
| Main contract arbitrator | use of new materials | |
| defined1 | Measurement of physical quantities | 1(f) |
| under main contract | Media releases | 8.6 |
| Main contract dispute | Minor defects | |
| defined1 | practical completion, in definition of | (nage 3) 1 |
| generally42.4, 42.5 | remedying | |
| Main contract works | • • | |
| defined1 | Misconduct of employee | 23 |
| dispute affecting | Monetary sum (see Provisional sum) | |
| indemnity as to liquidated damages 34.7A, <i>Item</i> 33(b) | | |
| liquidated damages under34.7A | Moneys due | 25.1 |
| | claim for | |
| Main Contractor | cleaning up costs | |
| address of | cost of proposed variation | |
| certificate to | cost of protection | |
| default of | main contract damages | |
| defined | moneys certified due to Main Contractor | |
| dispute with Subcontractor | on frustration | |
| licence to use design documents | other moneys due | |
| named Item 1 | progress certificate | 37.2(a) |
| ownership of design documents 10.2 | progress claim | 37.1 |
| project requirements defined1 | Managa dua and agrina | |
| rights of | Moneys due and owing to Main Contractor otherwise | 27.6 |
| security by | to Main Contractor otherwise | 37.0 |
| set off by37.2, 37.6 | Moneys due and payable | |
| Main Contractor-supplied documents | bonus | |
| availability of | claims generally | |
| copies of | cost of defect rectification | |
| copying of | costs of suspension on breach | |
| details of | delay damages | |
| number of8.2 | final certificate | |
| property in8.2 | interest | |
| supply of | liquidated damages | 34.7 |
| | on work taken out of the hands of subcontractor | 20.6 |
| Main Contractor's consultant engagement of | substantial breach, failure to pay | |
| novation of | to workers and secondary subcontractors | |
| suspension because of | to Subcontractor's consultants | |
| 55.1(a)(1) | unpaid insurance premium | |
| | angula insulance promium | |

| Clause | Clause |
|---|---|
| Nature of Subcontract2 | Ordinary working hours31 |
| Negligence of employee | Other moneys due37.6 |
| Nominated secondary subcontractor (see selected secondary | Overlapping delays34.4 |
| subcontractor and Novation) | Ownership of documents |
| Non-exclusive possession of site | supplied by Main Contractor8.2 |
| due for giving24.1, <i>Item</i> 30(b) | supplied by Subcontractor8.3 |
| failure to give | Patent (see Intellectual property right) |
| Notice (see also Direction and Notice of dispute) | |
| for testing | Payment(s) (see also Adjustments) |
| for urgent protection13 | adjustment for errors in schedule of rates2.5 |
| from or to insurer | adjustment for errors in the bill of quantities2.5 |
| of availability of site24.1 | adjustment for fees to statutory authorities |
| of claim for EOT34.3 | and performance |
| of claims generally41 | basis of |
| of delay34.2 | calculated by rates2.1 |
| of discovery of minerals, fossils or relics | calculation of |
| of dispute | certificates |
| of errors in setting out | claims for |
| of latent conditions | currency of |
| of names of persons entitled to access | deductions |
| of potential insurance claims | default by Main Contractor39.7(a) |
| oral or written | delay damages34.9 |
| prescribed | during arbitration42.1 |
| service of | for defective materials and work |
| to statutory authorities | for progress certificates |
| to suspend work | for unfixed plant and materials37.3 |
| | insurance premiums, proof of |
| Notice of dispute | interest on overdue |
| arbitration | liquidated damages |
| concerning claims | not evidence of satisfactory WUS |
| conference following | of balance after set off |
| generally | of security |
| includes difference 42.1 | secondary subcontractors38 |
| Main Contract dispute | on completion by Main Contractor |
| when final certificate | on final certificate |
| | payment certificate |
| Notification of claims (see also Claims) | payment on account |
| failure to comply | place for |
| generally41 | provisional sums |
| notice of dispute concerning | retention moneys5.1, Item 19(c) |
| prescribed notice | set-offs by Main Contractor37.2, 37.6 |
| Subcontract Superintendent's decision on | suspension of by Main Contractor |
| Novation | to secondary subcontractors38 |
| acceptance of | to Subcontractor's consultants |
| deed of | to workers |
| of Main Contractor's consultants 2.2(a)(iii), Item 25 | within 7 days of certificate |
| secondary selected subcontractor | within 21 days of claim |
| secondary subcontractor 9.2(c), 9.4, Item 25 | withholding by Main Contractor |
| warranties unaffected by2.3(b) | Payment to workers, Subcontractor's consultants and |
| Omissions (see also Defects and Minor defects) | secondary subcontractors |
| at final certificate | direct payment to38.3 |
| bill of quantities | documentary evidence of38.1 |
| schedule of rates | Main Contractor may withhold payment38.2 |
| | where required by law |
| Opening up for examination and testing | withholding of payment |
| | Performance and payment2.1 |
| Order (see also Direction) | Permission (see also Direction) |
| Order of work | Permits (see Legislative requirements) |
| Orders (see Legislative requirements) | Person, meaning |
| Ordinances (see Legislative requirements) | Persons |
| Ordinary working days31 | death of |
| 2 j oraning ways | indemnity by Main Contractor15.1 |

| Clause | Clause |
|---|--|
| injury to15.1 | on account only37.2 |
| insurance of 17, 18 | · |
| protection of12 | Progress claims |
| suspension to protect | early |
| urgent protection of | generally |
| Place for payment | Progress, failure to maintain |
| Place of business of bank (page 4) 1(d), Item 13(c) | Prompt payment discount |
| Plant (see Construction plant) | Proper law of Contract |
| Plant and equipment—other Item 42(e) | Property |
| Plant and materials | damage to12 |
| security for, unfixed5.4, 37.3, <i>Item</i> 19(e) | indemnity as to |
| unfixed | insurance of |
| D ' C' (1 A) | loss of15.1 |
| Possession of site (see also Access) | protection of12 |
| Practical completion | unavoidable damage to15.1(d) |
| certificate of34.6 | Protected right (see Intellectual property right) |
| date for | |
| date of | Protection |
| defined1 | of persons and property12 |
| early practical completion | of WUS |
| EOT for | suspension due to |
| request for certificate of | urgent13 |
| separable portions4 | Provisional sum |
| Preliminary design | defined1 |
| copyright and ownership of design10.2 | included in subcontract sum definition 1 |
| defined1 | included in schedule of rates |
| details of Item 15 | meaning |
| included in Subcontractor's design obligations1 | percentage for profit and attendance 3, <i>Item</i> 18 |
| novation, as to | Public authorities |
| warranties unaffected2.3(a) | Public liability policy |
| Prescribed notice | alternative applying17, Item 29(a) |
| defined1 | amount of |
| meaning | defined1 |
| | meaning |
| Priced bill of quantities 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7 | Qualifying cause of delay |
| Pricing | defined |
| variations | excludes those in |
| Prime cost item (see Provisional sum) | EOT for |
| | further delay due to34.3 |
| Principal address | Quality29 |
| compensable cause—defined in | Quality assurance |
| defined | |
| named in public liability policy | Quality of materials and work |
| qualifying cause of delay—defined in | defective materials and work |
| | examination and testing of30 |
| Proclamation (see Legislative requirements) | generally |
| Professional Indemnity Insurance | Quality system29.2 |
| conditional of approval9.2(d) | Quantities, bill of |
| generally16B, <i>Item</i> 28 | defined |
| length of | estimated only2.6 |
| Subcontractor | generally |
| Subcontractor's consultants 16B, Item 28(c) & (d) | lodgement of priced bill |
| Profit and overheads/attendance | omitted items in |
| in pricing variations | purpose of |
| on provisional sums | quantities in |
| Programming (see Subcontractor's program) | to be priced |
| Programming (see Subcontractor's program) | variations priced by |
| Progress certificate | |
| deemed | Quantities, errors in |
| defined1 | Rates (see also Schedule of rates) |
| issue of | adjustment of |
| meaning | limits of accuracy |
| not evidence WUS is satisfactory | |

© Standards Australia

| Clause | Clause |
|---|---|
| payment of | variations priced by36.4(c) |
| valuation of variations | Secondary subcontract work generally9 |
| Reference mark (see also Survey marks) defined1 | requiring approval |
| survey mark, included in | Secondary subcontractor approval of9.2 |
| Registered design (see Intellectual property right) | Subcontractor's responsibility for9.5 |
| Regulations (see Legislative requirements) | novation of |
| Reinstatement of damage excepted risks | selected secondary work |
| generally | Secondary Subcontractors' employees control of23 |
| Rejection of materials or work | insurance of |
| | responsibility for |
| Relation-back day concerning direct payment to workers and subcontractors | Security (includes retention moneys) change of |
| Release of security5.4 | form of5.1 |
| Remedial work | generally |
| generally29.3, 35 | interest earned on |
| included in definition of WUS1 | Main Contractor's |
| Removal of | recourse to |
| construction plant | reduction of |
| materials | release of5.4 |
| secondary subcontractors23 | return of |
| • | Subcontractor's |
| Repairs, urgent (see Urgent protection) | time of lodgement of |
| • | trust |
| Replacement of defective materials or work | upon frustration of the Subcontract40(c) |
| Representative of | Selected secondary subcontract work defined 1 |
| Subcontractor | meaning |
| Repudiation of Subcontract | Selected secondary subcontractor |
| parties rights on | defined 1 |
| Request (see also Direction) | meaning |
| Requirement (see also Direction) | Separable Portion(s) |
| Requirements of legislation | date for practical completion |
| Responsibility | defects liability period |
| of Subcontractor for secondary subcontractors9.5 | directed by Subcontract Superintendent 4 |
| for performance2.1 | generally |
| Retention moneys (see Security) | liquidated damages |
| Risks | Service |
| excepted | by fax |
| Royalties (see Intellectual property rights) | by hand |
| Scaffolding Item 42(c) | by registered post |
| Schedule of prices | by the Main Contractor on the Subcontractor39.2 by the Subcontractor on the Main Contractor39.7 |
| included in definition of schedule of rates1 | from or to the insurer |
| variations priced by | notification of latent conditions25.2 |
| Schedule of rates | of appointment of Subcontract Superintendent |
| defined1 | of appointment of Subcontract Superintendent's |
| generally2.3, 2.4, 2.5 | Representative |
| limits of accuracy in2.7(b), Item 17 | of claims to the Subcontract Superintendent41.1 of notice of dispute42.1 |
| omitted items in | of notice(s) (see also Notices) |
| quantities in | of potential (insurance) claims19.4 |

www.standards.com.au

| Clause | Clause |
|---|--|
| personal service7 | Subcontract documents |
| - - | ambiguities in8.1 |
| Services | construction of8.1 |
| additional services and facilities | discrepancies in8.1 |
| facilities | inconsistencies in |
| generally | interpretation of8.1 |
| other | Subcontract sum |
| provision by Main Contractor44.1, 44.3, Item 42 | defined |
| provision by Subcontractor | insurance of WUS |
| Set-off | Subcontract Superintendent (see also Direction) |
| by Main Contractor | address of |
| election by Main Contractor | appointment of20 |
| generally37.2, 37.6 | appointment of Subcontract Superintendent's |
| Setting out the Subcontract Works | Representative |
| disturbance to | 32, 33.4, 34.5, 39.6, 39.9, 41.3 |
| errors in | certifications by 12, 13, 19.2, 19.5, 27, 29.3, 34.7, |
| generally26 | 34.7A,34.8, 34.9, 35, 36.2, 37.2, |
| survey marks for | 37.4, 39.6, 39.9, 40(a), 41.3 |
| Settlement | defined1 |
| arbitration | directions of20 |
| notice of dispute42.1 | generally20 |
| of disputes | includes Subcontract Superintendent's |
| Cl 1- | Representative |
| Sheds | named |
| Signal (see Survey mark) | notice to in relation to dispute42.1 |
| | obligations of |
| Site | pricing by (deemed variation etc.)2.5, 3, 14.2, |
| access to by Main Contractor, etc | 25.3, 36.4 to confirm oral directions20 |
| access to by Subcontractor | valuations by, when separable portions |
| cleaning up27 | |
| commencement of work on | Subcontract Superintendent's Representative |
| defined1 | appointment of21 |
| delay in making available24.1 | defined |
| generally24 | functions of |
| latent conditions on25 | notice of appointment of |
| minerals, fossils, relics, etc. on | objection to appointment of |
| non-exclusive possession of | termination of appointment of21(c) |
| by Subcontractor24.1, <i>Item</i> 30(b) | Subcontract Works (see also Care of WUS) |
| substantial breach in giving non-exclusive | defined 1 |
| possession of | design of, warranties |
| Stated purpose | design, timing and cost objectives in |
| in Main Contractor's project requirements1 | Main Contractor's project requirement |
| warranty, as to | insurance of |
| Statutory requirements (see Legislative requirements) | stated purpose in Main Contractor's |
| | project requirements |
| Subclause headings—effect1(c) | |
| Subcontract | Subcontractor |
| assignment | access to site by |
| breach of (see Breach of Subcontract) | appointment of representative |
| construction of1 | default by |
| defined1 | defined1 |
| disputes under42 | design obligations defined 1 |
| documents8 | design, property in10.2 |
| evidence of | licence to use design documents |
| formal instrument of | named |
| governing law of | non-exclusive possession of site by24.1, <i>Item</i> 30(b) |
| interpretation of | professional indemnity insurance |
| nature of2 | 16B, Items 28(a) & (b) |
| rectification of | rights of |
| subcontracting9.2 | service on |
| termination—effect of | to insure |
| termination of | use of site by |
| by Main Contractor | warranties by2.2 |
| by Subcontractor | warranties by unaffected2.3 |
| work under the (WUS) | • |

| approval of | of 33.4, 39.9 to acts, etc. of Main Contractor 33.1(a) to acts, etc. of Subcontractor 33.1(a) to main contract dispute 33.1(d) to suspension under main contract 33.1(e) ct of 33.4 of 33.3 erally 33 ection or safety 33.1(b) omply with court order 33.1(c) ion of payment by Main Contractor 38.2, 39.4 over of work by Main Contractor 39.5 one Item 42(f) ary works 14.1 ned 1 ned 1 ned 1 rance of 16A oval of 27 (see Acceptance of Tender) of acceptance, defined 1 |
|---|---|
| availability of | to acts, etc. of Subcontractor |
| availability of | to acts, etc. of Subcontractor |
| checking of 8.3(a) due copies of 8.3 due responsibility for 8.3 end submission of 8.3 end submission of 8.3 end submission of 8.3(c) gen submission of 8.3(c) gen subtoontractor's consultant 5.3(c) gen defined 1 Suspen engagement of, warranties as to 2.2(a) included in definition of secondary subcontractor 1 notices to and from insurer 19.3 Teleph professional indemnity insurance by 7 Teleph prof of payment of 38 car public liability insurance 17 def suspension because of 33.1(a) inst warranty, as to 2.2(b), 9.4 rem workers compensation policy 18 Tender Subcontractor's design obligations dat dat defined 1 thy warranties unaffected 2.3 | to main contract dispute |
| copies of | to suspension under main contract |
| responsibility for | ct of 33.4 of 33.3 erally 33 ection or safety 33.1(b) omply with court order 33.1(c) ion of payment by Main Contractor 38.2, 39.4 over of work by Main Contractor 39.5 one Item 42(f) ary works 14.1 of 14.1 rance of 16A oval of 27 (see Acceptance of Tender) 1 of acceptance, defined 1 |
| submission of | of |
| suitability of | grally 33 ection or safety 33.1(b) omply with court order 33.1(c) ion of payment by Main Contractor 38.2, 39.4 over of work by Main Contractor 39.5 one Item 42(f) ary works 1 of 14.1 rance of 16A oval of 27 (see Acceptance of Tender) 1 of acceptance, defined 1 |
| supply of | ection or safety |
| Subcontractor's consultant defined | omply with court order 33.1(c) ion of payment by Main Contractor 38.2, 39.4 over of work by Main Contractor 39.5 ne Item 42(f) ary works 14.1 ned 1 rance of 16A oval of 27 (see Acceptance of Tender) 1 of acceptance, defined 1 |
| defined | ion of payment by Main Contractor |
| engagement of, warranties as to | over of work by Main Contractor |
| included in definition of secondary subcontractor | ne |
| notices to and from insurer | ary works of |
| professional indemnity insurance by | ary works of |
| proof of payment of | of 14.1 ned 1 rance of 16A oval of 27 (see Acceptance of Tender) 0 of acceptance, defined 1 |
| public liability insurance | ned 1 rance of 16A oval of 27 (see Acceptance of Tender) 0 of acceptance, defined 1 |
| public liability insurance | rance of |
| suspension because of | oval of |
| warranty, as to | (see Acceptance of Tender) of acceptance, defined |
| workers compensation policy | of acceptance, defined |
| Subcontractor's design obligations defined | of acceptance, defined |
| defined | • |
| warranties, as to | |
| warranties, as to | tion of the Subcontract (see Default, Frustration) |
| Subcontractor's employees by to control of | rustration40 |
| Subcontractor's employees control of | he Main Contractor39.4, 39.10 |
| control of 23 insorting death or injury to 18 right insurance of 18 Test payment of 38 con removal of, from site 23 con Subcontractor's representative 22 cov Subcontractor's responsibility (see also Contractor and Care of WUS) deltage for employees 9.5 pro for payment of workers and subcontractors 38 rest | he Subcontractor |
| death or injury to | lvency |
| insurance of | ts of parties on |
| payment of | is of parties of |
| removal of, from site | |
| Subcontractor's representative | pletion of |
| Subcontractor's representative | s of30.7 |
| Subcontractor's responsibility (see also Contractor and Care of WUS) for employees | ering up of work |
| Care of WUS) not: for employees | y in testing |
| for employees | ce of |
| for payment of workers and subcontractors38 rest | redure if delayed30.5 |
| | lts of |
| | contract Superintendent may direct |
| 6 1 | conducts |
| to carry out WUS2.1 | |
| Tests (s | ee Definition of practical completion) |
| Subcontractor's program defined 1 Third p | arty insurance (see Public liability insurance)17 |
| departure from | inty insurance (see Fuelle fluelity insurance) |
| direction as to | ee also EOT) |
| | eleration of work34.4(b) |
| failing to adhere to | struction program32 |
| meaning of | cts liability period35, Item 36 |
| | y damages |
| | access to site24.1, <i>Item</i> 30(a) |
| for | approval of Subcontractor's |
| Superintendent dra: | vings8.3(c), Item 23 |
| address Item 10 for | arbitration42.2 |
| attorney for Subcontractor9.2(c) for | carrying out of work32 |
| 1.1 1.0' 1.' | claiming EOT34.3 |
| 1.01 | cleaning up27 |
| | completing WUS |
| qualifying cause of delay, defined in | doing any act |
| for | effecting insurance |
| for | executing formal instrument of agreement |
| for | inal payment |
| for | granting an extension of time34.5 |
| CHOIS III | granting an extension of time |
| | |
| Survey peg (see Survey mark) for | odging bill of quantities 2.5(b), Item 16(c) |
| | odging bill of quantities |
| | odging bill of quantities 2.5(b), Item 16(c) odging security 5.1, Items 19 & 20 naking claims 41 |
| | odging bill of quantities |
| by the Subcentractor 22.2.20.0 | odging bill of quantities |
| 101 | odging bill of quantities |

Clause

Clause

| for notification of claims41 | Wages | |
|---|---|-------------------|
| for practical completion 34.1, Item 11 | of workers | 38 |
| for progress claims | XX ' C 1'.' | |
| for progress payments | Waiver of conditions | 40 |
| for reduction of security5.4 | generally | |
| for service of notices7 | in writing | 43 |
| for Subcontract Superintendent to confirm | Warranties | |
| oral direction20 | proposed variation, effect on | 36.2 |
| for Subcontract Superintendent's direction | Subcontractor's warranties | |
| about documents | unaffected | 2.3 |
| for supply of construction program32 | variation, effect on2. | .3(d), 36.1, 36.2 |
| for supply of Main Contractor's documents32 | | ,,,,,, |
| for supply of Subcontractor's documents 8.3, <i>Item</i> 22 | Water | |
| for testing | hot and cold—provision of | Item 42(g) |
| for urgent protection | Winding up | 39.11 |
| suspension of work | • . | |
| Fiming objectives | Words—singular includes plural and vice ver | rsa 1(d) |
| defined in Main Contractor's project requirements1 | Work (includes materials) | |
| | acceptance of defective work | 20 / |
| Γoilet accommodation Item 42(g) | care of | |
| For describe an array (see Totalle store) | deemed variation as to defective work | |
| Trademark or name (see Intellectual property right) | defective | |
| Unconditional undertaking (see Security) | defined | |
| approved form | examination and testing of | |
| ĪĪ | not complying with the Subcontract | |
| UNCITRAL Rules Items 41(b) & (c) | order of work | |
| Unfixed plant and materials | outside working hours | |
| additional security for | progress of | |
| generally | quality of | |
| labelled | remedial | |
| Main Contractor's liability for | secondary subcontract | |
| payment for | suspension of | |
| security for | testing of | |
| stored and protected | times for work | |
| unencumbered property of Main Contractor | under the Subcontract, defined (WUS) | |
| | variations (see Variation) | |
| Unpaid moneys | | |
| Urgent protection13 | Work under the Subcontract (see WUS) | |
| | Workers' Compensation | 15 |
| Urgent relief | workers compensation | 10 |
| | Workers, payment of | 38 |
| Valuation | 777 1 1 1 | 2.1 |
| of final payment claims | Working days | 31 |
| of progress payment claims | Working hours | 31 |
| pricing of variations | • | |
| Variation | WUS (work under the Subcontract) | |
| as to design documents8.3 | acceleration of | |
| character and extent of | care of | |
| cost of complying | damage to property other than | |
| cost of, warranties36.2(b) | defined | |
| cost of proposed36.2 | delay to | |
| deductions—valuing | excepted risks | |
| deemed2.7, 14.2, 25.3, 29.4 | insurance of property other than | |
| defined1 | novation relating to | |
| directing | order and time of carrying out | |
| direction by Subcontract Superintendent 36.1 | programming of | |
| effect on warranties | progress of | |
| estimate for | recommencement of | |
| for convenience of Contractor | reinstatement of | |
| generally36 | suspension of | |
| meaning | urgent protection of | 13 |
| measurements36.2 | | |
| notice of proposed36.2 | | |
| order of precedence in pricing | | |
| pricing of | | |
| proposed36.2 | | |
| quotation for | | |
| scope of | | |
| valuation of | | |
| warranties unaffected by2.3(d) | | |

AMENDMENT CONTROL SHEET

AS 4903—2000

Amendment No. 1 (2005)

SUMMARY: This Amendment applies to Clause 41 (a) and (c) of Annexure Part A.

Published on 30 March 2005.

NOTES

Standards Australia

Standards Australia is an independent company, limited by guarantee, which prepares and publishes most of the voluntary technical and commercial standards used in Australia. These standards are developed through an open process of consultation and consensus, in which all interested parties are invited to participate. Through a Memorandum of Understanding with the Commonwealth government, Standards Australia is recognized as Australia's peak national standards body. For further information on Standards Australia visit us at

www.standards.org.au

Australian Standards

Australian Standards are prepared by committees of experts from industry, governments, consumers and other relevant sectors. The requirements or recommendations contained in published Standards are a consensus of the views of representative interests and also take account of comments received from other sources. They reflect the latest scientific and industry experience. Australian Standards are kept under continuous review after publication and are updated regularly to take account of changing technology.

International Involvement

Standards Australia is responsible for ensuring that the Australian viewpoint is considered in the formulation of international Standards and that the latest international experience is incorporated in national Standards. This role is vital in assisting local industry to compete in international markets. Standards Australia represents Australia at both ISO (The International Organization for Standardization) and the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC).

Electronic Standards

All Australian Standards are available in electronic editions, either downloaded individually from our web site, or via On-Line and DVD subscription services. For more information phone 1300 65 46 46 or visit Standards Web Shop at

www.standards.com.au



GPO Box 5420 Sydney NSW 2001

Administration Phone (02) 8206 6000 Fax (02) 8206 6001 Email mail@standards.com.au Customer Service Phone 1300 65 46 46 Fax 1300 65 49 49 Email sales@standards.com.au Internet www.standards.org.au

ISBN 0 7337 3186 4 Printed in Australia